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China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

ﬁqigjﬁi*jnﬂlﬁl *ﬁ

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the year under review, the Group was principally engaged in mobile
and multi-media technologies business, tourism and hospitality business,

gamma ray irradiation services, and securities trading and investment.

In 2018, frequent global trade disputes and mounting trade protectionism
posed more uncertainties and risks to the economic development across
the globe, in particular the Chinese and the US economies.

During the year, the smartphone industry in China was under great
pressure amid the impact of negative factors including the US-China
trade war coupled with the slowing down of economy in China, and the
saturation of the smartphone market with the retailers having excessive
inventory all played a part in the poor performance of the smartphone
market. We have seen smaller smartphone players being forced to exit the
market due to the cut-throat competition in China.

Against the current backdrop of economic uncertainties under the shadow
of on-going US-China trade tension, the overall business environment will
become more challenging in the forthcoming year. The Group strives to
explore opportunities and further develop its multi-media and technology-
focused business.

Mobile and Mulit-media Technologies Business

The Group's strategy has been to leverage on the EPD and dual-screen
technologies to build a scalable mobile and multi-media technologies
and advertising platform via different media channels. First started with
the mobile handsets with the launch of Yota 3, such unique dual-screen
devices allow advertisers and content providers to make use of the EPD
backscreens.

In order to build a scalable infrastructure for multi-media technologies
and advertising platform, the Group has also explored new formats and
carriers for advertising and media displays, such as transport advertising
and other advertising panels in the city centers. As portals to cities, trains
are the city’s nerve center and the daily channels for millions of people. It
has transformed from a simple traffic tool to a living space on its own and
can reach an ever-larger captive, network audience which is highly valued
by advertisers.

The macro-economic development in China continued to be moderate and
China’s smart hardware market remained challenging in 2018, as total
smartphone shipments in the Chinese market declined by 15.5% year-on-
year, and is likely to continue to decline this year, according to the China
Academy of Information and Communications Technology.
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ANNUAL REPORT ## 2018/19

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Mobile and Mulit-media Technologies Business (continued)
With the challenging market conditions and intensified competition in
China, we have constantly reevaluated our strategy.

Over the past year, in order to relieve our supply chain funding and
inventory management pressures and reduce the selling and marketing
expenses, we have been streamlining our B2C retail business while
allocating more resources on the licensing model via cooperation with
provincial and local government and large state-owned enterprises. Over
the past year, the Group has been focusing its resources and efforts on
strategic cooperation with suitable partners and exploring new business
models to cooperate with some large-scale enterprises and state-owned
enterprises in China to develop customized versions of mobile devices for
their customers.

On 12 October 2018, we entered into an exclusive technology cooperation
agreement with Zhejiang Jiu Jiu Sharing Information Technology
Co. Ltd.** I AAHZEHEABR A F]) (“JiuJiu”) in relation to the
development of “Xinhua 99" dual-screen mobile devices (“the Xinhua
99 mobile devices”) and the construction of the “Xinhua 99" sharing
platform (the “Xinhua 99 Project”). The Xinhua 99 Project originates
from the sharing economy idea with its major focus on advertising and
information dissemination. It aims to build a comprehensive community
through the Xinhua 99 mobile devices utilizing the dual-screen technology
and the “Xinhua 99" application (the “Xinhua 99 APP”). This community
service platform integrates advertising, information, e-commerce
and community by providing multiple functions including economic
information, 020, online transactions, integrated communication and
community resources. The Xinhua 99 mobile device is a transformation of
the Group’s dual-screen mobile device and has adopted our dual-screen
technology in its hardware. The back screen can be used for internet
surfing, reading, advertising and conducting e-commerce. The Group will
be the sole provider of the Xinhua 99 mobile devices.

The role of the Group is performing research and development of
Xinhua 99 mobile devices. The Group is planning to engage the ODM to
manufacture the Xinhua 99 mobile devices. The Group is committed to
take up the after-sales-services after the phones are launched. Currently,
the Group is in discussion with Zhejiang Jiu Jiu Sharing Information
Technology Co., Ltd regarding the business development in the Xiinhua 99
mobile devices. The Group will also target large state-owned-enterprises
and provincial and local governments to develop customized devices. The
Company has signed a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
a business partner in relation to the collaboration on the development
and sale of the Xinhua 99 mobile devices to the members of the China
Communist Party in the Jiangsu province.
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China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited

TEEINEERERAT

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Mobile and Mulit-media Technologies Business (continued)
Following the cooperation within Xinhua 99 Project, the Group further
expanded its foothold in the multi-media platform through acquiring the
entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong
Kong Made”) and Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”), which are
principally engaged in the business of the development and operations
of outdoor advertisement and media on Guangzhou-Shenzhen China
Railway High-speed Harmony Series trains “GSCR" (& R4R M55 ).
These two companies help their clients produce high-quality and tailor-
made advertisements which can be accessed by millions of travellers in
one of the most developed train networks in the world, thereby providing
a strategic and effective channel for Hong Kong and international brands
to increase their brand awareness and promote their business in the
region. The daily frequency of GSCR trains travelling between Shenzhen
and Guangzhou is 210. The existing per day per direction carting capacity
of GSCR is 140,280. During 2018 Golden Week holiday of China, the
Railway Company recorded accumulated 9,400,000 carting capacity.
The Railway Company estimates the daily carting capacity will increase to
60,000. Having regard to growing loading in recent years, it is expected
the advertisement on the trains can be accessed by millions of travelers in
a year. The Group believes that the acquisition of these two companies
provides the Group with an opportunity to expand its existing business
and can create synergies with the existing dual-screen mobile businesses to
extend the multi-media sharing and advertising platform to other media.
For details of the acquisition, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 29 March 2019, 10 May 2019 and 6 June 2019.

To further expand the mobile and multi-media technologies business of
the Group, China Baoli Investment Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has formed a joint venture with AZ Convergence Media Limited
(“AZ Convergence Media”). The joint venture is held as to 51% by the
Company and 49% by AZ Convergence Media, and will be principally
engaged in the operation of multi-media broadcasting and advertising
screens and platforms in China. The Company believes that through the
collaboration with AZ Convergence Media and by leveraging the resources
of AZ Convergence Media in the media industry, especially the new media
industry, the above-mentioned synergies can be created and the Group's
multi-media and advertising customer network in China can be expanded,
thereby fostering the Company’s growth and development in the mobile
and multi-media technologies business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Mobile and Mulit-media Technologies Business (continued)
During the year under review, the revenue from this segment was
approximately HK$34,610,000 (2018: approximately HK$40,925,000).
Segment loss was approximately HK$1,180,876,000 (2018: approximately
HK$146,999,000). The Group considers that as cooperation within Xinhua
99 Project just started in October last year, it would take time to expand

the influence of the community and leverage these networking and new
media resources to create a scalable multi-media and mobile technologies
business going forward. The Group will continue to develop its businesses
related to media sharing and advertising platforms via different channels
in China, thereby creating additional revenue to the Group and improving
the Group's profitability to deliver long-term benefits to the Group and the
Shareholders.

Impairment of investments in associates and amounts due
from associates

During the year under review, the Group recognised an impairment of
investments in associates of approximately HK$331,352,000 and amounts
due from associates of approximately HK$610,077,000.

On 15 March 2019, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands granted a
winding up order (the “Order”) against Yota, an associate of the Company
on the ground that it was insolvent. The winding-up petition was filed
by Hi-P Electronics Pte. Ltd., a manufacturing partner of Yota in respect
of the older version of Yotaphone with respect to a principal sum of
USD1,000,000 said to be due by Yota to the petitioner. After the acquisition
of Yota, the Company has allocated resources including funding to Yota
for the development of the mobile technologies business. The Grand Court
of Cayman Islands made an order that Yota be places into liquidation
and appointed Joshua Taylor and James Griffin of FTI Consulting Limited
as Joint Official Liquidator. As at the date of the Order, the Company
owned 40% equity interest of Yota and was also a creditor of Yota Group
(the gross amount due from Yota Group to the Group as at 31 March
2019 was approximately HK$633,551,000). The Company has been in
touch with the appointed liquidator of Yota to explore the possibility of
conducting an audit for Yota. However, the process is slow and there are
uncertainties relating to such. As at 31 March 2019, the total net liabilities
of Yota Group were approximately HK$760,282,000, which exceeds the
amount of shareholder loans of approximately HK$633,551,000 provided
by the Company. Taking into account of the above facts, the Company
is of the view that a full impairment on investments in associates and
amounts due from associates of the Company should be made to reflect
the current conditions of Yota.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment of investments in associates and amounts due
from associates (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has no intention
to cease the sales and distribution of YOTAPHONE under the licence.
Going forward, the Group will strategically focus on penetrating the B2B
smartphone market and will allocate more resources on the licensing
model via cooperation with provincial and local government and large
state-owned enterprises in China. In this connection, the Company has
signed a strategic cooperation framework agreement with a business
partner in relation to the collaboration on the development and sale of
Xinhua 99 mobile phones to the members of the China Communist Party
in the Jiangsu province. The Company will develop customized versions of
mobile devices for those customers under the licence.

Impairment of goodwill

During the year under review, the Group recognised an impairment
of goodwill in respect of the mobile technologies business segment of
approximately HK$9,316,000. Such impairment losses have been made in
view of the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable.

The abovementioned impairment losses are recognised based on the
results of impairment tests for the goodwill of B HEEEE ORI E
B2 2 7] (Baoli Yota Technologies (Shenzhen) Limited**) (“Baoli Yota"”)
concluded by an independent valuer using the discount cash flow approach,
based on their values in use in accordance with HKAS 36. Details of the
impairment of goodwill are set out in Note 22 of the financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Tourism and Hospitality Business

The Group strives to strengthen the tourism and hospitality business by
monitoring its business performance and taking appropriate measures to
tackle the challenge faced by the Group. The Group expanded its business
line by acquiring an online travel agent, We Fly Travel Limited (“We Fly"),
on 1 March 2017 to broaden the income source of the tourism and
hospitality business. During the year under review, We Fly reported its net
revenue of approximately HK$5,227,000 which is mainly owing to the
business strategy that We Fly has adopted by setting competitive prices of
its products to attract more customers and increase its brand awareness.
The success of this business strategy has been reflected in the gross sale
which has reached approximately HK$217,160,000. To further improve
the operational results of We Fly, the management will negotiate with
business partners for more competitive terms and increase its product mix
such as provision of hotels business, package tours and ancillary travel
related products and services.

The Group is monitoring the market environment to rationalize the
resources and product mix within the tourism and hospitality business
and will look for further cooperation and acquisition opportunities in this
sector.

Impairment of goodwill

During the year under review, the Group recognised an impairment of
goodwill in respect of the tourism and hospitality business segment of
approximately HK$78,800,000. Such impairment losses have been made
in view of the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable.

The Company has appointed an independent valuer to conduct a
valuation of value in use of We Fly Travel Limited as at 31 March 2019.
The recoverable amount of We Fly has been determined based on a value-
in-use calculation, which uses a cash flow projection based on financial
forecast covering a 5-year period. The carrying amount of this CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount by HK$77,880,000. Accordingly, the
Company recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$77,880,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Impairment of goodwill (continued)
Below are the details and information about the valuation:

During the year under review, discounted cash flow approach has been
used for the valuation of We Fly. It can determine the intrinsic value of the
Company and the future cash flow of the Company has been considered.
The present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from
We Fly is calculated. The carrying amount of We Fly exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment loss on goodwill will be recognized. The pre-tax
discount rate and growth rates as at 31 March 2019 were 13.5% and
3% respectively (31 March 2018: 13.6% and 3% respectively). 5-year
period forecast has been used for the year ended 31 March 2019 (31
March 2018: 10-year period forecast). The major change in the inputs and
assumptions adopted in the valuations is the length of forecast period
being shortened from 10-year period to 5 year-period. The assumptions
of the valuation, which remain unchanged in respect of the valuations
as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019, are (1) the valuation reflects
the reasonable conditions existing as at the valuation date. Subsequent
events and uncertainties are beyond the control of the Company and the
valuer, (2) financial statements and forecast provided give a true and fair
view and are in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, (3)
financial forecast information provided is reasonable and achievable in
the respective periods, (4) there will be no material change in the interest
rates and exchange rates in the regions which We Fly has operations and
(5) there will be no material change in the political, legal, technological,
economic or other conditions which would adversely affect the industry
and the profitability of the Company.

The slowing Chinese economy and the ongoing US-China trade war are
expected to drag the growth of the tourism industry in Hong Kong and
the growth in the number of tourists visiting Hong Kong is expected to
experience downward pressure. In addition, due to the fierce competition
in on-line ticketing in the travel industry and the delay in launching the on-
line booking system of hotel rooms, We Fly Travel Limited cannot meet
the performance of financial forecast estimated last year. As a result, the
impairment loss was made.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Gamma Ray Irradiation Services
The Group’s gamma ray irradiation business is conducted through 318
AR RERE RN AR AR (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co.
Limited**), a 80% owned subsidiary of the Group which is licensed by &
AR FEMBEIRFRESS (

People’s Republic of China**), for the provision of irradiation services by

(Ministry of Environmental Protection of the

utilising gamma ray technologies.

During the year under review, the Group’s gamma ray irradiation business
provided radiation sterilization processing services to different clients in
the food and healthcare industries. Revenue generated from the gamma
ray irradiation services for the year under review was approximately
HK$4,743,000 (2018: approximately HK$5,090,000). Segment loss was
approximately HK$2,515,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,497,000).

Other Operation

The Group’s securities trading and investment business continued to
maintain a conservative investment strategy during the year under review.
The Group's securities trading and investment business reported a loss of
approximately HK$4,420,000 (2018: approximately HK$3,867,000) which
was attributable to a net unrealized losses of approximately HK$1,377,000
(2018: net unrealized losses approximately HK$1,077,000) due to change
in fair value of listed securities held for trading. As at 31 March 2019, the
carrying amount of the listed securities was approximately HK$778,000
(2018: approximately HK$2,155,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Other Operation (continued)

A summary of the listed securities held by the Group during the year under

review is set out in the table below.

- China Baoli Technol-ogies Hold-ings Limited FEEANKERERAA

KO (E)
Hithz35 (1)

TREFIAEEROBEFEREZ LMESHE -

Percentage of
shareholdings  Percentage of Unrealised
inequity  total asset of gain (loss)
investment as  the Group as on fair value
Place of at31 March  at31 March change for
Company name incorporation 2019 2019 the year Principal activities
RZZ-NF
RZZ-n§ ZA=t-H REE
=A=1-H BREE NHEESZ 2
ERARE  BEEZ RERME
NS MR hE  RECAAN B (B#E) IEXH
HKS 000
TET
REXLot Holdings Limited Bermuda 0.1233% 0.1487% (445) Development of the lottery systems
WERVERERAR) AR and games, as well as the
distribution and marketing of
ottery products in the PRC
ROBREVRRRER - URD
BREHVRER
Tech Pro Technology Cayman Islands 0.041% — — Manufacture, sale and trading of LED
Development Limited HEHE lighting products and accessories
EENRERERLA and energy efficiency projects
g WERBELDRAERRE
HIARBR AR
Greatwalle Inc. Cayman Islands 0.3216% 0.1482% (932) Provision of security guarding services

RAERRA
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP

The following risks were identified as the major risks of the Group during

the year under review:

Intense competitions in the mobile technologies business
The smartphone market is highly competitive and intense in China.
There are numerous market players selling mobile phones in China and
there are also new entrants to the market from time to time. The Group
needs to compete with other market players on price, customer services,
distribution network, reputation and brand names, etc. It is crucial for the
Group to assess market trend and consumers’ preference, and to upgrade
its products and develop innovative features which stand out from
competitors’ products on an ongoing basis so as to bring the best user
experience, attract new customers and build customer loyalty. If the Group
fails to compete with existing or new competitors, if any, the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and profitability may be
adversely affected.

Inadequate intellectual property protection in China

The Group was granted an exclusive intellectual property license to market
and sell “YotaPhone" in the Greater China Region. After obtaining such
license, the Group used the intellectual property rights to develop and
launch a new version of YotaPhone, i.e. Yota 3. The Group regards the
intellectual property under the license as critical to the success of its
mobile technologies business. However, the Group might not be able to
prevent any unauthorized use of the intellectual properties. Even if the
Company promptly becomes aware of any such unauthorized use, it might
be difficult to enforce intellectual property rights in China effectively.
The inadequate protection of intellectual property rights in China may
adversely affect the Group’s business prospects.

The trade war between China and United State of America
("Us”)

The recent trade war between the China and the US has created a lot of
uncertainties and risks on the global economy, in particular the Chinese
and the US economies. If there is a slowdown in the growth of the China
economy, Hong Kong's tourism industry would suffer as less China tourists
will visit Hong Kong, thereby affecting the Group’s tourism and hospitality
business. It might also drive up the price of the components of the Group's
products, thereby increasing the costs of the Group. If the trade war
continues, it might materially and adversely impact the Group’s business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP (continued)

Cost overruns and delays in new technology/Research and
Development (“R&D")

The Group has allocated significant resources to the development of its
mobile technologies business including research and development. While
the Group has cost control measures in place, cost overruns may occur
due to circumstances that are beyond the Group’s control. The mobile
technologies business is characterized by rapidly changing technology, new
product features and evolving customer demands. If there is a delay in the
research and development of new technologies by the Group, the Group'’s
products may become obsolete and may be eliminated from the market
easily. Therefore, the Group will need to ensure that it has the ability to
launch new products and upgrade its products on an ongoing basis in
quick response to the evolving demands of the customers, otherwise the
Group's business may be adversely affected.

Uncertainties in supply chain

The Group relies on its suppliers to manufacture products for the
Group'’s customers. If there is a breakdown in supply chain financing, the
production schedule may be affected. If the Group is unable to procure
products from its suppliers in a timely manner, the Group may not be able
to meet the delivery schedules for its customers, thereby affecting the
Group's business and financial performance.

Commercial risk

The Group is facing keen competition from domestic companies in the
tourism and hospitality business. To maintain the Group’s competitiveness,
it continues to explore business opportunities and tries to cooperate with
some strategic partners to sell its products. It keeps on launching new
products such as hotel booking and increasing the product mix so as to
improve the profit margin of the business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

MAJOR RISKS OF THE GROUP (continued)

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract and retain
high-calibre personnel

Loss of key individuals could result in an adverse impact on the Group's
operation and profitability. The risk of the loss of key personnel is
mitigated by regular reviews of human resource management system,
remuneration packages and succession planning within the management
team.

Cyber and Information Security Risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing campaigns and
ransomware have continuously increased in recent years. The potential
threat of cyber-attacks is increasing. Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of
information, leakage of confidential information, unavailability of systems
and disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred for
data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible claims. The Group
manages this risk by implementing security measures such as firewall, anti-
spam and anti-virus protection.

CORPORATE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its various
businesses and recognises the importance of the views and interests of
its stakeholders such as employees, customers, shareholders, business
partners, regulators and the public in making its business decisions.
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China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited

TEEINEERERAT

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

CORPORATE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities
on the environment, and supporting environmental protection programs.
Management established environmental policy and communicated
measurable environmental objectives and targets on energy and paper
consumption. In particular, a number of initiatives designed to conserve
resources, including paper recycle and electricity conservation, were
introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources. In addition, measures were taken to
reduce paper consumption in offices. These should help in building a
sustainable environment for the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION

On 15 March 2019, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands granted
a winding up order (the “Order”) against Yota, an associate of the
Company. A liquidator has been appointed by the Court to handle the
liquidation process. Due to the liquidation of Yota, only the liquidator
can engage auditors to conduct audit of Yota. The Company has been in
touch with the appointed liquidator of Yota to explore the possibility of
conducting an audit for Yota. On 28 June 2019, the Company decided to
delay the publication of 2019 annual results to wait for the reply from the
appointed liquidator. However, the process was slow with uncertainties.
Taking into account of the above facts, the Company is of the view
that a full impairment on investments in associates and amounts due
from associates of the Company should be made to reflect the current
conditions of Yota rather than waiting for the confirmation on the audit
of Yota from the appointed liquidator with uncertain time frame. At the
moment, the accounts of Yota were not audited. Our auditors have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore,
the Audit Qualification on limitation of scope was formed. After the
impairment of interests in associates and amounts due from associates, the
financial position of the Group shows both net current liabilities and net
liabilities. These conditions indicated the existence of a material uncertainty
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors have
prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period up to 31 March 2020 on
the basis that the Group’s action plans and measures will be successful.
However, the uncertainty surrounding the Group’s future cash flows
raises significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Auditors are unable to obtain adequate evidence concerning
the Group’s ability to meet any financial obligations as and when they fall
due and consider that the material uncertainties relating to going concern
basis and their cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements
is so extreme that the Auditor has expressed disclaimer of opinion on the
Company'’s going concern in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
BUSINESS PARTNERS

The Group recognises its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to maintain the sustainable development of the Group. The
Group is committed to building a close and intimate relationship with its
employees, providing quality services and products to its customers, and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

Employees are regarded as one of the vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group encourages employees to participate in external
seminars and lectures to keep abreast of changes and to enhance their
knowledge on areas of industrial, legal and compliance. The Group also
encourages continuous professional development training for the Directors
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, which include seminars
on updating regulatory requirement and development, and corporate

governance practices.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and business partners
and has ongoing communication with them through various channels
such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 29
March 2019, 10 May 2019 and 6 June 2019 (the “Announcements”)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Hong
Kong Made and Ample Success involving an issue of consideration shares
under general mandate. Capitalised terms used herein shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Announcements. Completion took
place on 6 June 2019. Upon Completion, the Target Companies became
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and their financial results will
be consolidated into the financial results of the Company. As part of the
payment of the Consideration, the Company allotted and issued to the
Vendors the First Tranche Consideration Shares, being 83,333,325 Shares,
representing approximately 2.24% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of such Shares.

BUSINESS MODEL AND BUSINESS STRATEGY
Diversification is our core business strategy. The Group is committed to
achieving long-term sustainable growth of its businesses in preserving and
enhancing the Shareholders’ value. The Group is focused on looking for
attractive investment opportunities to strengthen and widen its business
scope. The Group has maintained a prudent and disciplined financial
management to ensure its sustainability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWR D NE)

PROSPECTS
The mobile and multi-media technologies business will become an
increasingly important profit driver going forward.

The smartphone market in China is in a period of recalibration. The Group
will continue to expand the businesses through cooperating with provincial
and local governments and large-scale enterprises and state-owned
enterprises. We believe our strategic focus to further penetrate the B2B
smartphone market by optimizing our distribution channels in 2018 has
provided a solid foundation for the future growth in China in next year.

Additionally we will further leverage on our EPD technologies to enhance
our licensing model to cover other areas outside smartphones. The Group
will continue to look for new technologies business opportunities so as to
generate sustainable profitability and growth in the long run.

In the meantime, the Group will continue to monitor the tourism and
hospitality business closely. The Group will try to explore more business
lines such as hotels, package tours and ancillary travel related products or
services to expand the revenue stream on tourism and hospitality business.
In addition, the Group will actively approach its business partners to
negotiate for a more competitive price for its FIT products so as to increase
the profit margin on FIT products, and thus enhance the business financial
performance.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore potential strategic
investment and cooperation opportunities with the aim of creating
synergies for the Group in relation to aspects such as technological
development, product portfolio, channel expansion and/or cost control.
The Group will spare no effort to push forward sustainable development
and elevate overall competitiveness and corporate efficiency to create
greater value for its Shareholders. Appropriate disclosures will be made by
the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$44,580,000 (2018: HK$53,482,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 16.64% compared with last year. Loss for
the year under review amounted to approximately HK$1,305,950,000
(2018:HK$299,694,000). Net loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the year under review amounted to approximately HK$1,298,305,000
(2018: HK$294,509,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Mobile technologies business
Against the current backdrop of economic uncertainties in the global

environment under the US-China trade tension during 2019, the revenue
of mobile business was HK$34,610,000 (2018: HK$40,925,000), which
was reduced by 15.43%. The wholesale of mobile business experienced
a difficult year. In Mainland China, the economy slowed down in the
shadow of US-China trade war. The business performance of the Group
was facing downward pressure mainly due to the weak China customers
sentiment, which led to a decrease of customers’ orders. Among the
mobile industry, the hardware business was a severely affected sector due
to the trade war, which highly affected the research and development
and mobile operation of the Group. On 15 March 2019, Yota was wound
up, which led the carrying amount of investment in associates becoming
zero. Then, the impairment of loss on interest in associates for 2019 of
HK$331,352,000 brought consequential impact on the segment result
of mobile business. The loss of mobile business segment in 2019 was
HK$1,180,876,000 (2018: HK$141,999,000), in which the loss increased
by 731.61%.

Given the escalating trade dispute between China and the United
States and China’s slowdown in economic growth, the hardware of
mobile business in China market is expected to be volatile and remains
challenging in the foreseeable future. The Group will continue to adopt
a cautious approach and focus on more in asset-light and technology-
focused business.

Tourism and hospitality business

We Fly reported around HK$5,227,000 revenue in 2019 (2018: HK$
7,467,000). A drop of 30% of revenue was recorded in 2019 as compared
with the performance in 2018. Except the US-China trade tension, the
competition of tourism and hospitality industry in Hong Kong is very keen.
The numbers of agents or platform providing online travel and booking
service are increasing. At the same time, the price elasticity of demand
in retailing travel products market is high. The Group strived to increase
market share by promoting online travel products and booking service
with competitive price. The ticket and product booking cost from airline,
hotel and travel companies were increasing, which also led to an increase
in operation cost.

Despite these adverse factors, the Group controlled the cost and
managed to increase the gross margin. The segment loss in 2019 was
HK$86,039,000 (2018: HK$77,575,000), in which the loss increased by
10.91%. Until now, the Group still intends to capture every opportunity
for bidding for more opportunities under the keen competition. The
Group will closely review the market situation from time to time and seek
a sustainable business model and good position in Hong Kong and China.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gamma ray irradiation services

During the year under review, the performance of gamma ray irradiation
services is relatively stable. The revenue has slightly decreased to
approximately HK$4,743,000 (2018: approximately HK$5,090,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Other operations — securities trading and investment

There has been no revenue (2018: HK$0) recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The loss increased by 14.30% to approximately
HK$4,420,000 for this year from approximately HK$3,867,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2018. The increase was mainly due to an increase
in net unrealized losses of approximately HK$1,377,000 for this year as
compared to approximately HK$1,077,000 for the preceding year.

Placing notes

On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“2013 Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to place, through the Placing
Agent, on a best efforts basis, the notes up to an aggregate amount of
HK$300,000,000 to be issued by the Company in the denomination of
HK$2,000,000 each (the “Placing Notes”) to independent third parties.
Pursuant to the 2013 Placing Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest
at 5% per annum and are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary
from the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes. In August 2014, the
Company entered into an agreement to renew the placing period for the
placing of the Placing Notes up to 31 August 2015. As at 31 March 2019,
the Placing Notes in the aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000
(2018: HK$30,000,000) were outstanding.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$7,317,000 (2018: HK$33,271,000), of which 14.23%
was in Hong Kong dollars, 85.39% was in Renminbi and 0.38% was in
Japanese Yen. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$238,790,000 (2018: HK$227,720,000),
of which 40.44% was in Hong Kong dollars and 59.56% was in Renminbi
and of which borrowings within one year was HK$209,895,000 (2018:
HK$198,637,000), accounting for approximately 87.90% (2018: 87.23%)
of the total borrowings. The increase in borrowings was mainly due to the
loan was obtained by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary during the year
under review. As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s borrowings with fixed
interest rates to total borrowings was approximately 78.67%. The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of the sum of total borrowings to total deficit, was
66% as at 31 March 2019 (2018: 26%). The increase in gearing ratio was
mainly due to the loan obtained by an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
during the year under review. The liquidity ratio, being the ratio of current
assets over current liabilities, was 9.33% as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
160.04%). The decrease of liquidity ratio was mainly due to the decrease
of amounts due from associates during the year under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s land use rights and certain
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$12,584,000 (2018: HK$14,291,000) were pledged to a bank to
secure the bank borrowing granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2019,
the Group's listed securities with carrying amount of approximately
HK$759,000 (2018: HK$2,115,000) were pledged to secure margin
account payable granted to the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 29 March 2018, the first tranche consideration shares of 593,246,187
shares were allotted and issued to the vendor (MTH Limited) (the “Vendor")
under general mandate for the acquisition of 10% equity interest of
YOTA. The aggregate nominal value of such first tranche consideration
shares amounted to HK$5,932,461.87. On 26 September 2018, the
second tranche consideration shares of 25,424,836 shares (adjusted to
take into account of the Share Consolidation, as defined below) were
allotted and issued to the Vendor under general mandate. The aggregate
nominal value of such second tranche consideration shares amounted to
HK$2,542,483.60.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION

On 28 June 2018, the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company proposed to implement the Share Consolidation and
the change in board lot size involving: (i) consolidation of every ten
(10) existing shares of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued share
capital of the Company into one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.10 each
in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company (the “Share
Consolidation”) subject to, among other things, approval by shareholders
at general meeting of the Company; and (i) change in board lot size of
the shares for trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) from 25,000 existing shares to 5,000 consolidated
shares upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective. As approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 2 August 2018, the Share Consolidation became
effective on 3 August 2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments contracted
but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements of
approximately HK$155,848,000 (2018: HK$177,772,000). Details of the
capital commitments are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
(2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND INTEREST
RATE RISK

The Group’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and United States dollars. The Group did not enter into any
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against exchange rates
fluctuations during the year under review. Foreign exchange risk arising
from the normal course of operations is considered to be minimal and the
management will closely monitor the fluctuation in the currency and take
appropriate actions when condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not have any
significant interest rate risk as both the borrowings of the Group and the
interest rates currently remain at low levels. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group's bank and other borrowings with fixed interest rates accounted for
approximately 78.67% of total borrowings.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 March 2019, the Company and the Vendors entered into the
Agreements pursuant to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to
sell and the Company conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Equity
Interests, representing directly and indirectly the entire issued share capital
of Hong Kong Made and Ample Success, for an aggregate Consideration
of HK$50,000,000, which shall be satisfied by the allotment and issue of
the Consideration Shares in tranches at the Issue Price of HK$0.200 per
Share to the Vendors or their respective nominees in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Agreements. Details of such acquisition were
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 29 March 2019,
10 May 2019 and 6 June 2019. Capitalized terms used in the paragraph
have the same meanings as those defined in the aforementioned
announcements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

LITIGATION

M

In April 2016, the Company completed a placing pursuant to the
terms of the placing agreement with a placing agent and allotted
and issued 25,000,000,000 new shares to various placees (the
“Placing”). Pursuant to the terms of the placing agreement, each
placee undertook to the Company that the shares issued and
allotted to it under the Placing would be subject to a lock-up
period of 24 months from the date of allotment and issue of such
shares.

In May 2016, three placees under the Placing were found to have
breached their lock-up undertakings to the Company under the
Placing by pledging their shares to two lenders as security for
loans. An interlocutory injunction order (the “Injunction Order”)
was obtained by the Company from the High Court of Hong
Kong (the “Court”) on 27 May 2016, which was subsequently
continued by a court order given on 3 June 2016, restraining the
three placees from breaching the lock-up undertakings by, among
other things, directly or indirectly selling, mortgaging, charging,
pledging, hypothecating, lending, granting or selling any option,
warrant, contract or right to purchase, transferring, disposing of,
creating any right over, or agreeing or offering to do any of the
aforesaid in relation to the 1,667 million shares allotted and issued
to them under the Placing until trial or further order. Further
details of the court orders are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 29 May 2016 and 7 June 2016. The two
lenders then took out applications in the Court in June 2016
and July 2016 respectively seeking declarations that they are
beneficially entitled to the shares being the subject matter of the
Injunction Order and later for variation of the Injunction Order
to the effect that those shares shall no longer be the subject
matter of the Injunction Order. The three placees disputed the
contention that the lenders are the beneficial owners of the shares
and legal proceedings regarding the ownership of those shares
were brought in foreign jurisdictions. On 12 June 2017, the Court
ordered that one of the lenders’ application be adjourned pending
the decision of the legal proceedings in foreign jurisdiction and
the other lender’s application be dismissed with costs to the
Company. The lockup period has already expired in April 2018
and the Injunction Order has been automatically discharged upon
expiry of the lock-up period. As at the date of this annual report,
the litigation is still in progress against the three placees for their
breach of the lock-up undertakings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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LITIGATION (continued)

(2) On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into the 2013 Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent. Pursuant to the 2013 Placing
Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at 5% per annum
and are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary from the
respective issue dates of the Placing Notes.

One creditor had taken legal actions against the Company
to recover the alleged outstanding debts under the Placing
Notes. The alleged debts amount includes the principal of
HK$10,000,000 and outstanding interests of approximately
HK$1,264,000. This annual report, the Company is trying to
negotiate with the noteholder and ask for the extension of the
repayment date of the entire or partial amount of the placing
notes which are demanded by the noteholders to repay the
principal and note interests immediately.

EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY
As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 47 employees (2018: 239).

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual merits. Salaries are reviewed periodically based on
performance appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans
maintained by the Group include medical insurance, hospitalisation
scheme, mandatory provident fund, share option scheme and share
award scheme. Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to the
prevailing market conditions in the locations of their employments.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, as authorised by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The auditors of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the ended 31 March 2019 (the “Independent Auditors’
Report”). As stated in the paragraph headed “BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF
OPINION" in the Independent Auditors’ Report, the basis for the auditors
of the Company to express a disclaimer of opinion was (a) the scope
limitation on share of results and impairment loss on interests in associates
and (b) multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going concern.

. For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

MANAGEMENT'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE'S VIEWS ON
THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S OPINION

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the Audit
Qualification. At the Board meeting held immediately after the meeting
of the Audit Committee held on 12 July 2019, the Audit Committee
reported to and discussed with the Board the issues raised in the audit
progress report (the “Report”) in respect of the annual report with
focuses being placed on the assumptions adopted in a cash flow forecast
covering the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 and the Board
provided response to these issues. Based on the information provided by
the management and in view of the steps taken by the management in
improving the financial position of the Group including but not limited
to the obtaining of the letter of support from a shareholder to provide
financial support to the Company, the Audit Committee concurred
with the management on the going concern basis and the assumptions
adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The management was aware of the Group’s net current liabilities of
approximately HK$541,673,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$364,456,000 as at 31 March 2019 as well as the Group'’s loss for the
year amounted to approximately HK$1,298,305,000 and these conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cash significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Having made appropriate enquiries and examined the major areas which
gave rise to the aforesaid financial exposures, the management, based
on the cash flow forecast which has been prepared on the basis that
the Group will successfully implement the plans and measures as set
out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, are satisfied that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet with its financial
obligations when they fall due. In this connection, the management have
continued to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and considered that the Group has applied
consistent accounting policies and made judgements and estimates
that are appropriate and reasonable in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards.

The basis of Assumptions taken by the Directors to consider that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due within the twelve months from 31 March 2019

are as follows:

1. the Company will be able to raise funds of HK$200,000,000.
The Company plans to undertake various fund raising activities in
August/September 2019. Currently, the Company is in discussion
with potential investors to implement a fundraising exercise which
can raise fund in the maximum amount of HK$200,000,000;
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MANAGEMENT'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE'S VIEWS ON

THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S OPINION (continued)

2. the loan provided by the People’s Government of Tongnan
County of Chongqing City and Ms. Huang Huang in the principal
amount of HK$130,740,000 on the development of Yota 3 will
be capitalised;

3. major creditors will agree to extend the outstanding amount due
to them;
4, directors will not require the Company to repay the directors loan

until such time when repayment will not affect the ability of the
Group to repay other creditors in the normal course of business;

5. the director and shareholder will continue to provide financial
support to the Company to meet its financial obligations including
payment of interests on bank borrowings, professional fees and
other operating expenses, and will not demand for repayment of
the loan to the Group; and

6. the new business line such as the advertising platform on the
Guangzhou-Shenzhen China Railway High-speed Harmony Series
trains can create additional revenue to the Group and improve the
Group's profitability and financial position.

The Audit Committee had discussions with the Company’s auditors in
relation to the Audit Qualification. At the audit planning meeting held
on 21 May 2019, the members of the Audit Committee met with the
Auditors to discuss the audit plan and the issues faced by the Company
in the preparation of the annual results. During the meeting, the Audit
Committee was informed by the Auditor about the issue of going concern
and liquidity of the Group and discussed with the management to
understand the actual plan to deal with these issues.

At the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 12 July 2019, the Audit
Committee considered the annual results with reference to the Report
prepared by the Auditor which sets out the findings of the Auditors on the
major judgemental areas and the basis for disclaimer of opinion included
in the annual results. During the meeting, the Audit Committee also
enquired extensively about the issues relating to the disclaimer of opinion
by the Auditor, in particular the issues relating to the going concern basis
in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

MANAGEMENT'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE'S VIEWS ON
THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S OPINION (continued)
With respect to the disclaimer opinion on scope limitation on share of
results and impairment loss on interests in associates, in light of the fact
that the share of results and impairment loss are profit and loss items, the
Audit Qualification will not be carried forward to the next financial year.

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATIONS

With respect to the disclaimer opinion on multiple fundamental
uncertainties relating to going concern, the Company plans to undertake
various fund raising activities in August/September 2019. The Company
has also been negotiating with the lenders of the Company to extend the
repayment period of the loan or accept the Company to settle the debts
by shares. As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has obtained
financial support from its directors. In July 2019, those directors have
agreed extend the period of their loans. Also, one of the shareholders of
the Company has executed a letter of support that he will continue to
provide financial support to the Company to meet its financial obligations
including payment of interests on bank borrowings, professional fees and
other operating expenses, and will not demand for repayment of the loan
to the Group until such time when repayment will not affect the ability of
the Group to repay other creditors in the normal course of business.

The Company has prepared the cash flow forecast on the basis that the
Group will successfully implement the plans and measures as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the management are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve months
from 31 March 2019.
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China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited

TEEINEERERAT

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEREBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on 5
September 2016. Mr. Zhang is also the Chairman of the Board of the
Company. He graduated from Zhejiang University in 1994 with a major
in Finance. Mr. Zhang has over 15 years of investment experience in the
technology field, with the scope of investment spanning across various
regions including Canada, the United States of America, Singapore, the
Mainland China and Hong Kong. He is in particular familiar with the
investment in and operations of telecommunications and communications
industries. Mr. Zhang has good relations with the telecommunications
operators and has accumulated extensive local and overseas network in
the industry. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of a private company
in the Mainland China which was founded by Mr. Zhang in 2002. Under
his leadership, the company has now developed into an enterprise with
large investment scale and wide investment geographical range in real
estates, biological medicine, new energy and media, etc. It has a number
of projects including a largescale urban complex with a gross area of over
a million square meters in Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenyang.

Ms. Chu Wei Ning, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on
8 July 2015. Ms. Chu is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
an authorised representative of the Company and a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. She is currently responsible for the strategic
investment and business development of the Company. Ms. Chu
obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in May 1994 and a master degree of Business
Administration from the University of Texas at Austin with Honors in May
1998. She has been a veteran investment banker and venture capital
investment professional with over 15 years of experience. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Chu has been a founding member and the managing
director of a private investment fund which focus on investments in
telecommunications, media, and technology. Previously she also held
various capacities in Bank of China International, Bear Stearns Asia Limited
and Chase Manhattan Bank (which was subsequently acquired by JP
Morgan). She is currently an independent non-executive director of Bosa
Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8140), a listed company on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESREREEAERBE(E)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Yeung Chun Wai Anthony, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director on 15 July 2015. Mr. Yeung is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company and a director of various subsidiaries of
the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Yeung served as senior banker in various
international investment banks. He was the Chairman, the chief executive
officer and an executive director of e-Kong Group Limited (now known
as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524) and the
Vice Chairman and an executive director of Chun Sing Engineering
Holdings Limited (now known as Huarong Investment Stock Corporation
Limited) (Stock code: 2277), the Vice Chairman and an executive director
of South East Group Limited (now known as China Minsheng DIT Group
Limited) (Stock code: 726), the Vice Chairman and an executive director
of Sumpo Food Holdings Limited (now known as Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1089) and an independent non-executive
director of Global Energy Resources International Group Limited (Stock
code: 8192), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong. He has
proven track records and extensive experience in corporate restructuring
and rescuing, consulting, corporate finance and business negotiation
with well-versed business and people network in the region. Mr. Yeung
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Administration (Accounting and Finance). He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
Mr. Yeung is highly dedicated to community services, meanwhile he has
been serving as committee member of Land and Development Advisory
Committee, Development Bureau, Hong Kong Government, Honorary
Court Member of the Hong Kong Baptist University, founding board
member and honorary treasurer of the Child Development Matching Fund
and Hong Kong Quality Mentorship Network Limited, director of Hong
Kong Philharmonic Orchestra, Council Member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and so on.

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel, aged 59, was appointed as an
executive Director on 13 January 2012. Mr. Wong is also an authorised
representative of the Company and a director of various subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr. Wong has over 13 years of experience in natural resources
industry and served as an executive director in a natural resources
company which is listed in Hong Kong. He also has extensive experience in
the management and development of natural resources projects in China.
He is currently an executive director of China Information Technology
Development Limited (Stock code: 8178) and an independent non-
executive director of Huisheng International Holdings Limited (Stock code:
1340), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EENEREEAEBE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 April 2006. He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s degree with
honors in Business Administration and a Master of Science with distinction
in Corporate Governance and Directorship. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Chan is a practicing certified
public accountant and has extensive experience in financial management,
corporate development, corporate finance and corporate governance.
Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and chief executive officer
of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2322), an
executive director and the chairman of Royal Century Resources Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 8125), an executive director of Great Wall Belt &
Road Holdings Limited (formerly known as e-Kong Group Limited) (Stock
code: 524), and an independent nonexecutive director of Asia Energy
Logistics Group Limited (Stock code: 351), Media Asia Group Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 8075), New Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock
code: 166) and Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1089).
Mr. Chan was an executive director of Co-Prosperity Holdings Limited
(now known as Asia Television Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 707) from
11 December 2014 to 9 October 2015, an executive director of South
East Group Limited (now known as China Minsheng DIT Group Limited)
(Stock code: 726) from December 2013 to July 2015, an independent non-
executive director of U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited (now known
as Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock code: 627)
from November 2010 to December 2017, an independent non-executive
director of Jun Yang Financial Holdings Limited (now known as Power
Financial Group Limited) (Stock code: 397) from January 2005 to October
2017, and an independent non-executive director of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1466) from December 2016 to September
2018.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESREREEAERBE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 23 August 2018. He is also
a member of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. He has over 15 years of experience in capital investment,
assurance and consultancy services industry. Mr. Chan obtained a
Bachelor's Degree in Commerce, majoring in Accounting and Finance from
Deakin University (Melbourne, Australia) in 2000. He is a fellow member
of CPA Australia. He is currently a director of New Territories General
Chamber of Commerce, a director, secretary and committee member of
Care of Rehabilitated Offenders Association and a senior management
of Bosa Technology (Hong Kong) Limited which is a subsidiary of Bosa
Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8140). He is also currently an
independent non-executive director of Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 306) and SingAsia Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8293), all
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of e-Kong Group Limited (now known as Great Wall Belt
& Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524) from June 2015 to May 2017,
China Best Group Holding Limited (Stock code: 370) from September
2014 to October 2016, Heng Xin China Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8046) from June 2016 to August 2016 and Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Sumpo Food Holdings Limited) (Stock code:
1089) from January 2015 to July 2015, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EENEREEAEBE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 August 2017. He was appointed
as the chairman of the audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company, and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 26 September 2017. He has over 35 years of experience
in external audit, IT audit, training, accounting and finance, company
secretarial and corporate administration, MIS management, internal audit,
information security, risk management and compliance. Mr. Chan is
currently an independent non-executive director of Huarong Investment
Stock Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2277), Lansen Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 503) and Sterling Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code 1825), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong. Also,
he is the chief executive of C&C Advisory Services Limited. Mr. Chan is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow member
and specialist in Information Technology of CPA Australia and an associate
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He was
admitted as a certified information systems auditor with the Information
Systems Audit and Control Association in 1985 and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in 2000. He was admitted as a
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2000 and became a
member of the Institute of Internal Auditors in 1997. Mr. Chan was an
adjunct professor in the School of Accounting and Finance of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University from 2009 to 2014. Mr. Chan worked at CMG
Life Assurance Limited (formerly known as Jardine CMG Life Assurance
Limited) from 1991 to 1996 and his last position was general manager,
compliance and corporate affairs. He was employed by Dao Heng Bank
Limited in 1996 as the group auditor (which was subsequently acquired
by DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited) and he ceased working for the bank in
2004 with his last position as managing director and head of compliance,
Hong Kong and Greater China. Mr. Chan was also the group financial
controller of Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited from 2004 to 2005, the
director of quality assurance of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in 2005 and the deputy general manager of the compliance
department of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited from
2006 to 2009. Mr. Chan graduated with a higher diploma in accountancy
from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1976 and was awarded the postgraduate diploma
in business administration from the University of Surrey in March 1998.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESREREEAERBE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Han Chunjian, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 18 August 2017. He has over 30 years of experience
in the finance industry. From July 1987 to December 1998, Mr. Han
worked at China Construction Bank and held various positions including
Sales Officer, Credit Manager and Chuangye Officer. Mr. Han joined
Guangdong Nanyue Bank (formerly known as Zhanjiang Commercial
Bank) since 1998. He has served as Assistant to President of Sub-branch,
Vice President of Sub-branch, Asset Operation Manager, Head of Treasury,
President of Sub-branch, Assistant to President, Vice President and
President. Mr. Han is currently the Chairman of Guangdong Nanyue Bank
and Secretary of Party Committee. Mr. Han graduated from Hubei Normal
University with a Bachelor degree in Economics in 2004. He obtained a
Master degree in Economic Management from Guangdong Academy of
Social Sciences in 2000, an Executive Master of Business Administration
(EMBA) from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2009 and an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA) from Peking University in 2015.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Mak Melinda Kim, aged 52, is the chief technology officer of
the Group and is responsible for all the R&D and intellectual property
management functions of the Group. She involves in the management
of the resources, R&D budgeting and planning, providing directions and
visions of the R&D roadmap, and joint cooperation with external partners
to enhance values of the Group’s R&D. Ms. Mak has over 20 years of
experiences in R&D and always been performing her forerunner’s role in
various R&D areas. She also has numerous experiences in running various
large-scale R&D projects like the first internet broadband service in Hong
Kong, the first 3G smartphone in the world, and the Service Architecture
of Hutchison3G, Service Enabling Platforms. Ms. Mak was the key
development leader and advocate on 3G technology development in many
technology forums, such as 3GPP, WAP Forum, and in global cooperation
with all HWL's Telecom Group to evaluate new technologies which had
later confirmed as a standard and inventions and led to today’s technology
evolution. Ms. Mak holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management
Information System from San Francisco State University and a Master
degree in Business Administration from University of San Francisco.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Huen Lai Chun (¥E¥), aged 53, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 2 September 2015. She is also an alternate
authorised representative of the Company. Ms. Huen is an associate
member of both of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in United
Kingdom, and also a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. She has over 10 years of experience in handling
secretarial and compliance related matters of listed corporations.
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Report of the Directors

EEERS

The Board hereby presents its report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in mobile technologies business, tourism and
hospitality business, gamma ray irradiation services, and securities trading
and investment.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management
Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 27 of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages 71 to 72 of this
annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, and consolidated assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
228 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year ended
31 March 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2018: Nil).
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Report of the Directors (continued)

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the movements in bank and other borrowings of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Share Consolidation became effective on 3 August 2018. As at 31
March 2019, the total number of issued Shares was 3,638,227,900
Consolidated Shares (2018: 3,522,513,064 Consolidated Shares).

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the year under review.

During the year under review, the Company has put in place appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or reward to the eligible persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.
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Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the Board may at its discretion offer to any eligible employee, director,
consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group options
to subscribe for Shares.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option and minimum period (if any) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

Such offer shall be open for acceptance on a day specified in the letter of
grant which shall be no longer than thirty days from the date of the letter
of grant. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined by the
Board (which shall not be more than ten years commencing on the date
on which the share option is granted and accepted). Unless otherwise
determined by the Board, there is no minimum period for which a share
option must be held before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of share
options

The share options shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
and taken effect when the duplicate letter of grant is signed by the eligible
person and returned to the Company together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the share
options.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at
the date of this annual report

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from
time to time (the “Overriding Limit")

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding
Limit, the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the
refreshment.
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Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at
the date of this annual report (continued)

As approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 2
September 2016 (the “2016 AGM"), the total number of Shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Scheme Mandate Limit was
refreshed to 3,255,719,561 Pre-Adjusted Shares (the “Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit”) which is equivalent to 10% of the issued Shares as at the
date of the 2016 AGM.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no share options were granted,
exercised and cancelled and share options to subscribe for a total of
700,500,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares were lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme.

No share option has been granted under the Refreshed Scheme Mandate
Limit pursuant to the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual
report. Also, share options to subscribe for a total of 700,500,000
Pre-Adjusted Shares were lapsed as at the date of this annual report.
Accordingly, as at the date of this annual report, no share option was
outstanding.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is 325,571,956
Adjusted Shares, representing approximately 8.75% of the total number
of issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue, unless a Shareholders’
approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors. Where share
options are proposed to be granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
and the grant would result in the aggregate of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer of the relevant
share options to (i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of issued Shares for the time being; and (ii) have an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the
proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting with the connected persons abstaining from voting in
favour.

EEEHRE(H)

REBBRETBTHBTZROBERRANERA
MEERTROZBEIH(E)

KBRRERZT—ANFNAZBETZREBFAE([=
T RNFERFBFREG ) EHE - RIBFHEIRELRA
B2 BRI PTS AR 0 #E BRE BB #1/33,255,719,561 A4
ABARO((REFAEEELR])  HER=-_F—X
FREBFREARCETHRND Z10% -

HE-Z-NF-A-+—ALLFE  HEBEREER
H o 1T R RESE - A HRREE700,500,0000% 45 8 ZE B A%
PE BB IS D AR IR BB AR R T B 3k -

RAERAE - ERERERET SRR E T 8l
T _E PRI (T BEARAE o 1t - & $K5RAE700,500,0004%
AR NERENANFRB BB RR - Bt - B
AETRAER - BRI -

RAFHEH - REBREBIRREENABIREL
PR AT 31T 2 IR 1D 4880 /5325,57 1,956 RS TR AR 15 - 4B
ERE BTN BRKI8.75% -

ESEARBREGE T 2RSEHE

BT ERCRALAESD - BMER + (8 A BRI Rt
S| RAERIE A AT BT gER TR & B8 A T 2 BB
BRZBETRETETRNEBE RS GSRBEET
PRI HEE 2 1% -

BIARFES Ko TRABXNTEREHAIMAFES
RQZHﬁp%‘%A&ﬂﬁ%Hx% WBESBIERTEE Y
Bk o WEZMNESRBIE L IFRTES R IMFE
FEZBEARHBRE  mEHERHBREBSEHN
HER2AMBRES A (2¥EZB) L+ =E AR -
AREEREAEREAMEMAZEE TR TER
AT ZFTEBREETEMD BT RETEITZRNE
H)HBBAERCEITRMBEZ0.1%: & (i) BEEGRIE
BRI TTE T ) #8385,000,000 7 + RIGEE IS /AR
Hﬁiﬁé%%ﬁﬁt&t?&fﬁ C HEIEE - BREEALTAN

37



- China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited HEE HRFHERERL T

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE(H)

Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price determined by the Directors shall be at least the highest

of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the date of offer;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on its date of adoption. The Share Option Scheme
will expire on 21 August 2021 and the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is about two years.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no share options were granted
under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 March 2019, share options to
subscribe for a total of 700,500,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares were lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme. The movements in the share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March
2019 are as follows:
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Number of share options
BREHE
Weighted average
closing price of the
As at Gi d Exercised Cancelled Lapsed As at Shares immediately
31March  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Exercise price before the respective
Category of participant 2018 year year year year 2019 Date of grant per Share  Exercisable period exercise date
R=B-N\F R=B-hF RAREEEME 7H-E
SEAER ZA=+-H FREE FRTHE FRTEH FR&M =A=+-A BRUAH SROEE ATEEE BAZ mETHEHE
(HKS$)
()
Directors
s
Chu Wei Ning 300,000,000 — — — (300,000,000) —  27/06/2016 0239 27/06/2016- N/A
NHE 26/06/2018 NEm
Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony 200,000,000 — — — (200,000,000) —  27/06/2016 0.239  27/06/2016- N/A
BikE 26/06/2018 A
Employees 200,500,000 — — — (200,500,000) —  27/06/2016 0239 27/06/2016- N/A
' 26/06/2018 TR
Total 700,500,000 — — — (700,500,000) —
5t
Note:  As at the date of this annual report, all the share options to subscribe for a MsE . RAFRBE - A HEEE700,500,00008 £ THEERTAESD
total of 700,500,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares were lapsed. HIFT A B AR RE D Sk o
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

References are made to the circulars of the Company dated 25 May 2018

and 19 September 2018 respectively (the “Circulars”). Capitalised terms
used herein have the same meanings as those defined in the Circulars
unless otherwise defined herein.

On 26 January 2018, the Board resolved to award an aggregate of
1,030,540,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares to 38 Selected Employees under the
Share Award Scheme, of which, (i) 126,840,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares will
be awarded to 29 Independent Selected Employees by way of allotment
and issue of new Shares pursuant to the general mandate granted by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26
September 2017 (the “2017 General Mandate”); and (ii) 903,700,000 Pre-
Adjusted Shares will be awarded to 9 Connected Selected Employees by
way of allotment and issue of new Shares pursuant to a specific mandate
to be obtained from the independent Shareholders at a special general
meeting of the Company.

In relation to the Awards to the Independent Selected Employees, the
allotment and issue of 126,840,000 Pre-Adjusted Shares (or 12,684,000
Adjusted Shares) to the Trustee to hold in trust for 29 Independent
Selected Employees pursuant to the 2017 General Mandate was
completed on 28 March 2018, of which 12,529,000 Adjusted Shares were
vested and 155,000 Adjusted Shares were forfeited during the year under
review as shown in below table.

In relation to the Awards to the Connected Selected Employees, the grant
of the Awards to 9 Connected Selected Employees was duly passed by
the Independent Shareholders by way of poll in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules at the special general meeting of the
Company convened and held on 12 June 2018 (the “Previous SGM").
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 July 2018,
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, who used to be one of the Connected Selected
Employees, resigned as Director with effect from 16 July 2018. The
relevant Awards made to Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen automatically lapsed
forthwith. In addition, some developments of the Group and public
disclosures made by the Company subsequent to the despatch of the
Previous Circular for the Previous SGM involved certain Connected
Selected Employees. The information in relation to such developments and
public disclosures might or might not have affected the voting intention
of the Independent Shareholders on the Award of the Connected
Awarded Shares to the Connected Selected Employees at the Previous
SGM. Nonetheless, on 19 September 2018, the Company issued a
circular containing the information on the Award of 902,900,000 Pre-
Adjusted Shares (or 90,290,000 Adjusted Shares) to 8 Connected Selected
Employees and the information in relation to such developments and
public disclosures, for the Independent Shareholders’ re-consideration,
and to seek the Independent Shareholders’ reapproval of the Award of
902,900,000 Pre Adjusted Shares (or 90,290,000 Adjusted Shares) to 8
Connected Selected Employees by convening and holding a special general
meeting on 8 October 2018 (the “SGM").

The grant of the Awards to 8 Connected Selected Employees was duly
passed by the Independent Shareholders by way of poll in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules at the SGM. The allotment
and issue of 90,290,000 Adjusted Shares to the Trustee to hold in trust
for 8 Connected Selected Employees pursuant to a special mandate was
completed on 15 October 2018, and such Shares have not been granted
and vested during the year under review. The movements in the Awarded
Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme for the year ended 31
March 2019 are shown below:
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Number of Awarded Shares

RERGHUE
Unvested/
As at Granted Vested Forfeited
31 March 2018 during during during the year As at
Date of grant Category of participant (Note 1) the year the year (Note 2) 31 March 2019 Remarks
RZZ-N\F b1 74
ZA=t-H 28K RZ-B-hF
R AH SHEAER (Hat1) FRRH FRER (W&#2) ZR=t-B &
19/10/2018 Connected selected employees — 90,240,000 (90,240,000) — — Subject to lock-
“T-NETATAE HEmErRs up period
REEHAR
19/10/2018 Connected selected employees — 50,000 50,000 — —
ZE-NE+ATIA BECETRES
02/02/2018 Non-connected selected employees 10,830,000 —  (10,830,000) — — Subject to lock-
—Z-)\#ZAZH FHELETRE up period
REEBER
02/02/2018 Non-connected selected employees 1,854,000 — (1,699,000) (155,000) —
—Z-)\$=R=H FHECETRE
Total 12,684,000 — (12,529,000) (155,000) -
@it
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Notes:
(1) Adjusted to take into account of the Share Consolidation.
(2) Awarded Shares that are not vested and/or are forfeited in accordance with

the terms of the Share Award Scheme are held by the Trustee to be applied
towards future Awards in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Award Scheme.

The Awarded Shares to the Independent Selected Employees were
awarded by the Board on 26 January 2018 and were granted by the
Company on 2 February 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Apart from the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme, the
Company and the Vendors entered into the Agreements pursuant
to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and the Company
conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Equity Interests, representing
directly and indirectly the entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Made
and Ample Success, for an aggregate Consideration of HK$50,000,000,
which shall be satisfied by the allotment and issue of the Consideration
Shares in tranches at the Issue Price of HK$0.200 per Share to the Vendors
or their respective nominees in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Agreements on 29 March 2019. Details of such acquisition were set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 29 March 2019, 10 May
2019 and 6 June 2019.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, its holding companies, its fellow subsidiaries or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis (appointed on 23 August 2018)
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Mr. Han Chunjian

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (resigned on 16 July 2018)
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ Material
Interest in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements and “Transactions and Balances with
Related Parties” in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Company'’s business to which the subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or parent
company of the Company was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time
during the year under review.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 28 to 33 of this annual report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares/underlying Shares as at 31 March 2019

Name of Director

EEnR

Zhang Yi
SRR

Chu Wei Ning
MEZE

Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony
HE(E

Sub-total
Nt

Wong King Shiu, Daniel

Rk

Chan Chi Yuen
PRAEE

Chan Kee Huen, Michael
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Nature of interest

EENtE

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)
RV AR (M)

Beneficial owner

ERfERA

Beneficial owner

EnEAA

Interest in controlled corporation (Noe 2)
Sy EEER (A7i12)

Interest of spouse (Note 2)

BefBiEs (f7t2)

Beneficial owner

EmEAA

Beneficial owner
BEnEEA

Beneficial owner

BRec/E BmlEa A

Notes: FifaE -

(1) These Shares are held by One Faith Investments Limited, which is beneficially (1
and wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Yi.

) These Shares are held by Nova Investment Group Limited, which are @
beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony. Ms. Lui
Lai Yan is the spouse of Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony.

3) Based on the number of issued Shares of 3,638,227,900 as at 31 March 3)

2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors or
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code.

RN-E

EEEHRE(H)

—NFZR=+—BRGH THERH 2 FE

Approximate
percentage of issued
Number of  share capital of the

Shares held Company (Note 3)
EAERBE BT
REZBHEDL
FEEROHE (HfEE3)
215,427,500 5.92%
30,000,000 0.82%
55,228,720
151,900,718
20,200,000
227,329,438 6.25%
100,000 0.003%
555,000 0.015%
25,000 0.0007%

% Z %5 /B One Faith Investments Limited 548 - MaZ A
RIRRKEEEREERS -

#Z [ 19 Nova Investment Group Limited 74 © %
ERRIHGERELIEEREZERE - aBMREX T ABE
B 2 BeAE o

BRR - NF=R=1+—H2ZEB#TKRHEE
3,638,227,900f% 515 °

BEXHEEEN R-T—AF=ZA=1+—8 AR
RIZEFLZETHA BBENANA R s B =
(EERFBHREEKROISEXVER) 2% - BEERDE
FHRBEACEEREES RAEEFIEI2HEAFEZE
Az AR SAR  KIRIFIZETRIEAEER
T R B S P 2 (Rl iR SR A
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE(H)

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the following
parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares/underlying Shares as at 31 March 2019

FERRZzER
RIZE-NF=ZA=+—H BARARBEEFLAT
GPIE336IEMERTE 2 BRMPTREE - TIAL (B
ARABEERZBITRABINR IR RAREBRO HEE
2R SORBIAT

RZZ—NEF=A=1+—BHRG HEERNZTE
Approximate

percentage of issued
Number of  share capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held Company (Note 4)
EARRBE BT
BRAEBABE D
REREA B REmtE FFERGHE (Hfzt4)
Lui Lai Yan Beneficial owner 11,200,000
= M BEmERA
Interest of spouse (Note 1) 207,129,438
Btz (f7at1)
Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 9,000,000
REE R (f1EET)
Sub-total 227,329,438 6.25%
Dt
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

(1) Of which 207,129,438 Shares, 55,228,720 Shares are directly held by
her spouse, Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony (an executive Director); and
151,900,718 Shares are directly held by Nova Investment Group Limited
which is wholly-owned by Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony. 9,000,000
Shares are directly held by Rising Elite Global Limited, which is wholly
owned by Ms. Lui Lai Yan.

2) Based on the number of issued Shares of 3,638,227,900 as at 31 March
2019.

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31
March 2019, there was no other person, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, who had any interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group made approximately
11.23% of its entire sales to the five largest customers and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
4.92%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 52.64% of the total purchases for the year ended 31 March
2019 and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted
to approximately 12.59%.

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates or any
Shareholders, to the best knowledge of the Directors, holding more than
5% of the Company’s total issued share capital, had any beneficial interest
in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year under
review.

EEEHRE(H)

FTERRZER(E)

HiaF -

(1) 207,129,438k Mk fh e - H 55,228,720/ iz 5
HEZEBGEEREE(MTES)EERE R
151,900,7 18A% k% 17 B3 Nova Investment Group Limited &
BRE - M AR BBERESE2EHSA 9,000,000
[i& % 15 £ Rising Elite Global Limited B354 « %A
FIREEMLZ L2 EHE °

(2) ERR-_ZE-NE=-RAR=1+—B2Z2B%TRHEE
3,638,227,9000% 5+ & -

BREXPBEEIN  REEZMHM  R_T-NF=A
=t+—R  #fEEMAL (RERRFEFARETHAR
SN SRAR R A 0 P BB (R R AR SR A IR IR o5 I 8
BRI 336[4AFE 2 BLMA 2 BamskE -

EEEN
REBFERLETIRFEERAD A2 BREME
REBAEBERRITRZAEH -

FTEEFRMER

HE-Z-NEF=-A=-+—BLEFE RXEERAARF
IS EREN11.23% HRRRARPNE
ZHHERENIELN2% HE-T—NF=-A=1+—A1t
FE  AEERRAARERRECRBEEEEREED
52.64% - HA R A EEIE 2 SRETEL1512.59% °

KEBEEN  EERESE A2 EARTHRARE
ARR( HEEFRAOSA AL T2 HEBTRAS% b
FEOBHRAAEE Y AR AR A TR
RS o
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE(H)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Particulars of transactions with related parties of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions were exempt connected transactions
for the Company or did not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY

On 24 August 2016, the Company (as lender) entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Yota Devices IPR Ltd (the
“Borrower"”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant to the
Borrower a loan facility in the amount of USD7,000,000. On 22 May
2017, the Company entered into a supplemental loan agreement (the
“Supplemental Loan Agreement”) with the Borrower, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to increase the loan facility by USD 15,000,000 to
an aggregate amount of USD22,000,000 (the “Loan”). The Borrower is
a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yota. The Borrower is principally engaged
in the licensing of intellectual property rights for use in developing any
connectivity devices and ancillary products. Subsequent to the Group's
completion of the acquisition of 30% equity interest in Yota and the
grant of the exclusive intellectual property license to market and sell any
connectivity devices and ancillary products in the Greater China, the
Borrower has been developing Yota 3 to enable the Group to enter into
the smartphone market in the Greater China. The Company has granted
the Loan to the Borrower to provide funding to the Borrower to continue
developing Yota 3 and for its general working capital. The Loan under the
Loan Agreement as supplemented by the Supplemental Loan Agreement
is unsecured. Interest on the Loan shall accrue at the rate of eight per
cent. (8%) per annum. The Loan has no fixed term of repayment. The
Loan, together with all amounts accrued or outstanding under the Loan
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Loan Agreement),
shall be repayable by the Borrower in full on demand by the Company,
provided that no such demand or receipt of any payment under the Loan
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Loan Agreement) shall
be made until the Senior Discharge Date (as defined in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 May 2017) or in accordance with the terms of the
Subordination Deed (as defined in the Company’s announcement dated 22
May 2017). As at 31 March 2019, the total outstanding amount due from
the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement amounted to approximately
USD16,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$129,513,000, which
comprises the principal amount of approximately HK$117,739,500 and
accrued interests of approximately HK$16,091,000), representing more
than 8% of the total assets of the Company as at 31 March 2019. Details
of the Loan are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 22 May
2017.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and

within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the
Company’s external auditor the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and discussed the auditing, internal control and
financial reporting process including the review of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders
and investors of the Shares are recommended to consult their professional
advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including
tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in
the Shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company or its Directors or
officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of,
holders of Shares resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding,
disposal of or dealing in such Shares.

AUDITOR

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan CPA Limited (“Ting Ho Kwan & Chan”) resigned as
an auditor of the Company with effect from 19 April 2018. As stated in its
resignation letter, Ting Ho Kwan & Chan resigned after taking into account
factors including the level of audit fees, its available internal resources
in light of current work flows and the professional risk associated with
the audit. The Board appointed Asian Alliance as the new auditor of the
Company on 19 April 2018 to fill the vacancy following the resignation of
Ting Ho Kwan & Chan.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019 have been audited by Asian Alliance who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for re-appointment of
Asian Alliance as an auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE(H)

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
the Shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional advisors
for their support to the Company over the past year and to sincerely thank
the staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang i
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 July 2019
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Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to the

Group's success and sustainable development. We commit ourselves to
a high standard of corporate governance and have devoted considerable
efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to meet
the code provision (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the CG Code,
that are considered to be relevant to the Group, and has complied with
most of the Code Provisions for the time being in force throughout the
year under review save for certain deviations from the Code Provisions,
details of which are explained in the relevant paragraphs in this report. The
Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure
that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the Group’s overall
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s business performance,
preparing and approving the Group’s financial statements, recommending
the Directors’ appointment or re-appointment to Shareholders, considering
and approving the Group’s material contracts and transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests) as well as other significant
policies and financial matters. The Board gives clear directions as to the
powers delegated to the management for the day-to-day operation,
management and administration functions of the Group. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions being
carried out by the Group’s management and the Board has full support
from the Group’s management to discharge its responsibilities.

The Directors are collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of business and affairs of the Group in the best interests of
the shareholders of the Company.

As the date of this annual report, the Board comprised a total of eight
Directors, with four executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Yi, Ms. Chu
Wei Ning, Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony and Mr. Wong King Shiu,
Daniel; and four independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chan
Chi Yuen, Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael
and Mr. Han Chunjian. Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 16 July 2018. A list containing the
names of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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TEERARE(A)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to 33
of this annual report. To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships

between the members of the Board.

There were five Board meetings and four general meetings held during the
year ended 31 March 2019 and Directors’ attendance at the meetings are
as follows:

- (G
SEEZBERNFFRE28EHIZE - REFHMA
M- EFRSRAZMLEEY  2F  RBAABE
ASARBARALE -

HE-Z-NAF-A=-1+—ALLFE  AQRYETH
REFSEZNUARERE EEHFESZ 28BN
T

Number of Number of

Board meetings general meetings

Name of Directors attended/held attended/held
HE BT HE BT
EEgg EESEEAH BEAERE
Executive Directors: HTES:
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RIS E(EE) 5/5 2/4
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) tESZ &2+ (77E#47) 5/5 4/4
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony SEETE 5/5 4/4
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel =ik 4/5 3/4
Independent non-executive Directors: BIYFHITES :
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen FREIR S 4/5 3/4
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis FeR 77 B 50 A
(appointed on 23 August 2018) (R=F—NFNA=ZF=HEZ(E) 22 2/2
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael FRACIE L& 5/5 3/4
Mr. Han Chunjian BEREA 1/5 0/4
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen Eyis2 i
(resigned on 16 July 2018) (R=F—/NF+ A+ HEHE) 3/3 11

Under Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and
other non-executive directors should attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. During the year
under review, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael and Mr.
Han Chunijian, all being independent non-executive Directors, were absent
from certain general meetings of the Company, in each case due to other
important engagements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature

of offices held in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates to
the Company on any subsequent changes.

All Directors have been provided with updates by the Group’s
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's performance, position, recent developments and prospects in
sufficient details to keep them abreast of the Group’s affairs and facilitate
them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs
(a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the year under
review and up to the date of this report are set out below:

Position held with the Company and other members of the Group
PAZR R B R 255 B HoAth i B A RIHE AE 2 B L

Name of Directors Details of Change
EEnA BEFHE

Chan Fong Kong, Francis

BR77 RIS

TEERARE(A)

Exe(A)
SEFREBAALRBERSARBARA T RER
ERBEMEAREZ HERIE - LR EAED
BB AR TIREBITER -

EREFCEASEERERESNEN  ERHFY
REEZRE - #OR  ARBEREASERALERZR
BRZHE ARRNEESEUAKEEH 1A
BFRIR LR AR AR E TS -

RIELHRAEI13 51BN FEZRE - REEFEHHR
BEAREBHARE ETRAIE13.512) K% @) = (e)
BROQBATHREZEZEREHHRINNT

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and a member of both the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee with effect from 23 August 2018.

BE-F-\FAAT-HREZERBULFFNTEFUARBRZERGREREBGIRE -

Wong Hoi Kuen
=S E

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 16 July 2018, and ceased to
be a member of both the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

BE-Z—\FtATRAEFEELFRTES B A THAERZEeEREEGZKE -

Experience including other directorships in listed companies and major appointments

RERARHEERMES SR 2 KFEMERTR
Name of Directors Details of Change
EEnR BEFE

Chan Chi Yuen
PRAEE A&

Resigned as an independent non-executive director of Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1466) with effect from 13 September 2018.

BT N\FAAT=BEFHEREERERABT (ORI : 1466) B FMITEE B -

Chan Kee Huen, Michael

IRECIESEAE

Resigned as an independent non-executive director of K. H. Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
1557) with effect from 13 August 2018.

BT N\FNAT=ZHE I EEERERAR (RMMRSE - 1557) B EMTEE R -

Appointed as an independent non-executive director of Sterling Group Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1825), whose shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 19 October 2018, with effect

from 21 September 2018.

A=F-NFAA=+ - BEEEEAZREBERERANBORIE | 1825) BIHRTER
—B - BARBGRF N+ AR L -
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TEERARE(A)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as the chairman of the Board on 5 September
2016 and Ms. Chu Wei Ning was appointed as the chief executive officer
of the Company on 27 June 2016.

The chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. The chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information, with the support of the company secretary and the senior
management, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable,
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

The chairman encourages the Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs, taking the lead to act in the best
interests of the Company. The chairman also promotes a culture to
facilitate effective contributions, encourages the Directors to express
dissenting views and concerns and allows sufficient discussion of issues
before decisions are made.

The chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The chief executive
officer is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and
operations and is also responsible for developing strategic plans, and
formulating and reviewing the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
respectively relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the independent nonexecutive Directors represent at least
one-third of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, the independent
non-executive Directors have made various contributions to the
development of the Company’s strategies.

All independent non-executive Directors are financially independent
from the Group. The Company has confirmed with all independent non-
executive Directors as to their independence and received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of them for the year under
review, having regard to the factors as set out Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed
for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, save for Mr. Chan
Chi Yuen who was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
not for a specific term, the other independent non-executive Directors
were appointed for a term of three years, while all of them are subject
to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings as
specified in the Company’s bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant Board committees to assist it in
discharging its responsibilities.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012. As at
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen,
Michael (as Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Chan Fong Kong,
Francis. Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 16 July 2018. Following the announcement
of the Company dated 23 August 2018 regarding the appointment of
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee, the Nomination Committee
comprises three members.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERARE(A)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of candidates for directorship, appointment
or re-appointment and succession of Directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the
duties and powers of the Nomination Committee are set out in its written
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

There was one Nomination Committee meeting held during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and members’ attendance at the meeting are as
follows:

Exz8g(E)

REESE(H)
REZAGEIBAARTEFE RN - ARRAK -
PEBEEAR  EFRAAENEARBEAEFE
REHBER - UGB EMTES 2Bt - 12
LEARIBH RENEERN A EERERE - TR
AT B BB AR AR O -

BEZ-NF=ZA=t—"RHLFE RELZESLH
T—R&#H REHFEERZBERAT

Number of meetings

attended/held

Name of Members REEH HEBITERRE

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) BRECIB S AE(EE) 1”1

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen FRERE 1/1
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis Bk 75 Wl %2 A=

(appointed on 23 August 2018) (R=ZZF—NFNA=—F+=ZHEZ) 0/0
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen =L

(ceased as a member with effect from16 July 2018) (R =ZFE—NF+ A+ NHETHKE) 11

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The nomination policy of the Company aims to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. In identifying
and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would consider the candidate’s character, qualifications,
experience, independence and other relevant criteria necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board. In evaluating
and recommending retiring Directors to the Board for re-appointment, the
Nomination Committee would also consider the overall contribution and
service of the retiring Directors to the Company, including but not limited
to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees
and general meetings of the Company where applicable, in addition to
the level of participation in and performance on the Board and/or its
committees.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee included (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) reviewing
the annual confirmation of independence submitted by the independent
non-executive Directors and assessing their independence; and (iii)
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates for
directorship and re-appointment of Directors.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee made
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates for
directorship. In identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and carried out the selection process by making reference to
the profile such as age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge of candidates. Recommendations of
candidates for directorship to the Board was based on merit, experience,
skills and knowledge relevant to the needs of the Board and the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006. It
currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Chi Yuen (as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
remuneration proposals made by the management, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management. Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of individual
executive Director and senior management, and make recommendations
to the Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the
recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee.

There were two Remuneration Committee meetings held during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as
follows:
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Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Members REHSH HEBTEERE
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) BRI E(FE) 172
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PRECIE S A& 212
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony BIEREEE 2/2
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TEERARE(A)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

During the year under review, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included (i) making recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of proposed candidates for Directors; and (ii)
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on Directors’ fees
and remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The remuneration packages of the Directors for the year ended 31 March
2019 have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board by taking into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, duty and responsibility, market
conditions and desirability of performance based remuneration. Details of
the emoluments of all Directors are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Exz8g(E)

FHz=EE(E)

%@@iﬁ'ﬁM§E@ﬁ”ZI¢@%'ﬁ§$E%
BIHMFBREEEREEBER  R()VANES
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BEZ-NFA=Z+-HIEFEZESHFHFED
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- BRI EBE  THBERARERBHAZHFHMES
ATEL - REEZMEFIEHNGRA B MAMES -

BRECESTAZFANEB15  BREBBAERES
—E-NFZA=+—HULFEZEFHERFINOT ¢

Number of employees
EEAY

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000

Total wEt

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (as Chairman),
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis. Mr. Wong Hoi
Kuen ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 16
July 2018. Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee
must comprise a minimum of three members. Following Mr. Wong's
resignation as an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Company had only two members in the Audit
Committee which did not meet the requirement under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. Following the announcement of the Company dated 23
August 2018 regarding the appointment of Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 23 August 2018, the Company has complied
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The committee members possess appropriate professional qualifications,
business or accounting and related financial management expertise
and experience to provide relevant advice and recommendations to the
Company. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for oversight of
the financial reporting system and risk management and internal control
systems of the Company, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor. Details of the duties and powers of the Audit
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (i) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees;
and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

There were five Audit Committee meetings held during the year ended 31
March 2019 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of meetings
attended/held

Name of Members REEH HEBTERRE
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) PRECIE S E(E/E) 5/5
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BRERE 5/5
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BR 7 Wl %

(appointed on 23 August 2018) (R=F=—NFNA=ZF=HEZF) 1”1
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (ceased as a member =L

with effect from 16 July 2018) (B =—F—NF+A+NAFHEKE) 4/4
During the year under review, the work performed by the Audit HREEFE @ BEXZESHET 2 TEREN)EMNALEE

Committee included (i) reviewing the audited annual results and the
unaudited interim results of the Group; (ii) reviewing the independence
and objectivity of the external auditor; (iii) reviewing the internal control
review reports, and the compliance and corporate governance issues of
the Group; (iv) reviewing the continuing connected transaction of the
Group; and (v) discussing with the external auditor the sufficiency of the
internal control of the Group. There was no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERARE(A)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy since August 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees board diversity as an essential element in achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In reviewing Board composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider balancing of a number of factors,
including but not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
members’ appointments will be based on merit, having due regard to the
overall effective function of the Board as a whole.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The aim of the dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to the
Shareholders the funds surplus to the operating needs of the Group.
The distribution of dividend depends upon, among others, the financial
performance, future funding needs of the Company and the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019 was audited by Asian Alliance.

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to Asian Alliance
for their statutory audit services amounted to HK$1,824,000. No fees
were paid in respect of non-audit services.

DIRECTORS” AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare consolidated
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent
to its operations and relevant to the consolidated financial statements,
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and
have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and those of
the auditor to the shareholders of the Company are set out on pages 69
to 70 of this annual report.
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES

As mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report contained in the
Annual Report, the Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements which give true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group. The Directors are aware of the Group
reported loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,298,305,000 and had net cash used in operating activities of
approximately HK$43,576,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019, as well
as the Group’s net current liabilities of approximately HK$541,673,000
and net liabilities of approximately HK$364,456,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Further
discussion on this issue has been set out in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Note 2 — Basis of preparation — Going concern
basis” to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report.
Having made appropriate enquiries and examined the major areas which
will give rise to the aforesaid significant financial exposures, the Directors,
based on the Cash Flow Forecast which has been prepared on the basis
that the Group will successfully implement the plans and measures as set
out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, are satisfied that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet with its financial
obligations when they fall due. In this connection, the Directors have
continued to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and considered that the Group has applied
consistent accounting policies and made judgements and estimates
that are appropriate and reasonable in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

During the year under review, the Group has complied with Principle C.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features
of the risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Assessment System

The Group has adopted a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

3 Identification: Understand business objectives, identify risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives, and the ownership of
risks.

o Evaluation: Evaluate the identified risks based on the likelihood of

the occurrence and impact level of the risk.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments done by the Internal Control Advisor,
Certain significant risks were identified during the year under review.
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TEERARE(A)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (continued)

Risk Assessment System (continued)

Operational Risk

As at March 2019, approximately HKD 30 million were overdue for more
than 180 days. If the Group is not able to resolve the liquidity issue and
repay the outstanding to vendors, vendors may pursuit legal action against
the Group and lead to liquidation. The management of Chongging Baoli
have already communicated with the vendors in order to renegotiate credit
terms and avoid legal actions against Chongging Baoli.

Also, due to the winding up order against Yota (Cayman Islands), there
is a risk of uncertainty on the validity of exclusive intellectual property
license, which has been granted by a subsidiary of Yota to the Group. The
Group is currently assessing the potential impact of the winding up order
and is seeking legal advice as to the action to be taken in order to protect
the Group's interest.

Strategic Risk

Due to the fierce competition and decline in smartphone market, the sales
performance of Chongging Baoli was under pressure; Chongging Baoli
may face operational difficulties and have going concern risk. The Group
has adopted various strategies to mitigate the risk which included clearly
defining the target audience of products and establishing strategic plan to
expand its market shares and achieve sales target, and developing better
pricing model.

The Group has put in place the measures to mitigate those significant risk.
Also, an internal audit advisor will be appointed to provide further advice
and support to the Group.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follow:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis carrying out internal control across the
Group.

. Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying

and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and procedures

to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

SYSTEMS (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

3 Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information and
enable a consistent practice of timely, accurate and complete disclosure
of material information of the Group, the Group has adopted policies and
procedures which set out guidelines and procedures as well as measures to
handle and disseminate inside information. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

3 Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

3 The executive direcotrs are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors

Based on the internal control reviews conducted by the Internal Control
Advisor, deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal controls
are identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement during
the year under review.

Internal Control Advisor

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Advisor to carry out the
internal audit functions by performing independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor is independent of the Group’s
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting periodic interviews, walkthroughs
and tests of operational effectiveness to identify any irregularities and
risks, develops action plans and makes recommendations to address the
identified risks, and report to the audit committee on any key findings
and progress of the internal audit process. The audit committee in turns,
reports to the Board on any material issues and makes recommedations to
the Board.
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Corporafe Governance Report (continued)

TEERARE(A)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is also
responsible for reviewing the internal control review reports and approving
policies and procedures designed by the management. The Board
conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and procedures for the financial
year ended 31 March 2019 by way of discussions with the management
of the Group, members of the Audit Committee and the Internal Control
Advisor.

The Board, through its review and the review made by Internal Control
Advisor and Audit Committee, concluded that, the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems need
to be improved. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has adopted a code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less
exacting than the required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Board was informed by Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony (“Mr.
Yeung”), executive Director, on 5 July 2019 that he has entered into
certain margin financing arrangement(s) and certain Shares held by Mr.
Yeung, his spouse and their controlled corporations were deposited in a
margin securities trading account (the “Margin Account”) maintained with
a securities firm (the “Broker”) as collaterals to secure his margin financing
(the “Margin Securities”). Mr. Yeung informed the Board that pursuant
to the terms and conditions applicable to the Margin Account, the Broker
disposed of 71,983,720, 12,625,000 and 13,500,000 Margin Securities,
representing approximately 2.64% in total of the entire issued share
capital of the Company, on the market on 25 June 2019, 26 June 2019
and 27 June 2019 respectively (the “Disposals”) to settle the outstanding
balances owing to the Broker. The Disposals fell within the Black-out
Period.

The Directors (except Mr. Yeung), after considering the above-mentioned
information provided by Mr. Yeung, were satisfied that the Disposals
during the Black-out Period were made under exceptional circumstances
under paragraph C.14 of Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, having made specific enquiry, all Directors (except
Mr. Yeung) have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the year under
review and up to the date of this report.

Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive and tailored
induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and of his/her duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing briefing and
professional development to Directors whenever necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance with the same by them.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.6.5 of
the CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board will be
informed and relevant.

All current Directors have provided their training records for the year under
review to the Company pursuant to the CG Code. The individual training
record of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2019 is summarised
below:

TEERARE(A)

BIESETESRGZBETRA(E)

B EXFREES - AR BHEL ARBERER  28E
EHBELRINERRENBELBEFAREEARRE
A BEETIRETRIAHZMERERARARZES
EITREFRF 2R TR -

BUMETESANEREZIRESL2ARIEREM
BEOREEM  UBRFTTESHEERRER XK
& WERLETRAURBBEEREERE T 2B

REBETRIALRHNAFTERAERRUARNFESR
=3

EEREESARLTRAREMEREERTE RN
BREM  BRESETABEAE -

ERUNETEETUZTRIEXAES  AAEHES
BREEMAABRREZIZI  UERRERESES
TEHABLARE 2 TR -

E2RBAEZEERBELETHMARARERENDE
FERZBIRLE RBE-_ZT-NF=A=1T—HLt
FE  ZEEMRI ZEREICEMRIT

Type of trainings

Name of Directors EEpE EHER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) SRR (EE) AB
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) BT 4+ (7TE(4E7E) AB
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony HIEEEAE AB
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel EH5kEAE AB
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen PRERESLE AB
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis FeR 77 Ml 52 A= AB
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael FRECIE o AB
Mr. Han Chunjian BERSTAE AB

A: Attending seminars/conferences/training sessions relating to corporate
governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities, and updates on
rules, laws and/or regulations relating to listed companies

B: Reading newspapers/journals/articles and in-house briefings relating to
the economy, general business, and/or the Company’s business
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERARE(A)

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for directors’ liabilities in respect of potential
legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of the
Group pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code. Such directors’
liability insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no claim has been made against
the Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider as its Company
Secretary since 2 September 2015. The chief executive officer and the
financial controller of the Company are the contact person of the external
service provider. The biographical details of the Company Secretary are
disclosed in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
section of this annual report. During the year under review, Ms. Huen Lai
Chun, being the Company Secretary of the Company, undertook over 15
hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-
laws 58, the Shareholder(s) holding as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
with the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
for the attention of the Company Secretary and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the

Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email address) to
the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites 3103-04, 31/F,
Oxford House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general meetings
of the Company.

Procedures for putting proposals at a general meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
general meetings of the Company. Proposals shall be directed in writing
with contact details (including name, address, telephone number and
email address) to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at
Suites 3103-04, 31/F, Oxford House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
available on the website of the Company.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are
appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval at
the next general meeting of the Company to be convened by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its Shareholders and investors
through various channels including publication of interim and annual
reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The Company
encourages their participation through general meetings where they meet
and exchange views with the Board, and exercise their right to vote at

general meetings.
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TEERARE(A)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

To promote the communication between the Company and
its Shareholders, the Company has established a Shareholders’
communication policy which will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory and other
requirements.

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company is published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. There have been no changes to such
constitutional documents during the year under review.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBE RS

/ HRI(EB)E ST EEFAEREAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA BAOLI TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
TEBEIRKERERAF

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 228,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(@) Scope limitation on share of results and impairment
loss on interests in associates
As stated in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has equity accounted for its interest in Yota and its subsidiares (the “Yota
Group”), associates of the Group. As at 31 March 2019, the carrying
amount of the interests in associates is zero and the Group’s share of
profit of associates and the impairment loss on interests in associates for
the year ended 31 March 2019 were approximately HK$474,000 and
HK$331,352,000 respectively. On 15 March 2019, a winding up order
was granted by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands against Yota,
accordingly, the interests in associates were fully impaired as at 31 March
2019. However, we were unable to obtain sufficient financial information
of Yota Group from the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and
the liquidator of associates that we considered necessary, and there were
no other satisfactory audit procedure that we could adopt to ascertain
the financial position of Yota Group as at 31 March 2019 and its result of
operations for the year then ended.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
(@) Scope limitation on share of results and impairment
loss on interests in associates (continued)
Any adjustment found to be necessary to the financial position of
associates as at 31 March 2019 and its result of operations for the year
then ended will have a consequential impact on the Group’s share of
results of associates and thus the impairment loss on interests in associates
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the related note disclosures to the
consolidated financial statements.
(b) Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going
concern
As stated in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
reported loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,298,305,000 and had significant net cash used in operating activities
of approximately HK$43,576,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019.
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$541,673,000 and the Group had net liabilities
of approximately HK$364,456,000, in which total borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$238,790,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$7,317,000 only.

In addition, as detailed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group defaulted on the repayment of the interest on placing notes
on their respective due dates during the year ended 31 March 2019. One
creditor had taken legal actions against the Group to recover the debts as
disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Directors on
a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the Group'’s
ability to obtain sufficient future funding. Due to the uncertainty of the
Group’s ability to maintain adequate future cash flows, we were unable to
ascertain whether the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis are proper and
appropriate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
(b) Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to going
concern (continued)

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
would be necessary to reclassify all non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities respectively, write-down the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities which may
arise. The consolidated financial statements have not incorporated any
of these adjustments. However, the uncertainty surrounding the Group'’s
future cash flows raises significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. We consider that appropriate disclosures
have been made in the consolidated financial statements concerning this
situation, but we are unable to obtain adequate evidence concerning the
Group's ability to meet any financial obligations as and when they fall due
and we consider that the material uncertainties relating to going concern
basis and their cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements

is so extreme that we have disclaimed our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

B ZBE®RE(R)

TRRBRRZEE(E)
(b) EBBELLZZRERTAPERE(E)

FF LSRR TEA - LA BEAD RIS I
MBEENERBDEBEENDERRDEERRDE
B BEEBEREEETRESRE  RRTTRELN
E—TEEIEREG GREVBHRLBNAEEZE
HE R AE BEREARRRESRENTHABRREER
4 BERERELERNELSRER - ZMRA &
BUBHMREMERBERFHESRE - ERARLE
SEE BEEEARNETEMISMBEENRIER
& BERER/BRERELEZZEEATHBREARR
ErRe iR e B A Z RSP ERBIEE  RASHE
HIREER -

ESRAEERAREMBRRAREZER

EXAAARBEESHMNAS((TEEHAE )R
2 BEMBREERN((EBYBHREL DREER
APz BRBEREREBEAEMT A ZHEAMBRE - I
HERRREGEUBWMROBE TN FERNRFFLE
RMEH 2 ERBRRMPIFT 2 NEEIEEE -

EHRBEAVBHRER  EFRAENE EEEFE
gz UEERBATREASELEEHL
B UREARELERSER  RIEEAE
# BREBRIFLEE  AREEGERZERT

o

AEEAEEE
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BYZHMKSE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 and Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because
of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chan Mei Mei

Practising Certificate Number: P05256

Suites 313-316, 3/F
Shui On Centre
6-8 Harbour Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

12 July 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mERE®ER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HisF FET FET
Revenue L ON 8 44,580 53,482
Cost of revenue S ONDZN (103,149) (42,278)
Gross (loss) profit (E8)EF (58,569) 11,204
Other income, gains and losses, net HaWA - Wz g EIFEE 10 30,024 34,595
Impairment losses on financial assets, net of ERMEEZREEBE]
reversal (Br#EEERIE) 12 (612,901) 6,411
Impairment loss on interests in associates B N R < R EE R 21 (331,352) —
Impairment loss on goodwill BB ZREEE 22 (87,196) (56,901)
Administrative expenses 1THE A (203,888) (220,564)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHETH (19,576) (37,597)
Finance costs A& R 11 (25,468) (15,679)
Share of profit (loss) of associates FERES N E) 2w A (EE) 21 474 (13,332)
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE—EaEhE 2 EE — (9,652)
Loss before tax FRBL AT 18 (1,308,452) (301,515)
Income tax credit FriSHitE R 13 2,502 1,821
Loss for the year REEFE 14 (1,305,950) (299,694)
Loss for the year attributable to: BT ATEERFERS !
— Owners of the Company —ARREEBA (1,298,305) (294,509)
— Non-controlling interests —IEERiER (7,645) (5,185)
(1,305,950) (299,694)
(Restated)
(E31)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted —EAREE 18 (36.29) centsAll (8.54) centsll

4
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEsERAEMEZEREX

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B EZE—ZE—NE=-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year TEEFE (1,305,950) (299,694)
Other comprehensive (expense) income: HibZ2E(ZH) WA :
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HAEEH 7 HEEm 2B -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign ~ #BEBINEFSRFE L 2 1E N,
operations =% (25) (1,219)
Release of exchange reserve of a joint venture upon RE SRR RR—EA e
step-acquisition ZIE N — (89)
Share of other comprehensive expense FEE—FEE &R Eib
of a joint venture £ — (172)
Share of other comprehensive (expense) income of JEMREE AR 2 EMb2mE (S H)
associates A (3,168) 1,305
Other comprehensive expense for the year, AEEHMEESH
net of income tax (BRPT1EHIE) (3,193) (175)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEZEZHEE (1,309,143) (299,869)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to: UTATEEEZER HEARE
Owners of the Company F/NEIEZ ZSUN (1,301,645) (294,687)
Non-controlling interests IR (7,498) (5,182)
(1,309,143) (299,869)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB RR K

Asat 31 March 2019 R=_ZE—NF=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
e FHET FET

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - WEREE 19 9,986 11,936
Land use rights T A 20 8,328 9,392
Intangible asset mEE 19 27
Goodwill Bl 22 185,285 271,675
Interests in associates NS i 21 — 334,003
Deferred tax assets EEFHIBEE 30 2,524 —
206,142 627,033

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 23 11,638 89,650
Trade and other receivables U E 5 & HAbBRTE 24 36,005 58,334
Amounts due from associates FEUREE 2 R F0E 21 — 579,614
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss E A EHABR Z S REAE 25 778 2,155
Bank balances and cash RITEHBREIES 26 7,317 33,271
55,738 763,024
Current liabilities piE=Ri=

Trade and other payables BN E 5 REMIRIE 27 387,047 278,133
Contract liabilites EHaE 28 469 —
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 29 209,895 198,637
597,411 476,770
Net current (liabilities) assets RENBBEEERE (541,673) 286,254
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBER (335,531) 913,287

Non-current liabilities B i=Ki
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE 29 28,895 29,083
Deferred tax liabilities EETRIBAE 30 30 30
28,925 29,113
Net (liabilities) assets (BB EEFE (364,456) 884,174
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

mE MR R (&)

Asat 31 March 2019 R —ZE—HhF=A=+—H

2019 2018

—E-hF —ZT-N\F

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

it FET FET

Capital and reserves BERR G

Share capital & 7% 31 363,823 352,251
Reserves i (716,627) 535,975
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN RHEA ANEIE R (352,804) 888,226
Non-controlling interests A 45 (11,652) (4,052)
Total (deficit) equity (M) REmBRE (364,456) 884,174

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 228 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 July 2019 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Yi
RAR
Director
3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERS D X

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B E —Z—AhE=A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

FNAREARG
Shares held
under share Share-
Capitl Contingent Share award based Non-
Share Share  redemption Other conideration ~~options ~ scheme  payment  Exchange Specal  Contributed ~ Accumulated cntroling
apital - premium Teserve reserve Teserve resenve Teserve resenve reserve resenve surplus losses Total  interests Total
BERAZED

itHRRRE JRBARR
RE REE EAREEE  EbER JARESE  BRESE 2B 2HREE EXBR GNME AARR EiEE B8 FEERE 28
HK$000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000
78T biia 7ir i & A 7T A 7t AT 7T AL 7T 7EL 7T
(Noteg) (Note b)
(i) ()

At Aprl 207 HE-tEmA-8 3084 1877093 13878 - %44 873 - - 14147 8176 684966 (098958 1033840 265 1036465

Lossfor the year TEREE - - - - - - - - - -

(204509 294509) (518 (29969

Othercomprehensive expenseincome for e~ AEFARAE (T4 MM

et
Items that mey b reclssifed subequentyto  ARTEHAEEERZEE -

proftor loss:
Eichange dfferencesaisng on trenslafonof - AEENERBEL B EE

foreign operations - - - - - - - - (122 - - - (122 3 (1219
Releaseof exchange reseneof a ointventure —— SVESAGER BB -BRet s BRER

upon step-acquistion - - - - - - - - 89 - - - (89 - (89
Share of other comprehensie eqenseof ajoint ~ ElA—BALAE 7 AHATRE

erture - - - - - - - - (1) - - - (17 - (1)
Share of other comprefensive income of asociates  EEBE0E 2 EHAENA - - - - - - - - 1305 - - - 1305 - 1305

Othercomprehensve experseincome for e~ AEERAE(TH A BFERE)
year, net of ncome tax - - - - - - - - (178) - - - (178) 3 (175)

Total comprehensiv expense forthe eer AERRERLAE - - - - - - - - (178 - = (4509 (94687) (518) (99869

Isuance of shares forthe futher acquision of a0~ 58-S UE TR R D AEARG

assocate (ote 31(c) (H310) 593 7575 - - - - - - - - - - -
Isuance ofshaes forthe acquiston of a - EHRAARRE

Subsidary 418 9125 - - (95,492) - - - - - - - - - -
Step acquistion o a subsdary (Note 37) ARAKE-EHBLA ) - - - - - - - - - - - - - (149 (1.49%)
Capitel infcton from an invetor (ote ) -EREE TR - - - %2 - - - - - - - - k% - bW
Isuance o hates under share awardscheme. - RERIEERTERARAT10)

(Noe31) 128 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
oty et shre-based tnsaction (Note 36) BB MR BER 2 X576 - - - - - - - 04 - - - - n - n
Lapse of share options (Notg 35) BRERES) - - - - - (16] - - - - - 16 - - -
At31 March 2018 WoE-N\FZAzt-8 392050 2044106 13818 46,92 - 816 (1,268) 20421 13,969 78176 684966 (2393451) 888,26 (4052) 884,174
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- China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited HEE HRFHERERL T

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
REREZ2H R(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B Z —ZE—NE=-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

FIRAARE
Shares held
under share Share-
Captal Share award based Non-
Share Share  redemption Other options sheme  payment  Exchange Special  Contriouted  Accumulated controlling
apitdl premium e fesene reene  fesene  fesene resene  resene  supls losses ot interests Total
BERHZR
itHRESE HRRAEE
B&  BBEE EARERE  HeRR  BREER BB NEEE O EXRE  KREE  AABB ZHER a%  FoRER ]
HKSOO0  AKSO0  HKSGOD  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSOD  HKSODD  HKSOOD  AKSOMD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSQOO
AT 7T AT 7T A 7T 7AT 7T i3 7T 7AL 7T 7AT 7T
(Notea) (Note b)
) (5

At31 March 2018 HoE-N\EZfzt-R BB 204106 13818 46962 816 (1,268) 20421 13,969 8176 68496 (2393451 888226 (4052) 84,174

Adjustment (Note 3) B - - - - - - - - - - (26,748) (26,748) (102) (26850)

At 1 April 2018 (Restated) K-F-N\ERA-A(EES) 3051 2,044,106 13878 4962 816 (1,268) 20421 13,969 78176 084966 (2420199 861478 (8154) 85734

Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - = (1298305 (1298309 (7645 (1305950)

Other comprehersie expense) income forte year RERARRAGL A

Items that may be reclassfed subequenty o poftor - ZRAEHFBEESEE

lss:
Bichange difeences aisng on tanslaonof forein. - RENEREEL2ERER

operafions - - - - - - - ) - - - 1) It 03]
Share of other compreienshe expense of asodates  EEBEATZAHRARH - - - - - - - 3,168) - - - 3,168) - 3,168)
Other comprehensive expense) income forthe year, net =B 27 (2 A (78314

of income tax - - - - - - - (330 - - - (3340) 1 (3193)

Total comprehensive expensefor the e KERRMSHAE - - - - - - - B - = 028305 (68 (A% (1309143

Issuance of shres for the further acquision of an associate ~ #1E—SUE—ERADTETRAH910)

(Note 31(c)) 1583 242 - - - - - - - - - 3499 - 3499
Isuance of shares under shere award scheme (Note 31(6) BRI BB AR 1) 9009 - - - - [909) - - - - - - - -
Equiysetled share-based ransaction (Note 36) MEREENR F%&ZR%W' ) - - - - - - 52368 - - - - 52368 - 52368
Alotment of awarded shares to tustee (Nole 36) ARFEARELE - 6058 10281 (159 - - - - - - -
Shre award forffted (Motes 3) RUEBRAWei3s) - - - - - - (250) - - - el - - -
Lapse of share ptions (Note 35) ) - - - - B - - - - - 18216 - - -
A3 Marh 209 H=R-AEZAZ1-8 B QS GG W S - ) BTG G GROBY R (18 )
Notes: rza
(@) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the  (a) ALE 7 FHIFEEA DA AN E B EEE A ARE

nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in exchange for MR B2 RANERE M T 2 RAERE 2 58 °
the nominal amount of share capital of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of
the group reorganisation.

(b)  The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the ~ (b)  ZAR&EE 74 EBZEE
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date on which they RRES AR EE
were acquired by the Company, and the nominal value of the Company’s ZER ,00078 7T &
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation; P ’7 10,247,000
the cancellation of an amount of approximately HK$48,000,000 from the BT B HH 2 2%
share premium account of the Company and the credit of an amount of TS
approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company’s share capital cancelled in
2002 and the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the placing
of warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed RIEERE— ﬂ)\—i’\&/a&'(%&{ 5])  AAEZEAR

surplus account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the ?%EET#“/}K A LR THIER - RIARETNAE

Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of IRSORTIR S - KA ARBRIEL DK

contributed surplus if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its (i) RABEEIBR N B AN EIEEE 3t
liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less (ii) ARBEEZAISREBE/ELm/NAEABTEE
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and MEBITRAMBRD RER #58 -
share premium account.

(@  The other reserve of the Group represents the capital injection from an () Z&EE 2 AftiaiEE 2R EERHE B AAET
investor in relation to the disposal of certain equity interest in a subsidiary RS 7S e (7 88 5 S £ B o8 o o B J8 A )2 e b -
not resulting in the Group losing control over that subsidiary, in which the BREALERRE BBE AT FIEEE -
disposal had not yet been completed at the reporting date.

(d)  In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company had no reserves ~ (d) ~ ARFBEERE  ARRR _F-NF=A=1+-HAK_
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March T-N\F=ZA=+—HAWEAHED K TR 2 FEE -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EZ =%

HERETREXR

—“NEF=ZA=1T—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Loss before tax FRE AT 18 (1,308,452) (301,515)
Adjustments for: BTHIEE F%E
Interest income FLEWA (32,988) (30,492)
Finance cost BhE R A 25,468 15,679
Impairment losses recognised in respect of interests in  FLE A BIHELR FER 2 B
associate gl 331,352 —
Impairment losses recognised in respect of trade MIEWE 5 ERIAMER 2 ME
receivables 1B 792 —
Impairment losses recognised in respect of other BEPEUCE At BRTARE R 2 R B
receivables 58 2,126 231
Impairment loss recognised in respect of amounts due  BtEUEE & A R FRIBIER 2
from assoicates RIEEE 610,077 —
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of B EIREWE 5 RRIBHER 2
trade receivables REEE (64) (642)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of Bl 5t PR M BRTB RER 2
other receivables RIEEE (30) (6,000)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill PEEERZ RERE 87,196 56,901
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BEREETE 3,029 3,758
Written off of property, plant and equipment M - BE R 63 -
Written-down of inventories TFEMR 21,426 -
Amortisation of land use rights M PR £ 463 463
Amortisation of intangible asset MR R 8 8
Net unrealised losses on financial assets at fair value BATEFAEBRCEMEE L
through profit or loss R R 1,377 1,077
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial asset HEAREESHEE BB — 1,300
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE - HEREE s (M)
equipment &8 (149) 45
Share of (profit) loss of associates R E A RZ Cafl)ER (474) 13,332
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—HagEE R — 9,652
Share-based payments VAR RELHE 2 450 52,368 20,421
Operating cash flows before movements EEELEHAZ
in working capital KEBSRE (206,412) (215,782)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA(EM) 64,010 (76,777)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables FEUE 5 K H A BRIER A (38 1) 27,062 (24,555)
Increase in trade and other payables FERTE 5 R H M RRIEIE N 72,703 139,988
Decrease in contract liabilities B ERD (939) —
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZEHFARSTFE (43,576) (177,126)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

GERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE=ZZ—NF=A=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 HAILE 24 555
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and BEWE BELEEZ
equipment S (3,619) (1,206)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - BFE REHE 2 FSHIE
equipment 2,032 —
Acquisition of additional investment in an associate EEN—HBE AR ZEE — (3,890)
Advance to associates Bl NCIE-E (20,895) (46,550)
Net cash inflow from step acquisition of a subsidary EHWE—NB AR 2R RAFHE — 3,393
Capital injection from an investor —E2REETE — 46,962
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFBAREFHE (22,458) (736)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Interest paid EASALE (2,034) (3,729)
New bank and other borrowings raised FGIRIT M EMEE 20,528 118,926
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERRITRAMEE (9,144) (235)
Advance from directors EEIN 26,903 18,175
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES AMEEEMEBESEHE 36,253 133,137
NET DECREASE IN BANK BALANCES AND CASH RITEBRRRERD FHE (29,781) (44,725)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT BEGINNING OF FHZRITERRRS
THE YEAR 33,271 83,424
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREE) R 3,827 (5,428)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT END OF FRZBITHEBRES
THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash LARTTHEMRRIRE R T 7,317 33,271
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Suites 3103-04, 31/F., Oxford
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with Company
collectively referred to as “Group”) are set out in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activities of the
Group are mobile and multi-media technologies business, tourism
and hospitality business, gamma ray irradiation services and

securities trading and investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Going concern basis

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
reported loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$1,298,305,000 and had net cash used in
operating activities of approximately HK$43,576,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019. As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$541,673,000 and the Group had net liabilities of approximately
HK$364,456,000, in which total borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$238,790,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$7,317,000 only.

The Group’s net liabilities as at 31 March 2019 are mainly
attributable to (i) impairment of interests in associates; and (ii)
impairment of amounts due from associates during the year ended
31 March 2019.

—REHR
FREHRMEERERAR(TARGEDTIRER
EAMAI o EREERAT - HRHERBE
ARGMBRAR (TR ER LT o ARF]
ZEEM P E B AIA Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda * imE&BEE
EEMIMI RN BBRERRBEITIR AL RE
KE31483103-04% -

AABZEBEBHRERRBEMB QR GER
ARG ANEE ) Z T BEBHINNEGE Y
MR MTEA4 - REE 2 TREB BT HREIZ
% IR MOERIRTS - NI ST AR AR AT AR A% A B RE
HEBERE -

AUBHREARNR B ZNEEEET(TET])
5l

o 38

o

mBERE

PNAR G B SRR - ANEE 2 WMAR A
B ATE(REE491,298,305,000B T REZE =
T-NFZA=+—BULEFELKETHHHA
FIH & #43,576,00087L c R T —AF=
A=+—H FXEENRBHEERARBEE
FREA)541,673,0008 0 EASEEBEEER
JEEBX)364,456,0008 0 0 EFRERBENE
238,790,000 T« MAR S MRS EEBWEN A
7,317,000/ 7T °

AEBER-_Z-NFZA=T—HANEEFET
SRR () OB A R RERURE ¢ R (i) &
ECT-NAFZAZT-REFERNEEHER
BIEVRIEURE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

REMB®RRME(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE=ZZ—NF=A=+—HLFE

80

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

On 15 March 2019, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands granted
a winding up order (the “Order”) against Yota, an associate of the
Company. The winding-up petition was filed by Hi-P Electronics Pte.
Ltd., a manufacturing partner of Yota in respect of the older version
of Yotaphone with respect to a principal sum of USD1,000,000 said
to be due by Yota to the petitioner. After the acquisition of Yota,
the Company has allocated resources including funding to Yota for
the development of the mobile technologies business. As at the
date of the Order, the Company owned 40% equity interest of Yota
and was also a creditor of Yota Group (the gross amount due from
Yota and its subsidiaries to the Group as at 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$633,551,000). The Company has been in touch
with the appointed liquidator of Yota to explore the possibility of
conducting an audit for Yota. However the process is slow and
there are uncertainties relating to such. As at 31 March 2019, the
total net liabilities of Yota and its subsidiaries were approximately
HK$760,282,000, which exceeds the amount of shareholder loans
of approximately HK$633,551,000 provided by the Company.
Taking into account of the above facts, the Company is of the view
that a full impairment on interests in associates and amounts due
from associates of the Company should be made to reflect the
current conditions of Yota.

In the past three years, the Group allocated resources to Yota
including funding to support the research and development of the
electronic paper display (“EPD") screens and the integration and
applications of the dual-screen functions. Both the engineering
team from Yota and the subsidiaries of the Company in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC") have worked together to develop the
third generation of the dual-screen mobile device Yota 3.

After the launch of Yota 3, the Company has also accumulated
technologies, expertise, network and hardware and software
resources in the construction of multi-media sharing and advertising
platform and the dissemination and transmission of information
via such platforms. Previously, the Company mainly focuses on
the development of hardware in the mobile technologies business
which requires a huge amount of working capital. The Company
is shifting its strategy to be more software oriented such as the
construction of multi-media sharing and advertising platform
and trying to become an asset-light company with less potential
fluctuation in cash flow.
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Hi-P Electronics Pte. Ltd. (Yota BRI E X Yota F
BHRESIERH ) MBB Yota B REFAZR
©#81,000,000E TIRBELZ25E o W Yota
% ARBIEMAYotan MER(BIEFEREES)
NEERFERMEL Ra<BLAH - K
AR Yota 2 40% i - Jik YotakE 2 &
BEABZEZEZZ-NF=A=+—HYota KA
BARERARNERZ A0 /633,551,000
JC) o NN R —HEEZREM Yota /BB AR
RERYotaRFAFEZOWAIRLN - A - ZiBIE
#E2 BFEMHABETEEE R=_T—NF=H
=+—H Yota REWBRARMNRBREEFENR
760,282,000/ 7T BB R EHRALH IR B
©FEX633,551,0008 7T - EEE LlEE - AR
AIRA - REE AR 8 S RERA AR E R
A2 & RAEIEL BB E AR BR Yota B E BTN ©

RBE=FR - AEHEM Yota DEEIR - BIFR
HES U EFRBR(EPD]) FROWTE LR
WeEH A BN - K8 Yota AR FIA
ARKMBE(THEDOMBATN TRERKRD K
RAERBEE=REFEPRME Yota 3 -

MHEH Yota 318 - ARABNMEERSZHBHRER
EEVTEUREBEHYeRMAERERTE
BMREERN  BXEMD  SRREEMHER -
BIE - AAREZ TN FHEM T 2 B 15
¥ P ERRBEEER - ARAEHHEEKIER
FHFTEEN  PINRRZEBREZREST
B TEEERRRSREENIR I NEEE

S

ell

o



ANNUAL REPORT &% 2018/19 [ NENEGN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

Given the current situation, the management has taken the
following actions to improve the financial position of the Group.
The management has been in discussions with the major creditors
to extend the loans and potentially part of them will be repaid
by equity. The Group will make further announcements once
agreement has been reached.

On 24 June 2019, a placing noteholder has taken legal action at the
court and claimed for the repayment of principal and outstanding
note interests of the placing notes from the Company. The
Company is going to negotiate with the noteholder and ask for the
extension of the repayment date of the entire or partial amount of
the placing notes which are demanded by the noteholders to repay
the principal and note interests immediately.

As at 31 March 2019, the total loan from the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) to the Company was approximately
HK$45,078,000. Taking into account the current situation of the
Group, most of the Directors have confirmed in writing that they
will not require the Company to repay the loan until such time
when repayment will not affect the ability of the Group to repay
other creditors in the normal course of business. In addition, the
substantial shareholder has executed a letter of support and will
continue to provide financial support to the Company to meet
its financial obligations including payment of interests on bank
borrowings, professional fees and other operating expenses, and
will not demand for repayment of the loan to the Group.

In addition, the management of the Company has been actively
looking for potential investors. Through fund-raising exercises, the
Group would be able to meet its financial obligations and obtain
additional financing resources in pursuing other business and
fulfilling the operational needs.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period
up to 31 March 2020 on the basis that the Group’s aforementioned
plans and measures will be successful, and are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve months
from 31 March 2019. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

However, there are significant uncertainties as to the outcomes of
the above events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business. Should the use of the
going concern basis in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements be inappropriate, adjustments would have to be made
to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised at the
amounts other than which they are currently recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position at as 31 March 2019.
In addition, the Group may have to recognise further liabilities that
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)- Interpretation
("Int") 22

Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to Hong Kong As part of
Accounting Standard

("HKAS") 28

the Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs

2014-2016 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment

Property
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and

amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material

impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the

current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

3.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS
11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply
the standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 April 2018. According, certain comperative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue
and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations

The Group recognises revenue from the following major

sources which arise from contracts with customers:

3 Sales of mobile phones and related products
o Provision of online travel product booking service
o Gamma ray irradiation service

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
15 are disclosed in Notes 4 to 8 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. ERAHIIERMBHREENREET
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (TEBMBHREED ) (E)
("HKFRSS") (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFERHERZHITET AT EHRELER
effective for the current year (continued) REMET(E)
3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 31 BRUBHREEAZTISHEFSHKRA (E)
(continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS G FEF & B B SR 2R 155 BT £
75 TERE
The adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have any impact on JERE AN BHMELRFEI1S5HRENR T —
accumulated losses at 1 April 2018. FHUA—HZ Rt BRI EEAFE -
The following adjustments were made to the amounts RZZE—N\FMNA—RAZEAMBRRAERA
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position Z%ﬁ(%ﬁfzﬂﬂﬁﬂT TREBZE 2 17IH
at 1 April 2018. Line items that were not affected by the B ATES -
changes have not been included.
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 15
31 March 2018 Reclassification  at 1 April 2018*
RIEBEE BT
SRl HELERIE 155
R=-Z—N\F R=Z—N\&F
=ZA=+-8 mA—A
2R ZIREE B0 E Z ARMEE *
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FéEr FET
Current Liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables BN E S MEAMERE 278,133 (4,267) 273,866
Contract liabilities ERBE — 4,267 4,267
* The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from * ARz BB AEABR BB HREERE 5%

the application of HKFRS 9.

As at 1 April 2018, advances from customers of approximately
HK$4,267,000 in respect of sales of mobile phones and
related products previously included in trade and other
payables were reclassified to contract liabilities.

YR SRR A 2 B8R -

R-ZE—NFMNA—A - BEFHLARE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS
15 (continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019 and its consolidated statement
of cash flows for the current year for each of the line items
affected. Line items that were not affected by the changes
have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

3.

R EBMBREERR B
(TEBMB|EER D) (B)

RAFEBFER T BEUFREER

REMBFT (&)
31 EEUBREERFEISHEFEARA ()

PR e B E T 3 R 1 55 T E A 2
FEE(E)
TERUXFEZZTRAMEEREENG
BELUF1SSHHEAEEAR T NF=A
=T BREREMIBIRR R EAFELRS
RemBroweE - TREPTEBZTEE
ATFED -

HG e BERARZ ZE

Amounts without
application of

As reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
RIEREE
B RS A
L2 AE T ed
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Current Liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables ENE 5 KEMERTE 387,047 469 387,516
Contract liabilities ARBE 469 (469) —

Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows

HsaHeRnBRTE

Amounts without
application of

As reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
KRIEREE
MR E 2R
23R R ENELd ¢
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FEIT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Increase in trade and other payables S 5 K L BR1E
il 72,703 (939) 71,764
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERd (939) 939 —
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for
1) the classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for
financial assets and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 April 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 April
2018 are recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
other components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement
of financial assets and other items subject to ECL under
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1
April 2018.

3.

Financial assets

R EBMBREERR B
(TEBMB|EER D) (B)

RAFEBFER T BEUFREER

REMBFT (&)

32 BBUBHEERFEIREZHMIA(E)
PG BB R TS R FE IR EL 2
TEE
TREINRDBEABH( - N\FMA
—B)EABMBHREENBIRRBEGIE
AIE39RIA TR A ERBERR 2 2/E
ENEMAR ZDENAE

at amortised cost
(previously
classified as
loans and Deferred tax Accumulated  Non- controlling
receivables) assets loss interests
REHBA
(UEBRERR
EWES) R FER
SREE BERBEE Yy 11 i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT FET FET
Closing balance at RZZ—/\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018 ZEREER
— HKAS 39 — BB G TERIF395 655,236 — (2,393,451) (4,052)
Effect arising from initial MisERE AU BKREER
application of HKFRS 9: FOREF TR
Remeasurement ENEE
Impairment under ECL model ~ TBH}E EEEBIER T ZH(E (26,872) 22 (26,748) (102)
Opening balance at R-EB-NEMB—H
1 April 2018 2N 628,364 22 (2,420,199) (4,154)

Impairment under ECL mode/

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the historical
observed default rates adjusted by forward looking estimates.

FRHEEEERE T2 HE
REBEEATEMBREEANEIRELT
FRTEEHEREER  strARKESRA
RE2REHEERR - SFFERBEES
18 BAENARNEERRSEIIZATIE
HEFHETRBZ BEBRINEO R LR
WE SERADH
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Impairment under ECL model (continued)
Loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost other
than trade receivable mainly comprise of other receivables
and deposit paid, amounts due from associates and bank
balances, are measured on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
basis as there had been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Certain other receivables which
are measured on lifetime ECL basis as those credit risk had
increased significantly since initial recognition. For bank
balances, the Group transacts with reputable banks with
high credit rating assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and consider the risk of default is low and 12m ECL
is insignificant.

As at 1 April 2018, additional credit loss allowance of
approximately HK$26,872,000 and increase in deferred tax
assets of approximately HK$22,000 have been recognised
against accumulated losses and non-controlling interests. The
additional loss allowance is charged against the respective
asset.

All loss allowances, including trade receivables, other
receivables and deposit paid and amounts due from
associates, as at 31 March 2018 reconciled to the opening
loss allowances as at 1 April 2018 are as follows:

3.

R EBMBREERR B
(TEBMB|EER D) (B)

RAFERHEMZH T B R B REER
REMBFT (&)
32 BBUBHREERFEIRZHMIAE)

FEHIEEERRA T2 5E ()
REHRAMIFREKRE HREEZ S/
BEBRBBIZEREMEREERALEN
Be  EUHEQRFIARRTEY - AR
WEERR B VRERALEARER - T)
ZEr_EABRMEEBR(+_EAERE
EEEDELEE - BT HMERERIEAT
REHEREERENEEFS - THRRK
LEEREBTRHERERIEER - FHRTT
EHME  ARERZHRABERERFR
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RENRREE+ —EARBEEBRIL N
EP NG

RZZT—N\FWHA—H - 426,872,000/ T
ZEIMEEEERERLERIBEER NG
22,0008 LB B3t 25T EE R IFERERETT
R o FINSEBE RS IEEENR °

REZE-NF=ZA=+—H MBEEBE#
- BREEKESERE  EtEKERERD
e A R FEWE S AR R - R =R
—N\FOA—BZ AOERRENERNT -

Other
Trade receivables and Amounts due
receivables deposit paid  from associates
FEUk Hiti e iR S e Wik
B 5 RE kEfRRE REFHRIE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 —HKAS 39 R=-ZE—N\E=H=+—H

—E B ERIE395 34,714 28,231 —

Amounts remeasured through — FBEIF) 25T EIEEFAEZ
opening accumulated losses FIE 78 3,320 23,474
At 1 April 2018 WZZE-NFMA—H 34,792 31,551 23,474
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. EAMIEBUBREENRAETT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ((EBMBHREED ) (E)
("HKFRSS") (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFERHERZH T TR EHRELER
effective for the current year (continued) REMET (&)
3.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial 3.3 [ERFEFEAEHNGEIBNRERZE
position arising from the application of all new &
standards
As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies HARASE LS EE 228 - HYERE
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial MR KRATAES - TRINRIRSZE
position had to be restated. The following table shows the BUITHBER AR - TREHTE 1T
adjustments recognised for each of the line items affected. AN THES -
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not
been included.
31 March 1 April
2018 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018
—E-N\§ BERUERE BERUBRE —E-N\F
=A=+-H HERISE158 LRI mMA—A
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Audited) (Restated)
(&52) (KE50)
Non-Current Assets kRBEE
Deferred tax assets BERHIEEE — — 22 22
Current Assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables ~ JEUE 5 K H A 8RIE 58,334 — (3,398) 54,936
Amounts due from associates  FEUE &2 7] IE 579,614 — (23,474) 556,140
Current Liabilities REaE
Trade and other payables ERE S REMEKE 278,133 (4,267) — 273,866
Contract liabilities aHBE — 4,267 - 4,267
Capital and Reserves EXRfFEE
Reserves e 535,975 (26,748) 509,227
Non-controlling interests PR (4,052) — (102) (4,154)
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interest In Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for
all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents upfront land use rights as investing
cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to
classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of approximately HK$7,774,000 as disclosed
in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$1,644,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to
use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of
such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as additional
lease payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether
the contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed prior
to the date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends
to elect the modified retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of
initial application to opening accumulated losses without restating
comparative information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’ s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not

larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash- generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash- generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS 39,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate
or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in Note 3)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control"

is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with

an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in Note 3) (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Sale with a right of return/exchange
For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for dissimilar
products, the Group recognises all of the following:

(@  revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the products
expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b)  arefund liability/contract liability; and

(c)  anasset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of revenue)
for its right to recover products from customers.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in Note 3) (continued)

Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

(i) Revenue from gamma ray irradiation services are recognised
when the services are rendered.

(i) Cruise ship leasing and management fee income

Cruise ship leasing income is recognised on an accrual basis
in accordance with the terms of the leasing agreement.

Cruise ship management fee income is recognised when the

management service is rendered.

(i) Revenue from the sale of passenger tickets is recognised
when the tickets are issued.

(iv)  Revenues from onboard services and other related services,
including food and beverage and entertainment are
recognised when the services are provided.

4.

EFERERHBERGE)
EEENBAREBMEMNBERIXERE
BRI REERF15HKE) ()

FAARAEA ()

WAREZBEOEB AR - REETNE
MR AIAREEARIEA - EWRIBERT - &
KM REERTEL 28 - REETES 5
—IRHENEEERIRYE c EARERRIEA
B R AMERRYES - T RENEER IR
BIRA RIS Z AR EN MBS 2 BRI

e
figl

WABE(R=F—N\FHMA—HZA)
WA R ERREZ A FERE - AR
AEtEPRE - MR EAMACIT R E LR -

BWARREEF A E - ERREENRER
ERAAREE  MAKEEXBETE TR E R
iy - ARESERWA -

() D0IBETARIR AT AR Z M A TR SR AR 7% B 1

(i) BREEREERBKA -

A EW A ERBBE S 2 g EtE
HEHERR ©

BREEBRANRHEERGE R -

(i)  FEMZHEBANE MR- -

(iv) Ao bR R E AR RTS (BRERRIREE)
YA TOER (AR TS B iR



e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4., FEESHHEE)

anNUAL ReporT £ 201819 [
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018) (continued)

(v Income from provision of ancillary travel related services,
sale of air tickets, hotel accommodation and hotel packages
is recognised when the services are rendered by the Group
as an agent on a net basis. Where the Group acts as a
principal in certain transactions, including sales of tickets
and merchandise, revenue is recognised upon transfer of the
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the customers.
This is usually taken at the time when the tickets and
merchandise are delivered and the customers have accepted
the tickets and merchandise.

(vi)  Sales of mobile phones and related products are recognised
when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the rights to
receive payment have been established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as leasee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to
the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire property is accounted as an operating
lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the leasehold land
and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “land use rights” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis. When the payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the
entire property is generally classified as if the leasehold land is under

finance lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

4.

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EZ =%

—“NEF=ZA=1T—HLEE

ETESHBERGE)

S (48)

RENGAMBREE AREXB2EERE
BENASREMRZBITETRESAEE 2
IR (BET) - WARBERBEBRBARNZ ¥
PE R o MEAEFE RN ER AR IR E) - RIEAR
ZRAMZBITER - IEEZEEZE(IME)RN
Hi2EWATER - s N R E R (EE
RN T RER I i) T R4t -

HEBIEB (AL ERRERBINERS 2 2 8P
& WP RRERBBINER 2 M B R B Z =6
Bz HEEE MO HENB2BINEB (R
HEGKASREE) ZBERR 2 #Em)E  ©
RERFERZIEB CEAEZRRFASES
BEHHHEEEE

WREBINEBELEZERBASNEETER

NP ERABERIEZBIEBNEEREE I

Tﬁxiﬁiﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgi%ﬁﬁﬁ cEHEZIERERE
Hib 2EEARER ©

BERA
fEER AR ES 2 BRI IR R ER -

BUSHBI &

BUF T B & R B & EIRE AR BB (e BUT 7
B P BN 7 6 S MR A BY 2 AT T RERR - JE
WIEREE EE 2 FX SERH A A LB
5 B 765 24 B T 4 R R AR B A AR 2 BURT 4 Bh 2 1A 8
U HARRI IR AR

107



I china Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited S EIE h R IZRARA F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

REMB®RRME(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE=ZZ—NF=A=+—HLFE

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any
changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other
than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains
the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values
of the goods or services received are recognised as expenses (unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Share award

The Group also grants shares of the Company to employees under
its share award scheme, under which the awarded shares are either
newly issued or are purchased from the open market. The net
consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs, is presented as “Shares held under share award scheme
reserve” and deducted from equity.

For the shares granted under the share award scheme, the fair
value of shares granted to employees is recognised as share-based
payment expenses with a corresponding increase in share-based
payment reserve within equity. The fair value is based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares on grant date plus any directly
attributable incremental costs. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the
shares, the total fair value of the shares is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss
for the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
shares that vest with corresponding adjustment to the share-based

payment reserve
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

Share award (continued)

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related acquisition cost of the awarded shares vested
are credited to the “Shares held under share award scheme
reserve”, and the grant date fair value of the awarded shares vested
are debited to the share-based payment reserve. The difference
between the related weighted average acquisition cost and the
grant date fair value of the awarded shares vested is transferred to
accumulated losses directly.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings, leasehold land
(classified as finance leases) and freehold land held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the assets are derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwiill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in Note 3)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the "other gains and losses"
line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with Note 3)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables and other receivables, amounts due from associates and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
3 significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment

grade” as per globally understood definitions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)

@

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that
the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)

(iir)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is
guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with Note 3) (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

3 Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables);

J Past-due status;
3 Nature, size and industry of debtors; or
3 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FESTBER(E)
Financial instruments (continued) SRWMITAE(E)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

(1) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading, (ii) it is designated as at FTVPL or (iii)
contingent consideration that may be received by an acquirer
as part of a business combination.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading (or contingent consideration that may be received
by an acquirer as part of a business combination) may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

@

(i)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
Note 7(c).

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or
(c) financial assets at FVTPL. The Group designated unlisted
equity investment as AFS financial assets on initial recognition
of those items.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted
equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS debt
instruments relating to interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve

is reclassified to profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

(iii)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates and bank balances and cash)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective

evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could

include:
o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018) (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the credit period of 30 to 90 days, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade and other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018) (continued)

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or
loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect
of AFS debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Equity instruments (continued)

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company's own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and bank and
other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder in accordance
with the terms and conditions. Financial guarantee contracts
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9 (since 1 April 2018)/HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee

period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the management has made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the financial position of the Group indicates the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The assessment
of the going concern assumptions involves making judgement by
the management, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
management considers that the Group has ability to continue as a
going concern and the major conditions that may cast significant
doubt about the going concern assumptions are set out in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

5.

RESTTABRET TREE ZEER
gy

FRE RN EEART A R B2 @RS - EHAR
AR RO 2 B R B EARE A (E
HIHIBT - R R - ARG R R E
RBEGHRRH R AREZ BEEL - BR
ERAG BRI RS -

AEBERFERANZSMHTRIEERS - 2514
BRI IE R EEREET 2 HiR - BIR 2 EA R

R BBEETREE R RARRARE - AIRMEET
HAR R R SR BT R o

P& A& st BUR B O BA 52 4
UTAEREC N ERASEEHERABRET
EHAHGAMBHRRTERNSBEERNREX
FEWBRAE OF REFH(RTOERIN) -

MANER S MR MR M2 - REEMP IR
MEPFEF S B A RESELLNE NI
HEREE RSB RTHE L - AR ELERR
FREEERFENKRHMERAENS BN
HEE M F RS IR RO R RS RAE L 2B - BIRE
R AEBARNFEKLE - BREEHBEL
ERRELBREERNEZGREEIINGEUH
FRERMIFE2 -

fhEt TREM 2 EERIR

AT AR REHRE R @RERRMGT
EEMZHMTERR  ZEBRRATEFEER
HTEMFZEERBEZEREFIENAR
ZEXNER -



ANNUAL REPORT ## 2018/19

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of interests in
associates

Determining whether the interests in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the future cash flows expected to arise and
expected dividend yield from the associates and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may

arise.

The carrying amount of interests in associates as at 31 March 2019
was approximately HK$Nil (2018: HK$334,003,000). Impairment
loss on interests in associates was recognised approximately
HK$331,352,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
HKS$Ni).

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
amounts due from associates

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivable under simplified approach. The provision rates are
based on aging analysis as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix are based on internal
credit ratings and the Group's historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The Group calculate the ECL for the other receivables by grouping
the counterparties with similar nature under general approach.
The provision rate are based on internal credit ratings and taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group use individual assessment to calculate ECL for the
amounts due from associates under general approach. The provision
rate are based on internal credit ratings which is determined by
financial metrics and taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
amount due from associates (continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and amount due from associates are disclosed in Notes
7(b), 21 and 24 respectively.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the historical experience
of selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting date. As
at 31 March 2019, inventories of approximately HK$11,638,000
are stated at net realisable value. No inventories are stated at net
realisable as at 31 March 2018.

RARETAER AT TREM 2 ERR
iR ()

FEU B 5 % B AR 1E I FE W & 0 5] 2 FRIE
ZHEBEEFERE(E)

TR EEEENREEATNELEREZR B
BAEBEEEEURANEBEWE S R HA4IRE
KPR & N R SRIB R E B BB M EE7(b) ~ 21
K24 -

FEZABEFEE
GEZASEFENNBEESBREPELZGE
FHEERMET T IR A REL HEN N EMEK
Koo ZEMFHRBIREET R L L EREERDN
BELRMIEL - HEHREFPBRABREFHF
MITEEEMBEERE L - ERENSHER
HEFFEEZSES R NAF=ZA=1+—
H - #11,638,000 LM 7 & Jyik a] #3,FE5
F-R-Z—N\E=ZA=+—0 #HEFEET
BIRFEFIER -




ANNUAL REPORT ## 2018/19

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value-in-
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2019, the carrying
amount of goodwill is HK$185,285,000 (2018: HK$271,675,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$167,689,000 (2018:
HK$80,493,000)). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 22.

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 March 2019, a deferred tax asset of approximately
HK$2,489,000 (2018: HK$Nil) in relation to the unused tax
losses of approximately HK$15,085,000 (2018: HK$Nil) has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of approximately HK$551,961,000 (2018: approximately
HK$504,639,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are less or more than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable
profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition
takes place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeqguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this
purpose the Group defines net debt as total debt (which include
trade and other payables and bank and other borrowings) less bank
balances and cash. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity. The Group's policy is to keep that ratio at a reasonable level.

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios as at 31 March 2019 and
2018 are as follows:
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2019 2018

—E-hEF —T-)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Trade and other payables BB 5 REMERIE 387,047 278,133
Contract liabilities aHatE 469 —
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMIEE 238,790 227,720
Total debt E54a%58 626,306 505,853
Less: bank balances and cash OB IRITRB RIS 7,317 33,271
Net debt BF5E 618,989 472,582
Adjusted capital — Total (deficit) equity LA ER — (EH) 85 (364,456) 884,174
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B R AREE R X (170%) 53%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to either
internally or externally imposed capital requirements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. &®WMTIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) =@mITEER
2019 2018
—E-RF —E-\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
FVTPL BN ERT AER
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL RHIRNFE AR E
— Held-for-trading —BEEE 778 2,155
Loan and receivables (including bank balances &k & EURERIE (B IEIRTT4E 64
and cash): RE®):
— Trade and other receivables — W E 5 R EMARIE 25,746 42,351
— Amounts due from associates — JENEE N R IE — 579,614
— Bank balances and cash — RITEBR LIRS 7,317 33,271
33,063 655,236
33,841 657,391
Financial liabilities -l =R
At amortised cost: TRBESERIA -
— Trade and other payables — ERESREMRIE 387,047 273,866
— Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE 238,790 227,720
625,837 501,586
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEEREEBERBEE
The Group’s major financial instruments include financial AEBEZEEem T EBRRBREAFENARE
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, amounts due HZEMEARE  EWE S REMEEE - B
from associates, bank balances and cash, trade and other Bt NTIEIE - IRITES RIS  ENES
payables and bank and other borrowings. Details of the REMBRENRRITREMEE - 2S5/
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The TEAZHERSHFEE - BZzSepT A
risks associated with these financial instruments include HEZEReETmERR(EEER - FIX
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price BB NEMEREAR) EERRELRSE
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to SR - AENAEIEKZERR 2 BURE0
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management TX - BEEBEERETF@ARE - R
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate AL A WU EREUE & T

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) SMIAE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIH¥EMEEEERIEEE)
(continued)
Market risk TG
() Currency risk 0  EEELkE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC
with most of the transactions denominated and settled
in HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB").

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group'’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the end of reporting period, that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities, are as follows:

FEBTENFERTEEE  AFHRH
ETTRARE (T AR DFHEREH -

ANEE B A mINE LRI o AT - BIR
BeEsmmEH zINEER - TEREFE
iR BRI EARINEER -

AEREPASNE ( RVARRA R B B AT BE T LA
Sz BEFEZEBEEREBAERE
SHRZEEENT

Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hEF —F-N\F —E-NEF —E-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
United States Dollar ESM(ET )]
("UsD") 153,406 123,334 — 606,964
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(b)

0

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency
risk of USD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
USD. A 5% (2018: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translations at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2018: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post tax loss where HK$
strengthens 5% (2018: 5%) against USD. For a 5%
(2018: 5%) weakening of HK$ against USD there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-
tax loss and the balances below would be negative.

SRMIAE)
(b) HERMEEAERBEE)
FEERE (1)
() EEmER (E)
HREHHT

ARER[E = B ST 2 SN o

TRAMAEEUBTAETLHBEREE
5% (—Z—)\4F : 5%) 2 BUHRE 5% (—
T—)\F  5%) BRNPAFTEEREABER
SNEEIRES R A 2 SURE LR - RAIEIRE
YITE AR IR 2 A IR E) 2 5T o JRUE
DITERIEAGEE 2 MNESHESKIER -
WRRERAKRIES% (ZF—N\F 1 5%)2
SNEETE R E B FRIRE o TUEHEETHWE
TRETHES% (ZE—/\F : 5%) Bl
FEEERD - MATAETEES% (=
T—)\F : 5%) « AIFAEBKLIRESM
HBRZFE M 2&EHEREH -

2019 2018
—B-hEF —E)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Decrease (increase) in loss BB (3Ehn)
— USD Impact — X E 7,670 (24,182)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, margin account
payable, royalty fee payable and variable-rate other
borrowings, and exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowing, fixed-rate
other borrowings and fixed-rate placing notes.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

(i) FEmE
REBEE AT RIRITHELR - BAFRR
PR BNEANEEREMTSEE 2R
ERBMERR - WEHEBESRITE
5 ERHMERENREREEREZATE
AR

A B AT RR RS - AT - BT
BEERFEH NEAR  LEREEE
BE R EAFIRER -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(b)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for margin
account payable, royalty fee payable and variable
rate other borrowings at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease in variable rates of other borrowings is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the Directors consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50
basis points) higher/lower for margin account payable,
royalty fee payable and variable-rate other borrowings
and all other variables were held constant, the post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,478,000
(2018: HK$1,153,000).

ERMITAE(E)

(b)

BEEAREEEERBE(E)

mEmEE (/)

(i)

FEmER ()
KAEEFEYAEERAGEZMERERNA
MEERBESAREE & -

BURENT
VAN SRR 20 A TH BT ¥ o B R P I 6 FE A<
HREP IR - BN EREE R EMT S
EZMERBETE - WMEZOWHRHRER
HERRZARGEH SR TARB@EEEHR
BEHE - REREREIE A BERMN X ERE
EﬁﬁJSOﬂ%%ﬁi(_;—)\i : SOfEEE)
ZHMIEEFER R TTIRS IR - MU
EIREH ARG HIE 2 IR E ) 2 7S
MNESR AT BRITERMELZR SR
ENERBILTEKX - REREDTE HIR
BRARITHEER -

MENFRESPRIE - BRABMEERE
)2 BEEME LR THES0EES (=T
—N\F: 501!%?6) i F A E B B 4 15
T ABEZT-NF=A=1+—HALF
EZ%R&ESTE%%M//W} #491,478,0005%
7T(=Z—/\4F : 1,153,000/ 7T) °
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. In addition, the
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the
price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% higher/lower, post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$78,000 (2018:
HK$216,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 31 March 2019, other than those financial assets whose
carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk, the Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, amounts due from associates
and bank balances. The carrying amounts of financial assets
at amortised cost stated in Note 7(a) represented the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risk associated with its financial assets.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international creditrating agencies.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables from the largest customer amounting
to approximately HK$3,985,000 (2018: HK$6,113,000),
representing approximately 40.91% (2018:14.40%) of
the total gross trade receivables. At 31 March 2019, trade
receivables from the five largest customers amounting
to approximately HK$5,211,000 (2018: HK$6,978,000),
representing approximately 53.49% (2018:16.44%) of the
total gross trade receivables.

SRTAEE)
(b) HERREBEAEZRBEE)

HEERE ()

(i) AeERmE
REBBER EHRARES ZEEmE KA
BRER - b - REBERIR—XF5IE
HEREREAR - WHENETERZ B
FRETSE 2 g o

BURE DT

A TBURE DT I ER RS B B 2 Bk
AERERET - MEERATAZER
EFHTEI0%  BIEBE-Z—NF=A
=t+—RALEFEZREBBERD BN
78,000/ 7L ( —Z—/\4F : 216,000/87T) °
BRRREAFEFABR s eREE AT

EED -
ERAR R AT

RZF-NAF=ZA=1+—0  BZEREERE
REFIEASZSEAEERRZ ERMEES - AEE
ZIEERBREIEREREE S REMMREKIRE
JRE LB i 1 BRI S SR T ik  BRET(a) Pl 22
HRANSREERAERASRERR ST REE
BITEEMAZE S MARERIMBEERNE
HEREENTAGERR - ARBEYESEE
R RREMEERABNERSREER
BHEERR -

HRYF T RERREEFARER TREEN
Mz BT - WRITHEBZEERBRAR -

RZTE—NAE=ZA=+—8 A&£EHEEKRE
BEAEFHNENESEENEEETRAR AL
3,985,000/ L (=Z—/\F : 6,113,000 L) -
HEREWRE ZERBAENL40.91% (Z2—N
F:14.40%)  c RZZE—NF=A=+—H ' &
BERAARARFPHNERE 5RHEA%5,211,0005
T (=ZZ—/\4 : 6,978,000577) - IHHEREKEZ
SIRIEAFNH53.49% (ZF—/\F : 16.44%) °
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s concentration of credit risk
by geographical location is in the PRC as 63.90% (2018:
54.41%) of total gross trade receivables are arisen in the
PRC.

To manage risk arising from trade receivable, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made
to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and the
management performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers
and the credit quality of these customers is assessed, which
takes into account their financial position, past experience
and other factors. Credit limits granted to customers are
reviewed periodically. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances collectively
using provision matrix with appropriate groupings. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group'’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For all other instruments including other receivables and
amounts due from associates, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition. The Group have assessed and concluded
that the risk of default rate for the other instruments are
steady based on the Group assessment of the financial health
of the counterparties.

7.

SRITAE(E)
(b) HERREBEAEEZRBEE)
EERBRRAEFE ()

RZZ-NE=ZA=+—8  AEERIBE
UEESWEEEREBUNAFTE - RER
JEUE 5 IR IE4A%ER163.90% (— T — )\ 4 ¢
54.41%) J5{EREIS|#E ©

REEREEZRASEHER - AEED
EBE  WREERFKAREEREERL
BHNRZUTRES MEREREHRZY
FHRITEEFE - AEEHETEFPNEE
PRZEEPHERERETHE 83
BRENMBIN - BELBREBRE -
BETEPHMERRENENR - AREHE
B EL At BE AR AR P LA REOR 7 Ui [0 280 HA (7% SRR
RAETTE © UbHh - REERIBRMEEER
BB ZEHERBAFERE AR
BAREEITRERNE - St s - EFAR
AEENEERRD KERD -

FRATA HAh TR (245 H A R W AR TR T e UL
BE2RARRBOME  AREGFENERR
BE2{E AFAMERERAR - FRIFE VIS

RUREERBRE RGN - AIREES

REHEREEFER - EEFERIZY
TAREEEBERARHETI A B Y BRI
REQH AR AR KR EFTE ©
AEBDHERBLER  AR/REBAKHE
HZ 5B FHFBRRIENTE - A TA
RO ERERTBIZE °
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7. ERMIAE)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIKEMREEEEREEE)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal credit

EEmMBREEFE (F)
AEEOABEERRFREREATE
Al :

Other financial

rating Description Trade receivables assets
AEEEFR B E 5 RRE HitbemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
gty ZHEFHELRBEIE - B WA E 58 SHTEHEEEE 12@AEHREES
-TEEERE B
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle after Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
due date not credit-impaired
BmErE EHEALEREIER R 1 - EEEREBRREE 2HEMEEER 2@AEREES
-TEEERE B
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial ~ Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
recognition through information developed internally or not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
external resources
2= AEHINBER RIS ERBREERR B TIRERIARE 2HEHEEFE 2HEHEERE
E=2 Dl -TEREERE -IEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
&8 BRBETNEHREEC R A EERE 2HFEBEEEE 2HEREEER
-DIEERE -BEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written- Amount is written-
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery off off
g5 EEBETEBABAREMHRE  AASEWEERIR Mg St
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

142

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the

Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment.

SWMIAE)
(b) BHERMEEAERBEE)

EEmpR B ET S ()
TRAMAKNEEAETIRREEBERNEN
SREENEEREALE

External Internal Gross
credit credit 12-month or carrying
2019 Note rating rating lifetime ECL amount
HNBEE RBEE 12BANEZHES
—E-hEF F=E R TR FEBE BREAARE
HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERTTENESHEE
Bank balances 26 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 7,317
RITEERR TiEA 12{8 ATEEE B e A
Other receivables and 24 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 16,860
deposits paid
Hh W ARIE KB iR e A (Krat1)  12{E ATEEEERE 2,324 19,184
Lifetime ECL
ZHEEEEIEE
(credit-impaired)
(EERE)
Trade receivables 24 N/A (Note 2)  Lifetime ECL 9,742
(Provision matrix)
JENE 5 BRIE A (Hat2) zEREMEEERE
(Bf@ER)
Amounts due from associates 21 N/A (Note 3)  Lifetime ECL 633,551
(credit-impaired)
JEHE i N R FROR A (H7#3) 2HEEMEEEE
(EERME)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

(b)

Notes
1

2)

3)

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significanlty since initial recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the historical
observed default rates adjusted by forward looking estimates.

To measure the ECL, amounts due from associates have been
assessed individually. As stated in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, after taking into account of the Order,
the winding up petition and the net liabilities of Yota, the
Directors are of the view that a full impairment on amounts
due from associates of the Group should be made to reflect
the current conditions of Yota.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

31 March 2019

SRMIAE)

(b) HERMEEAERBEE)
EERBRAEFG (E)
Wt

1) RABEERBRERME - AKEERR
HEMFEERRR B NS ERARES
BEAIELT -

2) MEWEZRENS - AEEEEAEE
BB ¥R R B OSR AR MV E L JTR AR 2 1)
EHEEERBEREE - RITEES
FEBR BREZERACENAREE
[ A AR AR ME S R S R BB
B AOREHDAE -

3) REERPEEER BB EATRE
B AR o BanE & B 1 MR 2FT
it ZEleS  FEREFER Yota A E
FEBERA RRAKEBRERTZ
A RE M B BURE AR M Yota BV ERIK o

TXEI AR ERARERME 2R
WE SERENEERRAENER

—E-hFE=A=+—H

Trade receivables

EWE S iRE
Days past due
B RE

Current 1-90days >90days Total
BN A 1290k >90K st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr FEr FET FET
Total gross carrying amount IR 4E 1,604 4,948 3,190 9,742

Average loss rate FHEsE R 0.69% 1.74% 22.23%
Expected credit loss TEHEEEE 11 86 709 806
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. SEMIAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIH¥EMEEEEREEGE)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) BRI EFE (5)
The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance that has been recognised for trade receivables TRETERIBEEC AR EWRE 5RIBHE
under simplified approach: REEIEBHLR

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HFEHBEE 2HEHBGE
BE(IEEE BE(EE

WE) HE) Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 under RZZE-N\FE=A=+—H
HKAS 39 RIBEEEGHERIE35E — 34,714 34,714
Adjustment upon application of R &S B R E 4 BIZE95%E
HKFRS 9 TSR 48 30 78
At 1 April 2018 — Asrestated ~ RZZT—N\FMHA—H - &£F5 48 34,744 35,792
Changes due to financial AR —Z—\FMHA—H
instruments recognised as at ERNEMITAMEELS
1 April 2018:
— Transfer to credit-impaired — EEEEERE (4) 4 —
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — &= FERR(E &S 1B — 619 619
— Impairment losses reversed — BEERERE (44) (20) (64)
— Written-off — sy — (34,714) (34,714)
New financial assets originated or JEASFEEMH G REE
purchased 97 76 173
As at 31 March 2019 RZZE—NF=ZA=1+—H 97 709 806
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. €®MIEAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIH¥EMREEEEREEE)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) BRI EFE (5)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are EWE SRBEEREENESHEFERUTE
mainly due to: TEFTEL
2019
Increase
—E-hEF
&
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2HEMGEE 2HEMEE
BE(IEEE EBR(EE

HE) HE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Further impairment made for credit-impaired (S ERIERNEKE 5 8E18
trade receivables VEHIR#E— PRA - 619
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade T R U B FEUE S R IB B Al A
receivables — (34,713)
New financial assets originated or purchased FRENBENTCREE 97 76
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7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss

SWMIAE)

(b) HBEBEEEFEREEGE)

EEmpR B ET S ()
TRET A EEERARERNE RS

allowance that has been recognised for other receivables: HER -
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
REAFEHEE 2UEHEE
BiE(EEREE BE(EE
WE) WE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 under RZZE-N\F=A=+—H
HKAS 39 RIBEE B ERIE395 — 28,231 28,231
Adjustment upon application of REBIT SR E RN
HKFRS 9 B RR R 50 3,270 3,320
At 1 April 2018 — As restated RZE-N\FHA—R -KF7 50 31,501 31,551
Changes due to financial AR - N\FH A —B#RN
instruments recognised as at SR T AMfmEEss
1 April 2018:
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EESEERE (20) 20 —
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — B RERREEE — 2,076 2,076
— Impairment losses reversed — BRERESE (30) — (30)
— Written-off — s — (31,273) (31,273)
New financial assets originated or ~ JRA B M RIS E
purchased 50 — 50
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NAF=A=+—H 50 2,324 2,374
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. @I E(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EBI¥EAMREEEEZRBEE)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R RBEFE ()
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are HaEWRIEEEBEENESHTEAN TS
mainly due to: TEFER
2019
Increase
—E-hF
3 hn
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
REAEHEESFRE 2HBPEESE
(Y EEERE) (E8RE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

B 15 BB E &Y L 10 B AR BR TR AE H A
#E—ZRE — 2,076
3 4 2 R G O L e L AR RO B BE

Further impairment made for credit-
impaired other receivables
No realistic prospect of recovery of

other receivables — (31,273)
New financial assets originated or RESREBENTEMERE
purchased 50 —
The following tables shows the renconciliation of loss TRBRC B E A R SURRER A 1R
allowance that has been recognised for amounts due from EHOEIR
associates:
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HEREEER
(FERE)
HK$'000
TFET
At 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 R-ZZE-N\F=A=+—AREEEE:
ZERIIZE395% —
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 MBI IS TRE LR F 5 R AR TR 23,474
At 1 April 2018 — As restated RZZ—N\FMA—H —&E5 23,474
Changes due to financial instruments AR—ZZT—N\FHA—HERNERITE
recognised as at 1 April 2018: MmEEEEE -
- Impairment losses recognised — BHERRB(EEE 610,077
As at 31 March 2019 WZE-NF=A=+—H 633,551
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for amounts due from

associates are mainly due to:

SRITAEE)
(b) HIH¥EMEEEEREEGE)

EEmER B ETE ()
JEM R 2 A B BRI IR BB E B = B LA
TEIAFE

2019
Increase in
—E-NF

i

Lifetime ECL
(credit-

impaired)
2HPEHEEEE
(FERHE)
HK$'000

FET

Further impairment made to credit-impaired
amounts due from associates

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible

for their own cash management, including the short-

term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans

to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by

the management when the borrowings exceed certain

pre-determined levels of authority. Prudent liquidity risk

management implies maintaining sufficient cash and

marketable securities, the availability of funding through

an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the

ability to close out market positions. The Group aims to

maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit

lines available and sufficient bank deposits to meet short-

term cash requirements.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$541,673,000 as at 31
March 2019. The liquidity of the Group primarily depends
on the future funding being available and the ability of
the Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
Details of which are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated

financial statements.

FEMCHE & A RIFIAZ EEREFTE— PRE

610,077

mEEZmE
AEEBETRZEERAROARHSE
B AEReRBZERRENMEEEFRA
TR 2 M FH R - EMHEEBROER
BZETHEENRTE  RIBGEREIE - 75
ER - BEZRDESRAREEETRES
FrmBehAEEAR  EBREZDA
AEERECBRRHESRABRIBTESR
®¥E - AEESEERMRAHRSAZE
FHEE URBESZEEE LA
MZBITER - NENEHRSRE -

AEBEBRBDECRRE  RESASER
—E-NFZA-t+—BEEBERDEEFESE
49541,673,00087C - AEEMREES T
ZECRRATERHARRE & RAEEEET
HemaBEmaEh - EFBENGEUHR
E Y
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE —ZE—hEFE=A=+—HItFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

7. €®WMIAE)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEMREEEERBE(E)
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) FHEELERE(E)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TRV AEFBIETESRBEZHTAY
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table FRR o TRODENAEEAHERNRZ &
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows FHEBERSRABZRATRASRERE -
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the BEEms  [EEEREREXZENHFE
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, margin payable, IE - EN L ATZIENLEMTE BE
amount due to an associate and fixed-rate other borrowings B ASRIHRE  MTmERAZIET
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the PEBERZAI8EM - HMWIESTE S RABE Y
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the lenders DEEER TS AR E -

choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other

non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed

repayment dates.

The table below includes both interest and principal cash TEBENBEERASHESRE o (M7 B8R
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the HOZBFRITE - BRIIE S 5N B
undiscovered amount is derived from interest rate at the end K2 FEEFEB/H o

of the reporting period.

Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount at
interest  or less than undiscounted 31 March

2019 rate 1year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow 2019
R=ZB-h&E
EER KIFRRE =A=+—8
—E-hE TG R E DR1EFE 1224 2855 REER ZREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET FET FET
Non-derivative financial FITELHERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables JERE 5 KR E AR
(excluding amount due to an  (“MEAEEN —KEE & A RIFIE) N/A
associate) TiEA 252,007 — — 252,007 252,007
Amount due to an asociate S — R4 A BIFE 9.35 135,040 — — 135,040 135,040
Bank borrowing RITEE
— fixed rate —ER 5.15 — 246 9,467 9,713 9,238
Margin payable ERFEREAE 8.00 39,214 — — 39,214 39,214
Other borrowing HifEE
— fixed rate —ER 8.43 40,119 — — 40,119 39,433
— variable rate —i28 4.75 121,248 — — 121,248 121,248
Placing notes iRk 5.00 11,000 10,808 10,294 32,102 29,657
598,628 11,054 19,761 629,443 625,837
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7.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(o]

7. ¢®MIA(E

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEEREEBEREE(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEEEmEE(E)

Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount at
interest  or less than undiscounted 31 March

2018 rate 1year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow 2018
RZZB-N\F
FEER KIFRERE =A=+—8H
—Z-N\F IR E LRE 1526 2E5F pis—£-:%1 ZIREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHT FET FET FET FET
Non-derivative financial TS RMARE
liabilities
Trade and other payables EAE S REAMRE
(excluding amounts due to (TEIEREEE S A RIFRIE) N/A
associates) TEA 204,503 — — 204,503 204,503
Amount due to an associate [ {f — S A T FIE 9.35 69,363 — — 69,363 69,363
Bank borrowing RITEE
— fixed rate —E8 5.70 9,863 — — 9,863 9,621
Margin payable R FFRIE 8.00 36,179 — — 36,179 36,179
Other borrowing Hinfg &
— fixed rate —E8 12.00 27,706 — — 27,706 27,706
— variable rate —ZB 4.75 131,018 — — 131,018 125,131
Placing notes BEE 5.00 1,500 1,500 31,334 34,334 29,083
480,132 1,500 31,334 512,966 501,586
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 S&MIAZATEHE

This note provides information about how the Group

determines fair values of financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at

fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market

observable data to the extent it is available.

AHEREEBARENAEE AR
AL ER -

ARMEBH BT ARIHRRE 0EAT
LEEE

REEHAFER - AEESERTRGZH
SRBREUE -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. @I E(E)
ERMITAZAFENEE)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

(i)

()

Financial assets that are measured at fair value on a () KEUEHEENTEFE
recurring basis
Some of the Group's financial assets are measured REEHDEMEENSWMERREK
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The NEEE - TRIBEREBNEETE
following table gives information about how the fair ZESRMEAEZ ATE(LHERAMA
values of these financial assets are determined (in (B R ASE) 2 EF -
particular, the valuation technique(s) and input used).
Fair value hierarchy
AFERR
Fair value
as at 31 March Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R=A=+—H
ZAVE ERd BB H=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
2019 —E-hEF
Financial assets: TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFERABR
ZEMEE 778 778 — —
2018 S ANS
Financial assets: EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL AP {EFF AIBZE
ZEHMEE 2,155 2,155 — —
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7.

152

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

(o]

()

(i)

SRMIAE)
(0 EWMIBEZAFEFEE)

Financial assets that are measured at fair value on a ()  EEETHEENFEFE(E)
recurring basis (continued)
Fair value as at
RUTEHzZAEE

Valuation
technique(s)
Fair value and key
Financial assets 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 hierarchy input(s)
—E-NF ZTN\F fR{E R K
cREE =A=+-—H =A=+—H AFEER TEBAHE
Financial assets at FVTPL Assets — Assets — Level 1 Quoted bid
approximately approximately prices in an
HK$778,000 HK$2,155,000 active market
BRATHEFABRR ERMEE EEHIT78,000 EFE#I2,155,000 F—E  REWEM
BT BT HKRENE

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018,
there was no transfer between investments in Level 1

and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2019 and 2018.

(i)

BE-_Z—NErk=-ZF—N\F=A4
=t+—BLEFE F-EHEZEMN
WEZEWELRER  TREE=
828 A B -

N FEIRZ e BEERBES
RNFE

REBRA LI HAATIRZ £/
TEZREE S#ER-_FT-NFRk
TE-N\FZA=THZAVEL
BEAZSR -
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8.

LN

A HBEZE-hE=A=+—HLEE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BEEEHBAZHE
customers
Provision of
Sales of mobile online travel Gamma ray
phones and  product booking irradiation
related products service service Total
FHR REALE
HEERZ HeEE R L IES
HEH BT R FREER TS st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Geographical markets IR 5
Hong Kong &8 — 5,227 — 5,227
PRC H 34,610 — 4,743 39,353
Total FE 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Timing of revenue WA\ RER SR
recognition
A point in time MR 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Sales channel/type of HERE BEF
customer il
Retail TE — 5,227 — 5,227
Wholesale #E 34,610 - - 34,610
Corporate NG — — 4,743 4,743
Total wat 34,610 5,227 4,743 44,580
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXBEINEFEOBARDBERMBES
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed BZHE -
in the segment information.
Segment
Revenue
DEBBA
HK$'000
FET
Sales of mobile phones and related products FHREABERZIEER 34,610
Provision of online travel product booking service (Note) IREAE L hRis EE B AT RIS (P3E) 5,227
Gamma ray irradiation service NEESTAR IR 5T PR 75 4,743
Revenue from contracts with customers and BEFEAHRAE
total revenue FELON 44,580
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8.
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REVENUE (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

A.

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of mobile phones and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the mobile phones and related products. The
payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from
delivery.

Under the contract terms, certain customers have a
right to exchange for dissimilar products within 7 days.
The Group uses its accumulated historical experience
to estimate the number of exchange on a portfolio
level using the expected value method. Revenue is
recognised for sales which are considered highly
probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur. A contract liability
is recognised for sales in which revenue has yet been
recognised. The Group's right to recover the product
when customers exercise their right is recognised as
a right to returned goods asset and a corresponding
adjustment to cost of revenue.

Provision of online travel product booking service

The performance obligation is satisfied when services
are rendered and the payment is normally due
immediately upon completion of the service. However,
certain customers are granted credit period from 30 to
60 days.

Gamma ray irradiation service

The performance obligation is satisfied when services
are rendered and the credit period granted to the
customers is normally 30 to 90 days.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or
less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

8.

L ONG))

A.

BE—ZE-NE=A=+—HLEE
(&)
(i) BEEEHZBHEMNL

HEF KA E
RROEENZN FHEAABERRET -
AR I #3090 B B4 o

REBA OG- BEPEERTENBREAR
MEmM - ARBEREERNEL LR - &
REREELHEEREMAEENBRER
B -piHEms - ERRCHEARTERAR
RN AFEABME - SRERWA - 5
HARRBRANBEENS - ERBENA
B - BERPITREERE - AREWKEER
MENGRERSEE R EREENE
S B U AR AAE AR 2 -

PR A dn PR AT RS
BHOEENRERIEEEITRARBENRT
FRBRISBILENEIHR A - BETEPERT
30E60H 22 EHf -

IG5 4R A8 57 AR 75
BHBEENREREEBITRRTIERLZE
BB E A30290H -

(i) PHEEFEXNGTENERAZXE
&5

FrEMAGHZ SR A—FHIAT - HINE
M IREERFE 15T - WERED
REZSREOENZZHER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

REVENUE (continued) 8. WA(%&E)
B. For the year ended 31 March 2018 B. BE-ZE-N\F=A=+—-HLEE
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBRAFEZEZWADTLT ¢
Segment
Revenue
D EUBA
HK$'000
FET
Sales of mobile phones and related products FHRIEAERZ HER 40,925
Provision of online travel product booking service (Note) IRATE SRR = S B BRI (FfI3E) 7,364
Gamma ray irradiation service income INFF ST AR R ST AR TS UA 5,090
Cruise ship leasing and management fee income A REEERA 36
Passenger ticket revenue FREMELA 64
Onboard and other revenues i E REABUTA 3
53,482
Note: Miat -
Total customer sales proceeds BPIHEMSRIERTE
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FE
Gross sales proceeds related to passenger tickets HEEMBWABREZ HESRIEEE
revenue* 217,160 164,334
* The Group’s gross sales proceeds from provision of online * NI B 5 2 MR TEAR I 2 oim T2 JE AR TS

travel product booking service, including air tickets, hotel
accommodation and other travel products, are considered
as cash collected on behalf of a principal as an agent.
The gross sales proceeds from these sales, which do
not represent revenue, represent the price at which the
products have been sold inclusive of service fees. The
related service income is recorded by the Group on net
basis.

(BERE B EERAMKEER)
ZHE PTG FARRR R BIARIES (7
REXZTFAMRZEE - ZEHEZ
E AT 3 FAR R (L FFE A IEE &
a2 2 (B15(EFERFE) - 1HERFUA
A EE [z F AR RO AR
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9. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Information reported to the board of directors (the “Board”), being
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. No
operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group'’s reportable and operating segments under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(@  Mobile technologies business — research and development,
production, distribution and sale of dual-screen mobile
handsets in the PRC.

(b)  Tourism and hospitality business — provision of online travel
product booking platform and provision of management

services for a cruise ship.

(o) Gamma ray irradiation services — provision of irradiation
services by utilising gamma ray technologies.

(d)  Other operations — securities trading and investment —
trading of securities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

9. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. REHI(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (@) oBRARESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and RRRREEDHE D 2 AEBBAEE
results by reportable and operating segment: AIT2HAT
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-—F-NF=ZFA=1+—HIFE
Other
operations -

Mobile Tourismand ~ Gamma ray securities
technologies  hospitality ~ irradiation  trading and

business business services  investment Total
Hit-
FH HRER IS EHEE
BIES HEES R RS RiRE @t

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

Revenue WA 34,610 5,227 4,743 — 44,580
Segment results ALK (1,180,876) (86,039 (2,515) (44200 (1,273,850)
Unallocated corporate income RABAFBRA 24
Unallocated corporate expenses FAOEARHZ (26,922)
Finance costs BEKAK (7,704)
Loss before tax BREATER (1,308,452)
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9.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9.

(@)

Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

resE(E)
(@ 2DBRAREE(E)

BE—F-\F=ZA=1+—HIFE

Other

operations -

Mobile  Tourismand ~ Gamma ray securities

technologies hospitality irradiation  trading and
business business services investment Total

Hith %75 -

Fi gl MEBSTR EFEE
BUES HEED FRETARTS RRE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 40,925 7,467 5,090 — 53,482
Segment results DEEE (146,999) (77,575) (2,497) (3,867) (230,938)
Unallocated corporate income AABAFBA 7,080
Unallocated corporate expenses AAEARRZ (75,863)
Finance costs BEMA (1,794)
Loss before tax BRBATEE (301,515)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note
4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment results
represent the loss from each segment without allocation of
central administration cost, certain other income, gains and
losses, net, certain finance costs and directors’ emoluments.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.

LED B G RRLSA P REM TS
PRt A S B 2 @5t AR - DEPFREEE
ROBERRITHER - HTEMEA - W
REEFE  ETRERARESHEA -
RN RELZER - RN EBELRE
EERMEERD B RFRMEZIE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. REHIWE)
Segment assets and liabilities (b) AHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AT ARZRARREEENHBE S 2 AEEBEER
liabilities by reportable and operating segments. BEDHT ©
As at 31 March 2019 R=-FE-AF=ZHA=+—H
Other
Gamma  opreations -
Mobile  Tourism and ray securities
technologies hospitality irradiation  trading and
business business services investment Total
Hib¥w-
FH HeER M5 4% EFEE
S ERER SR AT AR A kRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FE FET FET FET FET
ASSETS EE
Segment assets HEEE 43,428 193,254 14,647 778 252,107
Unallocated corporate assets KPRRAIBE 9,773
Consolidated total assets GEAERE 261,880
LIABILITIES =1
Segment liabilities AHEE 413,257 18,354 9,623 39,214 480,448
Unallocated corporate liabilities APRERAIERE 145,888
Consolidated total liabilities ReBEeE 626,336
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9.
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(b)

RERAT

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. RESWGE)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) by PBEEREEE)
As at 31 March 2018 R-FE-NF=ZA=+—H
Other
Gamma  opreations-
Mobile  Tourism and ray securities
technologies hospitality irradiation  trading and
business business services  investment Total
Hit R -
FH HRER BT ESEE
S HEES AR k&g @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NEEE 1,053,937 268,748 18,781 3,755 1,345,221
Unallocated corporate assets APEAREE 44,836
Consolidated total assets FREERE 1,390,057
LIABILITIES =l
Segment liabilities AEaE 297,292 56,261 9,795 36,179 399,527
Unallocated corporate liabilities APEARBR 106,356
Consolidated total liabilities GEakEE 505,883
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE —ZE—hEFE=A=+—HItFE

9. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. ReEHIM(HE)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) (b) PHBEEREEE)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MERDBERRENSHBEDEERME ¢

allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BrE TR LM BR IR - SRITAEEA R
than certain other receivables, bank balances and & BTRAME - BFE REBEUR
cash, certain corporate property, plant and equipment RIERIBEES - FTEEAEDIES
and deferred tax assets; and BEHE Rk

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . BRE T RE T B b BRIE R FERT5RIE ~ JE
than certain other payables and accruals, amounts due NESREREEREIN - AR
to directors and placing notes. DERELEDHE

Other segment information () EHtpaIHEs

Year ended 31 March 2019 BE—F-NF=ZA=1—HILFE

Amounts included in the measure of segment result or FEDEHEEN S HEERTTA LS

Segment assets:

Other
Tourism Gamma opreations—
Mobile and ray securities
technologies  hospitality irradiation trading and
business business services investment Unallocated Total
Hitb#-
FHFT wER  IESE BHEE
¥ HEXE® - RHERE kRiRE ROE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET FET FET
Interest income from associates ENEL - UNCIPA UYL ON 32,964 — — — — 32,964
Reversal of impairment loss recognised [ g eI E 5 BRI MR 2
in respect of trade receivables BEE 53 — 11 — — 64
Reversal of impairment loss recognised 3¢ (0] 9 e UL At BRIB RERR 2 AL
in respect of other receivables BEE 30 — — — — 30
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ FLREWE 5 BRIBH R 2 RER
of trade receivables 18 (792) — — — — (792)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of — HtfE U EL4b BR B #E2 2 IR EES
other receivables B (1,478) — (639) — (©) (2,126)
Written off of property, plant and
equipment MIEWE - BE RREB — — — — (63) (63)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment HEME - BEREH 2 W 149 — — — — 149
Net unrealised losses on financial assets ~ #ZAFEFF AR S REE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAREBREE T — — — (1,377) — (1,377)
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment ¥ -« BERRETE (759) (80) (1,207) — (983) (3,029)

Amortisation of intangible asset L A — (8) — — — (8)

Amortisation of land use rights + {55 AR AR 4 — — (463) — — (463)

Written-down of inventories as cost of

revenue WoRTF B ERBAB A (21,426) — — — - (21,426)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

goodwill REBERAERE (9,316) (77,880) — — — (87,196)
Addition of property, plant and

equipment REWE  BERER 822 — 9 — 2,788 3,619
Share of profit of associates FEAREEE R AR T 474 — — — — 474
Finance cost A& R A (14,168) — (560) (3,036) (7,704) (25,468)
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9. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. RKeHIM(E)
() Other segment information (continued) (0 HtbaIHER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-—E-NF=ZA=1—HLFE
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHREZEEAREZLIERTEN T
in the measure of segment result: BRI A SR

162

Other
Tourism Gamma opreations—
Mobile and ray securities
technologies  hospitality  irradiation trading and
business business services investment Unallocated Total
Hih %R -
F R wER MESE BHEE
¥ OHEXE®  RERE kiRE ROB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FET FET FHET
Interest income from financial institutions 2 & & Bl > F B U A 21 — 3 — — 24
Exchange gain (loss), net & 5 Wz (B518 ) F 58 (1,654) — — — (209) (1,863)
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE—F— F=A=f— I
Other
Tourism Gamma opreations—
Mobile and ray securities
technologies  hospitality irradiation trading and
business business services investment Unallocated Total
Hitb3 % -
F R ER  MEgE BHEH
¥i  CHEEY  RERE RRE ROE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET FET FET FHET FET
Interest income from associates REBE AR ZFSBA 29,937 o o o o 29,937
Reversal of impairment loss on trade BB ERE 5 RE-R R
receivables B8R — 642 - - - 642
Reversal of impairment loss on other 01 AL b AR TERERR 2 UL
receivables B8 — 6,000 — — — 6,000
Loss on disposal on available-for-sale HEAHEESREEZER
financial asset — (1,300) — — — (1,300)
Impairment loss on other receivables FEU EA BRIB 2 SRE 18 — (231) — — — (231)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand &% « BE L& E 2B
equipment — (45) — — — (45)
Net unrealised losses on financial assets 2 AFE ABHZ ©REE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAREREHRFE — — — (1,077) — (1,077)
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERBRETE
equipment (731) (478) (2,376) — (173) (3,758)
Amortisation of intangible asset A — (8 — — - (8
Amortisation of land use rights 3 FRAEHE 8 — — (463) — — (463)
Impairment loss on goodwill AR REEE o (56,901) o o o (56,901)
Further acquisition of an associate #E— A AR 120,615 — — — — 120,615
Addition of property, plant and REWE  BERRE
equipment 1,182 — 1" — 13 1,206
Addition of property, plant and EIBIF A URE — R A RR
equipment and intangible asset EWME - BERRBAR
through step acquisition of a R AE
subsidiary 754 — — — — 754
Share of loss of associates FEAEBEE R REE (13,332) — — — - (13,332)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—MEEREER (9,652) — — — — (9,652)
Finance cost BEMA (5,437) (5,098) (567) (2,783) (1,794) (15,679)
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9. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 9. REHI(E)
(c) Other segment information (continued) (0 EHttaEHER(E)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHMF2LERFEZIERGTED B
in the measure of segment result: BRI AZ 2
Other
Tourism Gamma opreations—
Mobile and ray securities

technologies  hospitality  irradiation trading and

business business services investment Unallocated Total
Hitb2s-
F R wER MESE BHEH
¥ CHEER  BHERK k& ROE st
HKS$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Interest income from financial institutions 2 £ & B 2 F 8 Uk A 61 — 5 — 489 555
Exchange gain (loss), net I& 5 42k (8518 ) 55 1,198 (23) — — 5,350 6,525
(d) Geographical information (d) HEEH
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the REBZ EBUREAELPH -
PRC.
Information about the Group's revenue from external BRAEEREIINER ZWMAERTHER
customers is presented based on the location of customers. EFPMUEZS -
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong B8 5,227 7,467
The PRC Fh 39,353 46,015
44,580 53,482
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluded ERASEERDEAE(TRIESMIA)Z
financial instruments) is presented based on the geographical BERDEREEMBMNEZT

locations of the assets.
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9.

164

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
(d) Geographical information (continued)

9.

e (E)
d) HEERH(E)

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET
Hong Kong &k 190,887 274,259
The PRC A 15,255 18,771
Russian Federation ik 7 A B — 334,003
206,142 627,033

Information about major customers BETEREIER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RIBEEE(EAEEBKRAFRBEION 2 BFIKA

over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows: T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A' BER 6,334 12,510
Customer B! BEZ! 4,471 9,452

1 Revenue from mobile technologies business

1 REFEREMEB KA
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10. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. HMWA - WEREEFE
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income from financial institutions R E & B 2 TSI 24 555
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial asset &Rt HESREE 2 F1E — (1,300)
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - WE RRH 2 W ()
equipment 149 (45)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment W - BB KRR 2 s (63) —
Interest income from associates KB R F]2 FEA 32,964 29,937
Net unrealised losses on financial assets at fair value &R FEFF ABRS 2 @ REE 2 REH
through profit or loss B85 (1,377) (1,077)
Exchange (loss) gain, net i 5 (&8 ) W $58 (1,863) 6,525
Government grants B RL 190 —
30,024 34,595
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BERKR
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interests on: THEEZFE
Bank borrowings RITEE 560 567
Margin account payable FERFFRIRP I8 3,036 2,783
Placing notes at effective interest rates RERNEGBZEERE 1,812 1,794
Early redemption of placing notes IRATE RIS & 261 —
Overdue royalty fee payable RN ERNER 7,939 2,570
Other borrowings HEMEE 11,860 7,965
25,468 15,679
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12. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET  12. £REEZREEE (HKREE)

13.

166

OF REVERSAL

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FET FET
Reversal of impairment losses on: TNEIFRIERE R 2 B
Trade receivables e E BRI 7(b)&24 64 642
Other receivables H U ARIE 7(b)&24 30 6,000
Impairment losses on: THIFRIEZ R EEE
Trade receivables JEUWE AR 7(b)&24 (792) —
Other receivables H U AR 7(b)&24 (2,126) (231)
Amounts due from associates JRE Ui B 5 R BR 3K 7(b)&21 (610,077) —
(612,901) 6,411
INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FiEHiE%
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred taxation (Note 30) IRIERIIE (H7730) (2,502) (1,821)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

TE-N\FZAZ+—R BELEGEEC
—EFERBUET) (B75) P ER([EHIE
D BESIAMEFEHRBREGE  FHIERR
TE-N\FZAZHNBREERRERLNEA
TIBZH - REMAMNSHREEHE - 6 ERKE
EEENE2A 8B TENE1%8.25% M K&
i MRIE2 B EE T A 216.5% KT R
Bo DA MRFEHREHIENREE RN
FHG A 4812 16.5% RORER REART

i
=

EERA  BOMANEHEEHER SRS
EHRAHBRROYEMS L TEX - ZM/E
6 [ 0B RS B IR 5 SR B R 2 16.5%
5 -
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made for both
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 as the Group did not

generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years ended 31 March 2019 and

2018.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as

follows:

13. FifsBiER(E)
MRARERBE—T—AFR-F—/\F=A
=+ — B ERIEF E ST B R (AR B
B MR B BRI -

AR A25% o

IR -

REFBECEMSTE(TREMSHZE]) R
BHEBRGY  FEMBAANEE-F
—HhEFEERZE-N\F=ZA=+—-BIMEFEZ

REFEMSHE R EEREBERNRHATER

2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax B AT 1E (1,308,452) (301,515)
Tax at applicable domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  1&iE A TS T 2 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) (ZZ—N\F 1165%)H 2
I8 (215,895) (49,750)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose TABFAS 2 g E 198,660 33,046
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERBRBAZ BT E (5,541) (7,186)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised for ARFEFEARMERZ Bh5=RE 2%
the year E — 1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIER 2 BTGB B 2 IS 2 31,131 25,099
Tax effect of share of (profit) loss of associates FEIGEEE A B2 Cafl) BB 2 %
s (78) 2,200
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture B —HaErEZ BB K
2= — 1,593
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in  fEE fth B ARE[R & 5 2 B A 7
other jurisdictions TRBIR 2 (10,779) (6,824)
Income tax credit for the year NEEMEHES (2,502) (1,821)
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14.

168

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14, AEEER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: ~ ANEEEIE A% THIEBEEE
Staff costs B I
— directors’ emoluments (excluding share-based —ZFEME (T RIFURD AEE
payments) (Note 15) 2R (H7aE15) 7,777 7,731
— salaries and bonus —He ks 16,850 25,851
— retirement benefits scheme contributions —IRREFFT IR
(Note 33) (H17#33) 1,328 1,388
— share-based payments (Note 36) — AR BERE 2 SR (HT5E36) 52,368 20,421
78,323 55,391
Auditors’ remuneration ZERET BN &
— audit services —BEZR 1,824 1,510
— non-audit services —IEEIZ IR - 80
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BERBEITE 3,029 3,758
Amortisation of intangible asset A 8 8
Amortisation of land use rights {5 PR 463 463
Operating lease payments EERERR 7,810 12,589
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense RERZ 2 FERAR 69,600 30,311
Written-down of inventories recognised as cost of R AW ARKAR 2 7 EHUR
revenue 21,426 —
Royalty fee HREE 57,448 54,865
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S 15. EERTHERME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years, disclosed RIBEA LR R A BEDIREE 2 &% RITH
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is as follows: BERFEMSHT -
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-ZE-AF=ZA=+—HLEE

Salaries Retirement

and other benefits
benefits scheme Shared-based
Fees inkind  contibutions Sub-total payments Total
#eR BHER URHA
we HUEWTE TR Mt BREZAR @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FET TET TET
Executive directors BiEZ
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RKEE(ZE) 30 330 18 378 46 44
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony s — 3,582 18 3,600 17,400 21,000
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive  RETER T (77H#£7)

Officer) - 2,640 18 2,658 17,400 20,058
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel gRknk 360 — - 360 46 406
Independent non-executive directors B HEH{TES
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Note ) BEERE(NiHe) 35 — — 35 - 35
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen TR 120 - — 120 46 166
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Note ¢) Fgstie st (Hitc) 240 - - 240 15 255
Mr. Han Chunjian (Note c) BEAREWHC 20 - - 20 15 255
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis (Note f) B BISE t (#zE £) 146 - - 146 - 146

1,17 6,552 54 1,777 34,968 42,745
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S

170

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

15. EERTRARME(E)

BE-E—-)/\E=ZA=1+—HILEE

Salaries Retirement
and other benefits
benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contibutions Total
e kEA RRER]
e EWFE REGEA “@Et
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors WITEE
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) ARG (EE) 30 330 18 378
Mr. Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony BERERE — 3,582 18 3,600
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief WMEYE 24 (7748 %,)

Executive Officer) — 2,640 18 2,658
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel #ZaIKEAE 210 218 9 437
Independent non-executive BAERITES

directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Note e) =EELE (N ite) 120 — — 120
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen FREREE 120 — — 120
Mr. Lee Chi Ming (Note d) FERASE M) 120 — — 120
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael BRECIE Sk (Mfatc)

(Note c) 149 — — 149
Mr. Han Chunjian (Note ¢) g5l E(Mitc) 149 — — 149

898 6,770 63 7,731
Notes: Mt -
(a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their (a) FXFIRITEE e D ARSIREEHEER

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group.

(b) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

were for their services as the Directors.

(a] Appointed on 18 August 2017
(d) Retired on 26 September 2017
(e) Resigned on 16 July 2018

) Appointed on 23 August 2018

There were no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the

years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

(e)

V)

AR RAEMEL 2 REMZAT -

EXATBUFRITEECMENARENES
SRR M AT

RZZB—tFNA+N\BEZE

R-ZE—tFNA =+ HEML

R-ZE—N\FLATNAEHE

RZZE-N\FNAZ+=HEZE

REBEE-_ZT-NEFrR_T-N\F=ZA=+—HIt
FE - WEEEKNITRAHNESRERETM
B 2 25k -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain directors were
granted awarded shares, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share award scheme of the Company. Details of the share
award scheme are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount of the awarded shares is determined
according to their seniority and contributions to the mobile
technologies business and expected future contributions.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
include two (2018: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
three (2018: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

15.

16.

ESRTBASME(E)

REE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE ET=#
ERBEARF 2B DRI BEERNAEER
Wz RIGEE B I - () SRR BIFHBER
SFRMBIMKRMEE6 - BERODBEDIZRNE
ZEE  HFRBEMEBZEMEESRRRZE
RAEETE -

TEEREHER
AEEFARLEESHERREMA(ZF N
FOMBER  REZHFHFBEIR LXEAY
BWMRM IS - EB=F(ZF—N\F : =8)1
FEARREELATRAM L RSHFRERFEL
ST -

2019 2018

—g—hE -2\

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and bonus Hae M 3,359 3,525
Share-based payments VARGt AT 2 15k 17,400 16,744
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREFIETEIHER 51 37
20,810 20,306

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

FMNFUATHEZ FEERSHREEABLT

2019 2018

—EB—hE —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Up to HK$ 1,000,000 1,000,000 7T A T 1 —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7C%1,500,0007% 70 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 042,000,000 70 — 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L%2,500,0007# 7T — 1
HK$16,000,001 to HK$ 16,500,000 16,000,001 L% 16,500,000/ 7T — 1
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000 18,500,001 7C419,000,0007% 7T 1 —
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17.

18.
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DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2018:
Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

17.

18.

IRE
HEZ-NF=A=t-HLFELERER
A E R A SRR s R AR - B RS BRI
EMEEREARE(ZT—\F ) -

BRER
AR AR SR A RS A TR T
BB -

2019 2018
—EB-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the FTEORERNREEEERA L
Company for the purpose of basic and AARHEE ANEIEARFEEIE
diluted loss per share (1,298,305) (294,509)
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
(Restated)
FET FET
(# &)
Number of shares RGEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 5t E &R EAR MBS EIEFT A 2 LR
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share NNREF 5 8L 3,577,097 3,446,888

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic and diluted loss per share has been adjusted for the share
consolidation on 3 August 2018.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2018 and 2019 does not assume the conversion of the
Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of
those options was higher than the average market price for shares.

BREARBEERZ EBENETFOHD AR
—E-N\FNAZAMETHRN &M IEH R
# o

S WA (TEERNRAFHTE - &
HBE-F - \FR-F-NAF=A=t-AL
2 SR D RERRAD AN RITE
PR D -



ANNUAL REPORT &% 2018/19 [ NENEGN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. Y% BERRE

Plant Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold and Motor and
buildings Improvements machinery vehicles fixtures Total
HERT HEYEEE BERESE RE BRREE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET FET
CcosT A
At 1 April 2017 R_ZT—+FmMA—H 7,199 2,571 26,410 4,837 1,938 42,955
Additions NE — — 1 — 1,195 1,206
Acquired on step acquisition of a &AW — R R A BRI AE

subsidiary (Note 37) (H1537) — — — — 782 782
Disposals HE — — — — (115) (115)
Written-off sy — (39) — (810) (126) (975)
Exchange adjustments FE A% 781 56 2,971 103 66 3,977
At 31 March 2018 R=—B-NF=A=+-8 7,980 2,588 29,392 4,130 3,740 47,830
Additions NE — 2,627 9 735 248 3,619
Disposals He — — — (3,134) (328) (3,462)
Written-off it — — — — (101) (101)
Exchange adjustments & 3 3% (512) — (1,879) (68) (168) (2,627)
At 31 Mach 2019 R=B-h&E=A=+—-8 7,468 5,215 27,522 1,663 3,391 45,259
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RETERRE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2017 R-Z—+FMA—A 2,422 1,937 22,291 2,476 983 30,109
Provided for the year REERE 374 281 1,916 687 500 3,758
Step acquisition of a subsidiary ZBWEE—TE B AR (HF37)

(Note 37) — — — — 34 34
Disposals HeE — — — — (70) (70)
Written-off it — (39) — (810) (126) (975)
Exchange adjustments & 5 5% 285 56 2,539 94 64 3,038
At 31 March 2018 R-E—N\F=A=1+—A1 3,081 2,235 26,746 2,447 1,385 35,894
Provided for the year RNEERE 329 711 809 423 757 3,029
Disposals HE — — — (1,470) (109) (1,579)
Written-off iG] — — — — (38) (38)
Exchange adjustments [ A% (198) — (1,719) (64) (52) (2,033)
At 31 Mach 2019 R=B-h&E=A=+-8 3,212 2,946 25,836 1,336 1,943 35,273
NET CARRYING VALUES FREFE
At 31 Mach 2019 R=B-h&E=A=+—-8H 4,256 2,269 1,686 327 1,448 9,986
At 31 Mach 2018 W2 \F=A=1+—8 4,899 353 2,646 1,683 2,355 11,936
The Group's leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC held under AEEHEEFUNPE - RIEFBRHEERE -

medium term lease.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s leasehold buildings with carrying
value of approximately HK$4,256,000 (2018: HK$4,899,000) are
pledged to secure a bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note

29).

(B5529) -

R-ZT—-NE=ZA=+—H
4,256,000/ 0( == — /\4F : 4,899,000/ 7t) 2
EEFEFEER  UWERASEERZEBITEER

CAEEEEEY
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19.

20.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$1,016,000 (2018:
HK$2,304,000) has been included in cost of revenue and
approximately HK$2,013,000 (2018: HK$1,454,000) included in

administrative expenses, respectively.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, are depreciated

19. %% - BERRHE(E)

FEELP - 41,016,000 0 (=T — )\4F -
2,304,000 70) B AT AW AR © ™#472,013,000
BT (=T — )\ : 1,454,000 7)) BT AfTH &

o

AEME - BiERRERERAT A RS

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as follows: A E LT EE -
Leasehold buildings 20 years HEgF 204
Leasehold improvements 2-3 years HEMEEE 2E34F
Plant and machinery 3-20 years R B 22 3E204F
Motor vehicles 4-8 years RE 4Z8%F
Furniture and fixtures 3-10 years RREEE 3Z104F
LAND USE RIGHTS 20. T ihfE FARE
2019 2018
—B—hE —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
CosT B
At 1 April REA—A 13,370 12,065
Exchange adjustments [ 5 a2 (858) 1,305
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 12,512 13,370
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt
At 1 April REA—A 3,978 3,146
Charged for the year REEFHR 463 463
Exchange adjustments [E 5 % (257) 369
At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,184 3,978
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March W=R=+—H 8,328 9,392

The Group's land use rights are situated in the PRC with medium

term leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's land use rights with carrying
value of approximately HK$8,328,000 (2018: HK$9,392,000) are
pledged to secure a bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note

29).

AREEz HIERBURTEER - BHHEE -

RZB-AEZA=Z+—H AEEEREEYD
8,328,000/ 70( =T —/\FF : 9,392,000/ 70) 2
T EFRECIEE R UERAEEER 2R

BB ( MFE29) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REE AR ZER

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
Unlisted cost of investment I TR ERA 361,830 361,830

Share of post acquisition loss of FEIEEE AR 2 IR EEE
associates (33,578) (34,052)
Exchange adjustments R CE S 3,100 6,225
331,352 334,003

Less: Accumulated impairment loss B BREDREESE (M)

(Note ii) (331,352) —
— 334,003
Amounts due from associates (Note i) FEUES & X BIFRIE (ML 1) 633,551 579,614
Less: Allowance for credit loss (Note i) & : (EEGEER(HZi) (633,551) —
— 579,614
— 913,617

The Company entered into an original sale and purchase agreement
dated 8 October 2015, the deed of amendment dated 23
December 2015 and the second deed of amendment dated 29
March 2016, with an independent third party (the “First Seller”) in
relation to acquisition of 30% equity interest in Yota, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability (the “First
Acquisition”). The total cash consideration of USD46,225,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$358,891,000) was paid by the
Group, among which USD31,068,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$241,215,000) was cost of acquisition for 30% equity interest
in Yota and USD15,157,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$117,676,000) was the cost of acquisition for a balance owed by
a subsidiary of Yota to the First Seller, the balance was repayable on
demand and classified as current assets. The First Acquisition was
completed on 29 April 2016.

AARE—BBYE=F(E—FH I ZBH
BZE-—RF+ANBZREEERE BYA
TR+ A+ =HZEIRERASA
TE-RFZA-ZTABEZE-_MEFTRE RN
AEBEKE Yota (RASHSEMRIZARA
8)30% AR ([F—WEEE]) - #ReR
1846,225,000% 7T (1574 £7358,891,000/% 7T)
EHANEE S - HEA131,068,000E T (HHERL
241,215,000/ 7T ) AU Yota 30% MR A iz 2 A
A+ ifi15,157,000% 7T ( B4 49117,676,0007%
JL) AU EE Yota 2 —EMB ARIRE—E 2 &5
RIRA  BREHEAREREETHEARIDE
Ee-F - WBREER-_Z—A"ENA-t+HhAR
5)20
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21.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

On 9 February 2018, China Baoli Technologies Services Limited
(“Baoli Services”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement (the “Second Agreement”) with
an independent third party (the “Second Seller”) in relation to
acquisition of 10% equity interest in Yota at a consideration of
UsSD 15,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$120,615,000)
(the “Second Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Second Agreement, the
consideration will be satisfied by cash and the issuance of shares of
the Company in the following manner:

(i) USD 140,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,089,000)
by payment in cash within 3 business days of the date of
the Second Agreement which shall be applied towards the
consideration upon the completion;

(ii) USD360,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,801,000) by
payment in cash upon the completion;

(i)  the settlement of USD10,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,690,000) by way of allotment and
issue of the first tranche consideration shares; and

(iv)  the settlement of the remaining USD4,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$35,035,000) on the date falling 180
days after the completion date. Baoli Services shall provide a
notice to the Second Seller in writing no later than 3 business
days before the 180th day after the completion date electing
whether the remaining payment will be settled by way of
allotment and issue of the second tranche consideration
shares or in cash.

The Second Acquisition was completed on 29 March 2018.
On the same date, the first tranche of consideration shares of
593,246,187 have been duly issued and allotted to the Second
Seller. On 26 September 2018, the second tranche of consideration
shares of 25,424,836 (adjusted to take into account of the Share
Consolidation as defined in Note 31) have been duly issued
and allotted to the Second Seller. The details are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 11 February 2018, 9 March
2018, 29 March 2018 and 26 September 2018 respectively.

21.

REE AT 2 ER(E)
WZZE—N\FZANB  FEENREREER
RAREHRE]  ARRIZ2EMBAR)HE—
2B E=F(E_BF DI hz((E =71
1) AABRAUEE Yota 10% BRANHERS - REBA
15,500,0003 7T, (#1574 #120,615,0007% 70 ) ([ 58
—WEEE]) - REF-_DHE REBETY
FRARE RETARABRMD Z

() 140,000% 7 18 & 7 #91,089,0007% T)
RE—HiHEEHE=ALEBANREX
i HER e & RIERE

(i) 360,000 7 18 & 7 #2,801,0007% JT)
MR AR S S

(i)~ 10,500,000% st 4 % # 4981,690,000/%
TO AR R B ITE —HRERGB ZH X
%

(iv)  #4%84,500,000% 7T ( A £935,035,000
HBIL) R BER FE180A 1+ - B AR
RN ek B HIEE 1808 RPN =A%
¥AMFEBEHFFHEDBA - REARE
RBETE_HRERNOIAR S TR

FWEFTER T N\FE=ZA-FTLB=K
FEH - FH—HREIN593,246,187E & A\
FZEABTREE R \FALA=Z+X
H - 5 #HARBA{)25,424,836/% (A HAEEAT R
MIFE31 AT E MBRID & HF) BRI — & 7 BB AT
ke - FBRNAARBMORAEZS—N\F
“A+—H - ZZ2—N\F=ANH - ZZE—N\F
ZAZt+ABER=ZZ—N\FALAZ+RBZAE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE —ZE—hEFE=A=+—HItFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REE QAT zER(E)
Given the Group does not control the majority composition of ERAEBIL EL YotaEEE 2 KOk EM
the board of directors of Yota, the Group has no control over & A AREEH Yota WELHIHE - R > AR
Yota. However, the Directors consider that the Group can exercise REFBDERREXEYotaEEE® - WEEZRAKR
significant influence over Yota as the Group has appointed SEAE YotatTEEAFE S - Atk » Yota R E
representatives to the board of directors of Yota. Yota and its M AR ( S Yota B D5 AR K E 2 B
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Yota Group”) is =WANCI

therefore classified as associates of the Group.

Notes: Miat -
(i) The amounts due from associates are unsecured, repayable on (i) U AR BB B BRI - ARERERE RIZ
demand and interest bearing at the following rates: THIFEETS
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest free borrowing REEE 119,329 119,312
7% borrowing TEEE 127,723 120,423
8% borrowing SEEE 386,499 339,879
633,551 579,614
Included in the amounts due from associates is the following amount FEWR A AT ZHEhBEN T EE TS S
denominated in currency other than the group entities’ functional ASNEMFHEZ ©F8 ¢
currencies:
2019 2018
—E-nF —E-N\F
‘000 ‘000
Fir Fir
usD ESi 80,714 73,853
(i) As stated in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, after (i) BN A B ISR R M E2FT M - K RS  BR
taking into account of the Order, the winding-up petition and the net Bk YotaWBEFRE - EERA - EEHREE
liabilities of Yota, the Directors is of the view that a full impairment on NEIH S & FE U £ @B A R SR IBIER T
interests in associates and amounts due from associates of the Group RE °
should be made.
Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from associates for BE_Z-NF-A=-+ - HILEFEZEEREE
the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 7(b). REHEZ BERHERF BRI (0) ©
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REBEQTZER(E)
Details of each of the Group’s material associates at the end of the RMERR - AEBSHERBLE AR ZFBN
reporting period are as follows: N
Place of Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest voting rights
Name of entities Principal place of operation held by the Group held by the Group  Principal activities
Baias 1y REEfRE
BiER IRERNE HRRER 2 LP REBMBRAEZILA TEER
2019 2018 2019 2018
Zg-nf  “F-/\F ZE-NE —T\F
Yota” Cayman Islands/ 40% 40% 40% 40%  Investment Holding
Cayman Islands
ReES/ FeHs RAER
Yota Device Ltd"* Republic of Cyprus/ 40% 40% 40% 40%  Research and development of Yota Devices hardware
Republic of Cyprus and software, marketing, certification, selling goods,
management of supply chain and production
ERREANE/ Yota Devices BHRBMATE « TR - 2% - HEE
ERBHHAE 0 fEEREEER
Yota Device IPR Ltd"# British Virgin Islands/ 40% 40% 40% 40%  Asset holding and management
British Virgin Islands
EBRAHE/ARALES BERBRER
Yota Device LLC"* Russian Federation/ 40% 40% 40% 40%  Research and development of Yota Devices software,
Russian Federation marketing, certification and selling goods
BREHD/ BREHH Yota Devices BUfH 12 - TSR H - BERHEEN
Yota Device Oy"* Finland/Finland 40% 40% 40% 40%  Research and development of Yota Devices hardware and
software
/5% Yota Devices B+ R 442

A Not audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
# Wholly-owned subsidiary of Yota

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity

method in the consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table summarised the recognised amounts of the
associates’ assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the
Second Acquisition.

21.

R A7) 2 s ()
TRELRNE W EEA TR E AR
ERFERERA ATy OERSE -

Recognised
values on Second

Acquisition
BT
WEEEERZ
ERREE
HK$ 000
FET
Intangible assets — Trademarks mEE —BiE 1,750,125
Other non-current assets HtEnms&E 494
Current assets REVEE 77,940
Current liabilities Mk IE=NI (841,217)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE (1,758)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIIE A E (347,592)
Net assets FEAE 637,992
Consideration for the Second Acquisition FEWESERE 120,615
Less: The Group’s 10% share of the fair o RE_WEEEAAEERELZE
value of the identifiable net assets of BE AR AR FEE N TEZ210%
the associates at the date of the Second
Acquisition (63,799)
Goodwill arising on Second Acquisition FoWEEEEL AR 56,816

Note:

Intangible assets represent the trademarks owned by an associate. At the
dates of the Second Acquisition, the fair value of the intangible asset of
USD222,997,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,750,125,000) was
determined based on valuations carried out by an independent professional
valuer. The valuer has recent experience in the category of assets being
valued. The management had discussed with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and results when the valuation was performed at the date of the
Second Acquisition.

In the opinion of the Directors, Yota Group is well recognised as a renowned
dual screen always-on smartphone developer and the management of the
Yota Group has the intention and ability to maintain the trademarks, the
economic useful life of the trademarks has been estimated as indefinite.

Bt -

EAERR MBS AREEZEIE c NEITEZI
BRECH  BFEEZAFE222,997,000% T(HHE
#491,750,125,0007 7T ) HERB L BEGEMETTZ
HEETE - HEMEELNAMGEEEERRETHEY
K5 o EERERRGEMNRINETE - WHEEEZ A
HEER 2 HERERER

BEERA Yot EBAEXRA ZALERSERTE
BET MMM - Yota KRB 2 EIBEA BN A RN EES
BRERE  MEEZ B AERERERY -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REEE AT ZER(E)
Summarised financial information of associates BENT 2B HRERRE
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these ZEBENRYERER ARV IEHRERALRE -
consolidated financial statements.
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s AEEBRERNAZHBERBEHNMOT o AT
associates is set out below. The summarised financial information PBEAMBZAIZBERNEREENRRE 2
below represents amounts shown in the Yota Group’s consolidated Yota EERE B MEAIRZ S -
financial statements prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.
Yota Group
Yota & H
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE 106,594 77,940
Non-current assets EMEEE 11,805 11,772
Current liabilities mEAE (878,681) (841,217)
Non-current liabilities EmEEE — (1,758)
Yota Group
Yota £E
2019 2018
—E-AF —E)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 27,653 55,682
Profit (loss) for the year REF M (EE) 1,185 (44,441)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year — ZN4FJE H {2 (S H) A (7,920) 4,351
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEFEEEEZ LB (6,735) (40,090)
Dividends received by the Group AREBYELZ AL E — —
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21. REENT 2R (E)

Summarised financial information of associates BERNRZHBERBEE)

(continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to IR B TS E R B AR S B TS R R A HE R B
the carrying amount of the interests in associates recognised in the AR REE K

consolidated financial statements:

Yota Group
Yota &£ &

2019 2018

—E-hF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
Net liabilities attributable to the owners HmAEANEGFEE (760,282) (753,263)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest NEEEEERER 2 LA 40% 40%
(304,113) (301,305)

Goodwill [EES 301,735 301,695
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition RUEER R A AR 2 R 234,262 234,262
Pre-acquisition loss I BERTE1E 99,468 99,351
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REE R ZREE 331,352 334,003
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22. GOODWILL 22. B8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
COST IB%N
At 1 April RImA—H 352,168 343,658
Arising on step acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 37) ~ FIEFUHE — B AR MmE 4+
(H#t37) — 9,233
Exchange adjustments T H R 806 (723)
At 31 March R=A=+—8 352,974 352,168
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ZEPRERE
At 1 April RMA—H 80,493 23,592
Impairment loss recognised for the year FRERZRERE 87,196 56,901
At 31 March R=A=+—8 167,689 80,493
NET CARRYING AMOUNT R FE 185,285 271,675

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated

to three cash generating units (“CGUs"), comprising the gamma

ray irradiation services segment, tourism and hospitality business

segment and mobile technologies business segment. The carrying

amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses)

allocated to these units are as follows:

BAEEANENES  BEEIEE-(EREEELE
L ([REEEENM])  BIENIES LB RES
BOREREHEESBURFHREMEL S
B AEEZSEMZAEREEBE(BINRZE0R
BEEE)NT

2019 2018

—Z=—NhE —E—)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Gamma ray irradiation services segment I35 57 47 FE 5T BR 7S 9 2B — —
Tourism and hospitality business segment i A= SR 185,285 263,165
Mobile technologies business segment FHREMEB DS — 8,510
185,285 271,675
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Impairment tests for goodwill

Gamma ray irradiation services segment

The Group’s goodwill from its gamma ray irradiation services
segment had been fully impaired in prior years.

Tourism and hospitality business segment

As at 31 March 2019, the Group performed an impairment review
for a CGU of tourism and hospitality business segment which was
contributed by We Fly Travel Limited (“We Fly"), with reference
to a valuation carried out by an independent professional valuer.
The recoverable amount of We Fly has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation, which uses a cash flow projection
based on financial forecast approved by management covering
a 5-year period (2018: 10-year period). As at 31 March 2018,
10-year period financial forecast is adopted for We Fly and is
considered appropriate to take into account the growth plans for
the business which is still in the start-up stage. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to cash flow projection is 13.52% (2018: 13.6%)
and cash flow beyond the 5-year period (2018: 10-year period) is
extrapolated using a steady 3% (2018: 3%) per annum growth
rate. The growth rate used does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates. Due to the
fierce competition in on-line ticketing in travel industry and delay
in launching the on-line booking system of hotel rooms, We Fly
cannot meet the performance of financial forecast estimated last
year. After adjusting above factor, the carrying amount of this CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount of HK$77,880,000. Accordingly,
the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill in relating
to the Group’s tourism and hospitality business of approximately
HK$77,880,000 (2018: HK$56,901,000) for the year ended 31
March 2019.

Mobile technologies business segment

As at 31 March 2018, the Group performed an impairment
review for a CGU of mobile technologies business segment which
was contributed by B HER R OFYI) BB AR (Baoli Yota
Technologies (Shenzhen) Limited**) (“Baoli Yota") W|th reference to
a valuation carried out by an independent professional valuer. The
recoverable amount of Baoli Yota has been determined based on
a value-in-use calculation, which uses a cash flow projection based
on financial forecast approved by management covering a 5-year
period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projection
is 15.0% and cash flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated
using a steady 3% per annum growth rate. The growth rate used
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business
in which the CGU operates. The recoverable amount of Baoli Yota
is higher than the carrying amount. The management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the aggregate carrying value of the Baoli Yota to
exceed the recoverable amount. Therefore, no impairment loss on
goodwill in relating to the Group’s mobile technologies business is
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2018.

22.

e MWK M (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EZ =%

—“NEF=ZA=1T—HLEE

e (E)

AR

1175 57 4% A8 57 AR 5553 38

AR B B RIS TR R ST IR TS 5
2 B E AR -

My EER

JRBER G E#E A
RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H AEEC2RHE
VEEMGEMETZHERIRE K EBEE ST
CHREELEBNERKEGRAR([ER])ET
BER - BRIk E &8 hiRE R EEFE
AETE  MEREEFELARBEEEEIEZ
AFH(ZZE—N\F  +FH)UHERETZHR
SREEA RZTE—/\FZF=+—RH &A%
EAEEREMTFEITBIER - mMREBERNE
RVIRRIPE B 2 %75 2 Rt 8l1& - T8 RI Ty
%ﬁ#ﬁ@ = fﬁ%m%ﬁxﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁZ?Rﬁﬁ?ﬁfﬁ??—
B13.52% (ZFE—N\F :13.6%) BBRFH
(ZZ2—\F +FH) 2 REREKA3I% (=ZF
—Ai-m@%iiﬁﬁfﬁﬁ RZREEL

Ui s BB ZERRI T BEREF
ﬁ%ﬁz ARIREER S 2B OB
EEERFE LB AGNTEREL - BREKRER
EFE 2B RIBIEE - Ryt bt EAEEH S
Bk wHEeEAEMZEMESR A KRE S5
77,880,000 7T - AL - REE_ZT—hF=A
—t+—BIFE  ANEEEERDE KR ES
Bz B EERREEIB477,880,000/8 (=&
— \4E : 56,901,000/ 7T) ©

FHRAMELDE
RZE-NF=ZA=+—R0 AEEELRHE
VHEEMBEMETZHERTFRRINEB S EZ

ReELENEHEFHR(RIDARAR(E
NERDETRERS - BHEFZTKRE SR

Dz REEREEEE  MEAEENEER

BREEEMEZ AT RV HEANETZEESR
EBA - -REREBEAMERZBAIITRAER
15.0% @ BB AFH RS MERA3I% BEFIE
REEE - iR eELBULE 2 XBER
ZHEERWITBEREFIERE - EHEFZ
AWESEaSNEEE - EEEMRE  ERZSE
BRZAEIEEHHISEHE NEFZER
BERAATKESE - Bt - REE=T—N\F
Z A=+ —HIEFE - AREEWEREF R
¥ BRE . BERRERE -
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GOODWILL (continued) 22. BHE(E)
Impairment tests for goodwill (continued) EBRERR(E)
Mobile technologies business segment (continued) FRBMEZETE(E)
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the smartphone industry HE-_T-NF=A=+—HIFE  +HBEZsE
in PRC was under great pressure amid the impact of negative FROTEFEDEPEZEFH LD ELBRELA
factors including the United States of America and the PRC trade MEBEREHSMZE - Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ oA B
war coupled with the slowing down of economy in the PRC, and FHT SO EERZHFENTEFHELETF
the saturation of the smartphone market with the retailers having %ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁi’%fﬁﬁ*im%% BMEET /N
excessive inventory all played a part in the poor performance of R B F T35 £ B 2 T R B A 3R R R R i 4
the smartphone market. We have seen smaller smartphone players HRHTIS - Bt BHEREEERAEHEE
being forced to exit the market due to the cut-throat competition TEE S BRI - IR IR A VB R AR R T
in the PRC. As such, the management of Baoli Yota determined Ko AREBEALE  BHEFORRKAR
to switch its business focus on the software development such as HE T )\F=A=+—HIEFEHHAZ ﬁ”ﬂl
internet of things solutions in the future. Due to the change in BENEREENBESELSBNTI - HE
business model, the future income generated by Baoli Yota is not BREEMBEREEERFFHE - B - AR
the same as the CGU arising from step acquisition of Baoli Yota BERBESWEE 7]15%?%&’]@%%?5!5
during the year ended 31 March 2018 which is focused on the UZEHEARATKEEEREE T —NF
research and development and sales of dual screen mobile phone. ZAZT-HALEFERRABERZAEBREDN
Therefore, the management of the Company considered that the 9,316,000/ 7T °
carrying amount of the CGU arising from step acquisition of Baoli
Yota is greater than recoverable amount and goodwill impairment
of approximately HK$9,316,000 have been recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Management determined the budgeted sales and gross BIEEBIREARIR BHMISREZIERNETEIE
margins based on past performance, expectation for the market BRBATHEREERENE - ARTREE
development and planned business strategy. The discount rate used FATHTIR R - [ BRE2 N3G 5T 4R AR BT AR TS - ki &2
is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to gamma ray irradiation TEEEBARFEREMEBERZ SERR -
services, tourism and hospitality business and mobile technologies
business.
INVENTORIES 23. FE
2019 2018
—E-NF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Mobile technologies business FH 27
— Raw materials — R 4,297 29,254
— Work in progress —HEER 2,679 51,175
— Finished goods —8Ipk 5 4,662 9,221
11,638 89,650
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24. EWESKREMIRE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR1E 9,742 42,457

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBIEEIE (806) (34,714)

Trade receivables, net (Note a) FENE S8RIE - SR (Mita) 8,936 7,743

Other receivables H b pEUgBRIA 16,838 62,205

Prepayments and deposit paid TERRIERE RS 12,605 16,617

29,443 78,822

Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note b) B EEBEHIEA D) (2,374) (28,231)
Other receivables, prepayments and deposit paid, net  EH {th fEUBRIE « FB{ 7008 &

Ef&RE O FHE 27,069 50,591

36,005 58,334
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

186

Notes:

(a)

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to 90 days
(2018: 30 days to 180 days) to its trade customers. The following is an
aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses,

presented based on the invoice date:

24. EWESREMIRE(E)

Ha

(a) AEBETHESEL TN FI0REIOKR(ZT
—\F : 30RE180K) Z=EH - LT AENE
ZERYRINERE SEE( EMBREEEEE
HEEREE DT -

2019 2018

—E-hEF —=-)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FETT

0 to 30 days 0Z30Kk 1,433 6,568
31 to 90 days 3190k 2,273 244
91 to 180 days 91% 180K 2,798 —
181 to 365 days 181%365% 2,432 931
8,936 7,743

At 31 March 2019, included in the Group's trade receivables balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,230,000 which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of
the past due balances, approximately HK$2,432,000 has been past
due 90 days or more are not considered as default by considering
the ongoing business relationship, repayment history and expected
future settlement. The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.

At 31 March 2018, the trade receivables are neither past due nor
impaired have the best credit scoring attributable under the internal
credit scoring system used by the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of these balances and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

At 31 March 2018, included in the Group's trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$ 1,175,000 which are past due as at the reporting date for which
the Group has not provided for impairment loss since the amounts are
mainly related to large corporations that have strong financial position
and are considered to have good credit quality so that the balance are

still considered to be fully recoverable.

NZZE-NF=ZA=+—0  AEBENEKE S EEES
BERHRE BB S EMNEREAE4 /435,230,000 T8
FEUTERIE o fEm B SR - EEBRBENEBRRER BN
FOER B HAR R R4S - 492,432,000/ L5 I HE90 K 5k
PAE - SRR R A o REBWE A S ERITE A
IR

RZB-NF=ZA=+—H  EREZRALEBHIR
C ARBRAREE RSN B D R R RERE BT

7o BERBENKR  BIEERR - AR SFERT S RE

BEDBTLE - BERDBERARIERKE o

REZZF-NF=ZA=1+—0  FAEENEBKEZRAEH
BEANREAHCARNREAELR1,17500087TH
FEUERIE - AREEG A RN ERERE  BRA%E
FRIBFRIERABRARE A EEERERFZ KT
2 BEZABDR AT 2EUD -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e M| R E(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 B E —Z—AhE=A=1+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)
At 31 March 2018, the aging analysis of trade receivables which are

past due but not impaired are as follows:

24, EWESREMIRE(E)
Kz - (&)

(a)

(&)
R-ZE-NF=ZA=+—0 B8HETEHRE
ZEWE SEREZ RO

2018

—ZT-N\F

HK$'000

FET

Neither past due nor impaired S 38 B SXOR(E 6,568
Less than 6 months TEl6fE A 1,119
6 months to 1 year 6lEAZE14F 56
7,743

At 31 March 2018, trade receivables of approximately HK$34,714,000
was individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired
receivable mainly related to a customer that was in financial difficulty
due to unfavourable business environment and management assessed

that the receivable was generally not recoverable.

The movements of accumulated impairment loss recognised

inspect of trade receivables are as follows:

RZZF-NF=ZA=1+—H BREZEED
34,714,000/ TTERIEE AT IRIE - BERIRERD
JE U RR TR 3 22 5 T PR A TN M) ) ) 36 3R 05 1 BE 0
BRBRNERRF - BEEERE L RUERE R E
AR E -

BN E S RRMR 2 ReHREBR 2T

2018

—ZT—-N\F

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April HEA—H 35,356
Reversal of impairment losses BENREEE (642)
At 31 March R=A=+—AH 34,714
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

188

(b)

The movements of accumulated impairment losses recognised in
respect of other receivables are as follows:

24,

FEWE 5 K H At fRIR ()
Kzt : (80
(6)  SREFUEERR REDAEHEZZDOT -

2018

—T-NF

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April RUA—H 34,000
Impairment losses recognised B iR EEE 231
Reversal of impairment losses BER AR (6,000)
At 31 March R=A=+—8 28,231

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has made
impairment allowance in full for amount due from certain debtors of
HK$231,000 that was in financial difficulty and generally considered
not be recoverable.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had entered into
an set off agreement with certain debtors and certain creditors with
the amount of HK$11,000,000 in which the other receivable of
HK$6,000,000 was impaired by the Group in previous year. Such
other receivables of HK$6,000,000 is recovered through the set
off agreement, a reversal of impairment losses of approximately
HK$6,000,000 has been recognised in profit or loss. Details of the set
off arrangement are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Detail of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year
ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 7(b).

WEE-F—\F=AZt+—AILEE  A%E
ERELE TEHHRES 2 B5A LRAXK
ToME 2 BIE R MEHR231,0008 7T 2 M IEHR
& o

REBE-T-NF=A=+—HLLFE  ~&EH
BETFEBARE TEEATLEEBE -5
K16 11,000,0005 7T + H#16,000,000% T4
REBEREFFRAE LM EKIRE - %
6,000,000 7T 2 H b fE U AR IE 2 18381 85 1 sk Uk
| - 3 58 5 R B BRL B &5 18 496,000,000
TC o BT HA B RN G A P B RRME32

HE-Z-NF-A-t+ BULFERKES REMHEE
ZRERHEF BRI (b)
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25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. BAFEAEBRZEREE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
—EB—-hE —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed securities held for trading: BIEEBZ ETES !
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LT ZIRAES 778 2,155

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s listed securities of aggregate
carrying amount of HK$759,000 (2018: HK$2,115,000) were
pledged by the Group to secure margin account payable (Note 29) .

RZZE-—NF=ZA=+—H AEEERBESR
759,000 70( =& — \F : 2,115,000 L) 2
MEHCDAAEEELDR  WEREBNFTER
FIE(Mi5E29) »

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. MITHEBRRE
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged from RITHESRIETISFERR0.01EE03ISE(ZZE—N
0.01% t0 0.35% (2018: from 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum. F:0.01%EZE0.35E):HE
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts RITHBEASBETINERE BRI EE
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ functional INEMBEN 2 $F8
currencies:
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
usb i — 3,485
Japanese Yen H 28 27
Malaysian Ringgit SRARIT 2
Russian Ruble e i 1
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following amounts IRITHE R IR BIE T O IMNEE I IR E AR &
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations and not TRAIEAABZ &% !
freely transferable:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts denominated in RMB LAANRE B2 I8 6,248 2,813
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

190

27. BNEZRAMIRE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables (Note a) FERTE ZERE (it a) 85,257 80,656
Other payables and accruals (Note b) E b FETRRTE K ERT SRIB (3L b) 76,726 71,283
Receipt in advance TEWRIA — 4,267
Deposit received (Note c) Bz e (M c) 15,640 15,640
Amounts due to directors (Note d) e EEFIE (At d) 45,078 18,175
Amount due to an associate (Note e) P — S & A RIRIB (fT 5t e) 135,040 69,363
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder FEA — R FEFE IR AR SRR IA (ATt d)
(Note d) 29,306 18,749
387,047 278,133
Notes: et
(a) The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based (a) UTAENEEZEAMRMZN  ENE FEERRD
on the invoice date: #r
2019 2018
S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
0 to 30 days 0&E30K 11,547 41,902
31 to 90 days 31E90K 490 10,629
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 4,634 20,120
181 to 365 days 181% 365K 18,322 3,372
Over 365 days 365K 50,264 4,633
85,257 80,656

The average credit period granted by the trade creditors is 30 to 45

days (2018: 30 to 45 days). —ZT— \4 : 30545K) o

BORARBARTZ FHEERN F30245K

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s other payables and (b) R-EBE—NE=A=+—0  NEEHEMENE

accruals are consideration payable with aggregated carrying amount
of HK$35,035,000 (equivalent to USD4,500,000) in relation to Second
Acquisition of Yota (Note 21). The consideration payable is fully
settled during the year ended 31 March 2019.

TN EETRIERIE AR Yota s — UK 88 = 1B (K
F$21)2 AR E(ER | 4 8 /35,035,000
JC(#H%74,500,000%7T) - BNREREBEE=-Z
—NE=ZA=+—ALFERELEE -
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(]

As at 31 March 2019, USD2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,640,000) (2018: USD2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,640,000)) was received from an employee of the Group
(the “Employee”) as a deposit for the Proposed Disposal (as defined

below).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group and the Employee
entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which the
Group conditionally agreed to sell and the Employee conditionally
agreed to buy 10% equity interest in Yota at a consideration of
USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,460,000) (the
“Proposed Disposal”).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Employee shall
provide or shall procure all necessary assistance to the Group in
obtaining financing on terms favorable to the Group for the purpose
of paying the royalty fee required to be paid under the intellectual
property license agreement.

The Directors are of the opinion that the consideration of
USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,460,000) for the
Proposed Disposal was arrived at after arm’s length negotiation.

As at the date of this annual report, the completion conditions has
not been satisfied and the Proposed Disposal has not been completed.
However, neither the Group and the Employee have exercised their
rights to terminate the Proposed Disposal.

The amount(s) due to directors/a non-controlling shareholder are
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The amounts due
to directors are non-trade in nature and the amounts due to a non-
controlling shareholder is both trade and non-trade in nature.

27. BNEZRAMKREGE)
Wit : (80

(]

RZE—AFE=A=+—0 AEEHHE %R
B([#% % & 8])4Y H12,000,000% (48 &
#915,640,0007% 7T ) (=% —/\4F : 2,000,0003% 7T
(S 4915,640,000/ 7)) « tEAE#FLEEE

(EERATX)2EE -
RBE-_Z-NA=ZA=+—BLLFE  ~&E
HZARERBIALES S B AKEAEK

HREHEMZEBEEBKRHEREEE Yotaz
10% RE ANz - AR 1B /53,000,0003% T (HBERE
23,460,000/ 70) ([BEHEEE]) -

RIBEEF W - ZBEBAONEERERRE
b AAAREERE—IFHE - UL IRE
HMBEEREDRAINZ ENEEREGTIE
FRAEEZBE -

EERR - EHENESAZNES000,000%T
(FEEE704)23,460,000/8 7T ) THAS A T REBERL »

RAFREHE - ERIGHILRER R BERDE
FEA MK - R - AERERZLBREEHET
EHKIPERNEREZEN -

ENES—ZIFERERRAREER 28
REEREE - BNEFHRARFESHIEE A
e — & IFEBRERFRRE SRR S ML -

The amount due to an associate represent royalty fee payable, which (e) B —EBEARIEREENENES - AEIR
is unsecured, carried interest rate of the 1-year People’s Bank of China - RPEARBIT—FEHEER R INSE (HEF
Benchmark rate, plus 5% but not more than 12% per annum, and FERERBB12E )T B R EEREE -
repayable on demand.
Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts (f) ENESNEMEEAIETINEEERINES
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ functional HLANEE BB £
currencies:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\FE
’000 ‘000
Fr Fir
usD ESi¥ 19,555 15,715
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. AHEE

31 March 1 April
2019 2018
—E-NhEF —ZT-N\F
=HA=+-—H mA—A*
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Current nE
Sales of mobile phone THE T 469 4,267
* The amounts in this column are after adjustments from the application * Ay &EEERESMEHREERF 1558

of HKFRS 15.

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current and non-
current liabilities based on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer
goods or services to the customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current year relates to carried forward contract liabilities and
how much relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in
prior periods.

EEHEH AR Z S8 -

ERARERATEFPERERIRBZERET -
BT ERAKEZ EREERANEEZEH
BEIBERRBIIERBAE -

TRETNAFEERZZ DR a s B8 za
NaBERZLREPERZABMERTZEOE
& o

Sales of
mobile phones
and related
products
SHEFHR
HEER
HK$°000
FHET

Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a sale contract is cancelled
and the deposit of approximately HK$2,859,000 received by the
Group is reclassified from contract liabilities to other payables.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of mobile phone

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives
a deposit ranged from 10% to 50% of the sales amount on
acceptance of the engagements.

192

RETFABHBESHRZ CHER RS

1,408

REBEE-_ZT-AF=A=+—HILEE  #HESE
HEBUE B AEBIEL 124 492,859,000 L H
ABEENHEAHENIEE -

FEERZANABSRZARNTIERAT

HEFH
EAKEREEZDRBZAKIURER » i
RENFERELANEE  EEsERENE
RBZWHBBREZTHE - AREBERENE
FERFUCER T F-EHEZE10% £50% 2 R & o
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29. BROKEMEE

2019 2018
—T-hE —Z-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current RE
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) HRITEE — BEA(Hita) — 9,621
Margin account payable (Note b) FERFFREBR P SR IE (A2 D) 39,214 36,179
Other borrowings — unsecured (Notes d, e & f) HMEE — \ER(fitd e kf) 160,681 152,837
Placing notes (Note c) B &SRB (At c) 10,000 —
209,895 198,637
Non-current IERE
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) RITEE BEIR(Hta) 9,238 —
Placing notes (Note c) B &SRB (Hiitc) 19,657 29,083
28,895 29,083
Total bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEERE 238,790 227,720
The Group's borrowings were payable as follows: REE 2 EEER T 5 HEERE
2019 2018
—E-AF —E)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET Fi#T
Bank borrowing repayable ERTHIBMER ZRITIEE
Within one year —FR — 9,621
After one year but within two years —FRERWER 234 —
After two years but within five years MEREREFER 9,004 —
9,238 9,621
Other borrowings repayable ER THIEREE 2 EMEE
Within one year —FR 209,895 189,016
After two years but within five years MEFEREREFA 19,657 29,083
229,552 218,099
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R EAME B 485 238,790 227,720
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

194

Notes:

(a)

V)

*x

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowing is secured by the entire
equity interests of Ji 18 FI|JR = FH#E B 1T A R A & (Zibo Liyuan
Gamma Ray Technologies Co. Limited**) (“Zibo Liyuan”), a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, including leasehold
buildings and land use right (Notes 19 and 20). The bank borrowing is
mature on 7 September 2018, carries fixed interest rate of 5.7% per
annum and fully settled during the year ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group obtained another
bank borrowing which is secured by the entire equity interests of Zibo
Liyuan, including leasehold buildings and land use right (Notes 19 and
20). The bank borrowing will be mature on 2 September 2020 and
carries fixed interest rate of 5.15% per annum.

Margin account payable is secured by certain listed securities held
by the Group (Note 25) and carry interest at prime rate plus 3% per
annum.

On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing agreement
(the 2013 Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the “Placing
Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to place, through
the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, the placing notes up to an
aggregate amount of HK$300,000,000 to be issued by the Company
in the denomination of HK$2,000,000 each (the “Placing Notes”) to
independent third parties. Pursuant to the 2013 Placing Agreement,
the Placing Notes carry interest at 5% per annum and are to be
redeemed on the seventh anniversary from the respective issue dates
of the Placing Notes. The Company may early redeem in whole the
Placing Notes at a redemption price equal to the principal amount
together with accrued interest after the third anniversary date from
the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes.

On 15 August 2014, the Company and the Placing Agent renewed
the placing period and agreed to place the notes in the remaining
principal amount of up to HK$280,000,000. Details of the placing and
the renewal were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 20
August 2013 and 15 August 2014 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company issued
placing notes to two placees with aggregate principal amount
of HK$20,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company issued placing notes to another placee with aggregate
principal amount of HK$10,000,000. The placing notes carried at
amortised cost and the effective interest rate ranged from 5.9% to
6.9% per annum.

As detailed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group defaulted on the repayment of the interest on Placing Notes
on their respective due dates during the year ended 31 March 2019.
One creditor had taken legal actions against the Company to recover
the placing note with principal amount of HK$10,000,000 and
outstanding interests of approximately HK$1,264,000.

Included in other borrowings of HK$27,706,000 (2018:
HK$27,706,000) represent loans from an independent third party.
The other borrowings are mature on 15 August 2018, unsecured and
carry fixed interest rate of 12% per annum.

Included in other borrowings of HK$121,248,000 (equivalent
to RMB103,690,000) (2018: HK$125,131,000 (equivalent to
RMB100,145,000)) represent loans from an independent third party.
The loan is mature on 27 March 2019, unsecured and carry interest
rate of the People’s Bank of China Benchmark Rate.

Included in other borrowings of HK$11,727,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,029,000) represent loans from an independent third party
during the year ended 31 March 2019. The loan is mature on 31
March 2019, unsecured and carry fixed interest rate of 5% per
annum.

For identification purpose only

29. SITRHEMEE(E)

(a)

V)

* %k

R-Z-NF=ZA=1—H  RITEEURRF
ZH2EMBRAEBMRSFHREREMERA
A(DEBAMIRD 2 EAER(REAEETRL
S5 P VEHE AR (P RE19/%20) » SRITIEER -2
—NFNALREIE  REFEFFERSTEFER
RBE-ZT-NF=A=+—RILFEFTEHESE -

HE-ZZT-NWF=ZA=+—AILtFE  KEEE
BR—RTHEE - HUSERR2 TR (R
ERERF R+ b E AR (EEIR (FIEE191%20) »
BITEEBR S _SFNA B RBYREE
FERES ASEF S o

JERFFRIES REAASEMAF 2B T EHES
TEIEAR (MIRE25) @ MEEEENEMIEFE

RZT—=F/N\A=+AH AArE—FEE
RE((EEREDITVEEHA(T=Z—=
BEwZE]) Bt - ARFRIREBBESNKE
RENEERERARNABTFTETLACLERES
300,000,000/% 7t & G5 E 162,000,000 7T,2
REZR((REZEERDTFEIFE=F - RE=-F
—=FREHE  BERIRRFFRSETE - I
BREBEENREER 2 ETANRTECAFE
B o KRB AR B BMHEE SRR 2 %7 A BB
EZRFAERUBERN RS EEREAFEZ
EEERAESELRE R -

R-Z—mWENA+RA  KARAFERER
BEEAREH TRAEREEHR TASEES
280,000,000/ T2 2 - AL ESARERS
BRHE PRERARRBSHAZT—=FN\
AZ+AR=ZT—HFNAT+REZASE -

RBE-_Z-ME=ZA=+—ALFE &R
AAMABRIEAZITRERE  XeBEA
20,000,000/87C - REE-_T—AF=A=+—
ALEFE AREIAS —RBERABITEESR
1 - RS 48%8 /510,000,000 7T o A =i iRk
SHAARSIBR RIRERR F R RS 9EF6.9ET B ©

MANER A B R MG 34RREAL - BE—T N
FZRA=1+—BILFE FEEHREERERE
BREIAANMNE - —BERARHAQRR
BUER1TENLABEIZNE 510,000,000 7T 2 B &
FIE X #91,264,0008 T2 REEFS

Hib g E¥E27,706,0008 T (=F— )\ F :
27,706,000 70 ) M — BB B = HEELZ B °
HMEER=Z—N\FEN\A+HBEH AEEK
WRIZEEFFER12ETE ©

Hib g Ea1E121,248,0005 T (FBERARE
103,690,0007T ) (=% —/\4 : 125,131,000 7T
(M ARKE100,145,00070)) [ — R BIE=
FRBZzER - BRR-_ZT—AF=A=++tA8
ZHY - BEINIR R B A RBITEEREG B o

RERE-_SE-NEFZA=+—RHLFE  Hipfd
B 811,727,000/ T (FHE5 54 AR #10,029,000
TR EBUE=ZFERZER - BERR_Z
—“NE=ZRA=1+—HFE  AEEARKETF
FKSBETE ©

EHHEF)
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

30. JEERIIE

REVGEFBHRNE - BHEEE TELEHIAE
EREE - UTAEPHSRS BN ZIRLERALS
RO

2019 2018

—E-AF —E)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Deferred tax assets RERIEE = 2,524 —
Deferred tax liabilties BEERIBRE (30) (30)
2,494 (30)

Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and
movement thereon during the current and prior years:

ERBBEHEAERE BURERAER BB
L2 R -

Accelerated
ECL tax
provision Tax loss  depreciation Others Total
AHEE itk
R BEBE RS Hity st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2017 R-Z—tFMA—A - - (30) (1,745) (1,775)
Exchange adjustments [ 5 A% — — — (76) (76)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) FABRRMEIZ) — — — 1,821 1,821
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NE=ZA=+—H — — (30) — (30)
Adjustment (Note 3) BEMH3) 2 — — — 22
At 1 April 2018 (Restated) RZT—/\FMHA—B(EE5) 2 — (30) — ®)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) SABRRMHI3) 13 2,489 — — 2,502
At 31 March 2019 R-E-hE=A=1+-H 35 2,489 (30) — 2,494

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$567,046,000 (2018: approximately
HK$504,639,000), part of which has not yet been agreed with the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset of approximately HK$2,489,000
(2018: HKS$Nil) in relation to the unused tax loss of approximately
HK$15,085,000 (2018: HK$Nil) has been recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of approximately
HK$551,961,000 (2018: approximately HK$504,639,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

RZZE—NAEFE=A=+—8  AEEATHEMNE
Hw Az KRB AR 18 40 4567,046,00078 7T

ZZ—\4F : #9504,639,000 7T) + A SLEN
AEBBATHRRAE - AEBZEEMBMRR
KEBEABARIEEL15,085,000%8 (=
T—N\F T MRIELERTEE E 42,489,000
BIT(ZE—N\F THT) - ARTREET AR
FIPRIR - B At 52 S5 E518551,961,000/8 70
—E— \4F : 49504,639,000/5 70 ) R IR RS 18
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30.

31.
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DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

30. EERIE(E)
R-ZE—NE=B=+—8 *BBEBEESE

Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2019 were

losses of approximately HK$184,598,000 (2018: approximately

HK$80,271,000) that would expire in five years and the remaining

balance would not expire under the current tax legislation.

BIEEIBH184,598,0008 T (—E— )\F : 4
80,271,000% L) « IRIEMITBMBE - HBERE
FRRE R T ESRITEREA o

SHARE CAPITAL 31. B&
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
BRROEE ROHE kx|
HKS 000 HK$ 000
BT T FET
Ordinary shares: LR
Authorised: i
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE—+FMA—R 25— N\&
ZA=T-BRZZ-N\F
MA—H 0.01 65,000,000 650,000
Share consolidation (Note d) BB E B (A d) N/A (58,500,000) -
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—-H 0.10 6,500,000 650,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAE
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMHA—H 0.01 34,086,440 340,864
Issuance of shares for the acquisition of a subsidiary FLUEE — R B A BB TR
(Note a) (Bizta) 0.01 418,605 4186
RIEM D BRI TR
Issuance of shares under share award scheme (Note b) (Biztb) 0.01 126,840 1,268
Issuance of shares for the further acquisition of an HE—PWE-EHELR
associate (Note ¢) BRI (Bt c) 0.01 593,246 5933
At 31 March 2018 R-_E-\F=A=t-H 0.01 35,225,131 352,251
Share consolidation (Note d) Bt &6 (At d) N/A (31,702,618) -
Issuance of shares for the further acquisition of an HE-SYE AL AT
associate (Note ¢) BIIRG (Hitc) 0.10 25,425 2,543
Issuance of shares under Share award scheme RER G RENREIRTRA
(Note b) (Hib) 0.10 90,290 9,029
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=R=1+—-H 0.10 3,638,228 363,823
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

On 26 January 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Fine Sky Developments Limited, as purchaser, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party, as
vendor, to acquire 75% equity interest of We Fly, which is engaged
in the business of travel agent, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$300,000,000, subject to profit guarantee and adjustments on
consideration (the “Conditions”). The consideration shall be satisfied
by allotment and issue of 1,395,348,837 new shares of the Company
at an issue price of HK$0.215 per share to the vendor or her

nominees.

The Conditions are fulfilled on 8 May 2017, 418,604,651
ordinary shares of the Company, with aggregate nominal value of
approximately HK$4,186,000, were issued and allotted for settlement
of the second tranche of consideration shares in relation to the
acquisition of a subsidiary. Details of the acquisition were set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 26 January 2017, 31
March 2017 and 8 May 2017, respectively.

On 28 March 2018, the Company had issued and allotted
126,840,000 ordinary shares, with aggregate nominal value of
HK$1,268,000 to the trustee of the share award scheme for the
purpose of granting awarded shares to the participants under the
share award scheme. On 15 October 2018, the Company had issued
and allotted 90,290,000 ordinary shares, with aggregate nominal
value of HK$9,029,000 to 8 Selected Employees (defined in Note 36)
granted under the share award scheme. Details are set out in Note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

On 29 March 2018, 593,246,187 ordinary shares of the Company,
with aggregate nominal value of approximately HK$5,933,000,
were issued and alloted for settlement of the first tranche of the
consideration shares in relation to the Second Acquisition. On 26
September 2018, 25,424,836 ordinary shares of the Company, with
aggregate nominal value of approximately HK$2,543,000, were issued
and alloted for settlement of the second tranche of the consideration
shares in relation to the Second Acquisition. Details are set out in Note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the special general
meeting of the Company held on 2 August 2018, the share
consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued ordinary
shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.01 per share have
been consolidated into one consolidated share with par value of
HK$0.10 per share (the “Consolidated Share”). The Consolidated
Shares rank pari passu in all respects with each other and the share
consolidation have been effective on 3 August 2018.

ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31 March 2019 and

2018 ranked pari passu with the existing ordinary shares in all respects.

31.
Mt -
(a)

A= (#48)

RZZ—tF—A=Z+XA  XARNEENE
/AT Fine Sky Developments Limited (fF A& J7)
BEEVE=ZS(EREN I LERHE - X
300,000,000 TMEREBRBEERGZARTKE
BRITHEE75) 75% B ARAE - /B BEFIR BRI R
EEREFELAR(ZEGY] - REABBIZ
BRARG0.2158B T EITER T sk R E AR
% 12 %%971,395,348,837 R AN A AR (9 Y 77 T i
s

ZERHERZ_Z—FRANBERRE °
418,604,651 ARABIEAR(EEENA
4,186,000 7T) Y A#EEEWE—BHEARAE
FANE_HRERMMBETRER - WESRE
NHBIREIRAARIBHAE-ZT—+F—A
—+XB - +tFZA=+—HER-ZT—+
FRANBZRE -

RZZ—NEFE=A=+/\H  A2aIR&H%EE
SHElZ EEATTT A3 126,840,000/ & 3 A%
(#211E1,268,00078 L) + LAMIAD SEEDFTH & 2 2
HmERERERD - R=T—-N\F+A+REA -
RN BB BT KA RIE R RE T B A
90,290,0000% ¥ i % (#2 E {E9,029,0007% 7T) 78
ZRFREE (EHERMFE36) o FFBEERGEAYH
RERMITE36 ©

RZZE—NF=A=+NH 593,246,187 A
A EE R (AE{E45,933,0000870) 8 F 31T R
fog - LUBEE_WEEE 2 E—HRERS -
RZZT—\FNB=+7"H ' 25,424,836 AR
Al BN (M{EL2,543,00087TC) 8 FE1TRE
o UEEE_WESBEZE _HRERD - ¥
TR A BTSRRI TE21 ©

BRERARBAR =T N\FN\AZBRTHER
FRIAZ BB EBREER  ROHAIHIZESI0H
BERTRABTARFEBR(AELST RN
0.0 L) A RI1RA M (MERSREN
0108 7T) (ARG ) 2 EEHET - AHHRNE
METERLEFERS#AARNAHEN-F
—NEFENA=ZBER -

REE-Z-NFR-F-N\F=ZA=1+—HILFERNE
TZHEEBEERETHHERA LRRZARSEES -

197




I china Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited S EIE h R IZRARA F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

REMB®RRME(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE=ZZ—NF=A=+—HLFE

32.

33.

34.

198

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

On 5 December 2017, Century Crest Limited, Oceanic Eagle
Limited, Silver Wind International Limited, Oceanic Horizon Limited,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, Star Sail Investments
Limited, an investee company of the Company, and an independent
third party (the “Parties”) entered into a set off agreement,
pursuant to which the Parties agreed to offset the amounts due to
each others. After the offset, the Group’s certain other payables
of approximately HK$11,000,000 was set off against with the
certain other receivables (including but not limited to consideration
receivable of HK$5,000,000 arise from disposal of available-for-sale
financial asset).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs capped at HK$ 1,500
(2018: HK$1,500) per month to MPF scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the payroll cost to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

For the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019, the amounts
of contributions recognised by the Group are approximately
HK$ 1,388,000 and HK$1,328,000, respectively.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(1) In April 2016, the Company completed a placing pursuant to
the terms of the placing agreement with a placing agent and
allotted and issued 25,000,000,000 new shares to various
placees (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the terms of the placing
agreement, each placee undertook to the Company that the
shares issued and allotted to it under the Placing would be
subject to a lock-up period of 24 months from the date of
allotment and issue of such shares.

33.

34.

FEIRERS

RZE—tF+-ARH  ARAIZ2EWER
AR BPR AT - Oceanic Eagle Limited - Silver
Wind International Limited } Oceanic Horizon
Limited + N2 &) Z % & ¥ 5 Star Sail Investments
Limited BE—%BLE=FH (518 757 DEIIE
HiE - B STASHTREEBERLERES
ZBRIE o fCHKEETE - R E4911,000,000% T2
ETHEMEMNKRREE TEMERERBE(RER
PROEE]HEE S REENES 2 EBURRE
5,000,000/ 7T ) #3H °

BBEFREE
REEBRHRACERBEREREMITARE S
ZoFrECEERAEBCEESH - XA
2l KA - AEBEFEAMBESHEIH#
T T ERARS% » FIRA1,5008 T (=%
—\4F : 1,500/ 70) - ERHEREESEE -

AEBUATE 2B ARIES R EBFEE
ZERERZERNBHFEIKE - FREZHER
AAFRRENFBRETERA—EA AL Z
T URBENEHRED - REEBRRNKE
FEHE 2 ME— BT RRIEE BEPTRR 2 46 -

HE_Z—\EE_Z—NFZA=+—8LHF
B AEEERZHZRESED R A#1,388,0007%
7T} 1,328,0005 7T ©

RARBIAEE

(1) RZZ—ARFWNA  AREREHE—FRE
IR 2 B S e 2 R Thk — BB -
17 % % A g Afic % K %7725,000,000,0004%
Sk (TEEEFHE]) - BERSHH K
& FRARABARRERE  FIREES
FIEEHTRER 2RO BZBRRBZER
PECEE R ETT AR 24E A 2 8 -
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34. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

@)

(continued)

In May 2016, three placees under the Placing were found to
have breached their lock-up undertakings to the Company
under the Placing by pledging their shares to two lenders
as security for loans. An interlocutory injunction order (the
“Injunction Order”) was obtained by the Company from
the High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) on 27 May
2016, which was subsequently continued by a court order
given on 3 June 2016, restraining the three placees from
breaching the lock-up undertakings by, among other things,
directly or indirectly selling, mortgaging, charging, pledging,
hypothecating, lending, granting or selling any option,
warrant, contract or right to purchase, transferring, disposing
of, creating any right over, or agreeing or offering to do
any of the aforesaid in relation to the 1,667 million shares
allotted and issued to them under the Placing until trial or
further order. Further details of the court orders are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 29 May 2016
and 7 June 2016. The two lenders then took out applications
in the Court in June 2016 and July 2016 respectively seeking
declarations that they are beneficially entitled to the shares
being the subject matter of the Injunction Order and later
for variation of the Injunction Order to the effect that those
shares shall no longer be the subject matter of the Injunction
Order. The three placees disputed the contention that the
lenders are the beneficial owners of the shares and legal
proceedings regarding the ownership of those shares were
brought in foreign jurisdictions. On 12 June 2017, the Court
ordered that one of the lenders’ application be adjourned
pending the decision of the legal proceedings in foreign
jurisdiction and the other lender’s application be dismissed
with costs to the Company. The lockup period has already
expired in April 2018 and the Injunction Order has been
automatically discharged upon expiry of the lock-up period.
As at the date of this annual report, the litigation is still in
progress against the three placees for their breach of the
lock-up undertakings.

34. FHFDRJAREE(E)

M

(%)
RZZE—XNFRA W ZREEEH AR
AWERAMBERABREEZBRMIE
REFZEHR BEERBSEREES
FIETMEARRQAEHIEERR R
—E-XRNFRAA=-+tH ARQRREHE
EXERERR (AR DB L 2 REEH S
(IZEH2] HEBR-_T— X F A=A
B Z A i 24 ) - RElZ =R AR A
T REERG( ERheE) B fE
SHE IR 1R - EHF I 5 8
B RERSRBEREFEEREREITY
1,667,000,0008% A% 5 + sk¥% sk tH & % &
ZERD 2 EAIERE - RARERE - A4
BEE - RS RERERD 2R
B BABT EMAMNSFIE  EEFEASE
— L AL AR 2#E—FEEEN
ARRBHA-_Z—XFRA-_TNLBE=
T—RNENALAZRAER - ZMEERA
HE R ZE—A"FRNARZE—RFt
ARVERBEREE S HEARHSSIRNZ
EmfA A - EMEBEBENEGS - %
ERHTBEIREH RG] - Z=FBREAR
HERABZSERNH 2 ESHEBAZER -
WHSESN LA IR B B SR HE
2FEERF - R-E—+EXAT-H &
Ra2iGEF —2ERAZBBHE S5
BINELERER ZEREFEA  MB—EE
RAZ PFE I E - BAQNRESRE -
SBEMER T \FHAER - MEH<S
EREEHERE BB - RAFHRA
B ZFAMDER R R EAEME = 8K
Ao AHETT ©
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34.

35.
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LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(continued)

(2)  On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent. Pursuant to the 2013
Placing Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at 5% per
annum and are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary
from the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes. (Note
29(0))

The Company defaulted on the repayment of the interest on
Placing Notes on their respective due dates during the year
ended 31 March 2019. One creditor had taken legal actions
against the Company to recover the debts. The total debts
amount which includes the principal of HK$10,000,000
and outstanding interests of approximately HK$ 1,264,000
became due immediately.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2011, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme") which will expire on 21 August 2021.
The primary purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or reward to the eligible persons for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group. Under
the Share Option Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the Board may at its discretion offer to any eligible employee,
director, consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the
Group options to subscribe for shares in the Company. Such offer
shall be opened for acceptance on a day specified in the letter of
grant which shall be no longer than 30 days from the date of the
letter of grant. The share options shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted and taken effect when the duplicate letter of
grant is signed by the eligible person and returned to the Company
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 for
each acceptance of grant of the share options.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, which shall be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date of
offer, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

34.

HARHREEE)

2 R-Z—=F/\A-+H ARAFE—ZK
ERIEIVERERZ - BE-T—=FfE&
s MERERFFERSES - WHER
AREZESAC B TR S RATE
[ o (FfF3E29(c))

REE-ZTE-—NEF=-A=1+—HILEFER
ZEHEHA  AAREREERE TS
B —RERACEH AR BIRERIERF
A EIET - BB ERIE LA
410,000,000 T K 4 R EE 2 7 24
1,264,000/ 7T °

35. IR AERTE

RZZ——FNA=+=8  ARERMER =
E-—FN\A -+ —HEH B2 ([ B
EEHE D - BREFASZEIEENERAEER
ATHEEEAEB 2 BRI R EB A EE NG 2
TS D REHBRRE - REBERETE LT
HAIGR MR FIR - RS A RS R AR B
SEREER EF BH - KRB HfHER TP
FABHREZRHAITREARAD AR 2 BRE -
BRRESNEHRMHEE 2 BB (TEREH &
fFAHIREET 30 B ) AT A - BRI RIAES
BERATHRZERREARR  UREATREH
BIRERMAQRIERET  BREMRRACE
BB A R AR o

THREHEEETE  BTERATEEZES
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time
(the “Overriding Limit").

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes shall not exceed in aggregate 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding Limit, the Company
may refresh the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that
the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the date of
shareholders’ approval of the refreshment.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes to any eligible person in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue, unless a shareholders’ approval has been
obtained.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors. Where share options are proposed to be granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director,
or any of their respective associates, and the grant would result in
the aggregate of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of offer of the relevant share options to
(i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of issued
shares for the time being; and (ii) have an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the
proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders
in general meeting with the connected persons abstaining from
voting in favour.

35. AR RESHEI(E)

BRI AR 92 B P A 5 28 R AR ] B A R B H R ADoK AT
BZAMBRARITEERRIRRBEREETE
MABERTT 2R EH - ERRZTBBBAR
AN BTN AR Z30% ([He LR )

R BB A 5T B AL T B AR ST 8RB 2 PR
BREEITEM A BT 2RO BHAFT TS
B BCRHLERB R B8 A A AR 2 BTN
ZEZ10% ([ BIRELR]) - ZRN&
BLER ARFAEBNRRAG LEBREE
BRBREHBREASIRELR - EEEHZ
B EREELRIGEEN R EEHE
B 23T ARZ10% °

BB ERRRALESN - R+ (B A R AR R EE
BRI R ERMEMA SRR TEMAERBA
TZEREMSRZEBEITRETETRNDK
B RZNMSEBEARFEETRNEEZ1% -

BYARBZESE  BRTBABRETEZRRRK
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BHEAILENEBAICETABETEBA
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 35. IR AERT8I(48)
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the BRENESSET 2 BE (5858 BRUE
Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined by B REE M ARET 5 ) NIRERIERER S 2
the Board (which shall not be more than 10 years commencing on ERITE - BEFSRITEEIN » WERFEATT
the date on which the share option is granted and accepted). Unless BRIV B EERE R AR - XARABRK
otherwise determined by the Board, there is no minimum period RACHEFSIRPELUEMR - BREAEER
for which a share option must be held before it can be exercised. PN B BBt T F BRI A B AR -

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or
the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on its date of adoption.

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options TEREBEZREEFMFA ZAQRBRERIE
held by Directors and employees and movements in the share BRI IR 2 BREZ B

options granted under the Share Option Scheme:

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-—Z—NF=A=+—HLFE
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date of price per at 1 April during at 31 March
Grantee grant share Exercisable Period 2018 the year 2019
RZB-N% R=B-N%
mA-H =A=+-AH
ERA RiHEH BRITRE A{TRHH AT ERER HRATR
HK$
BT
Directors
EZ
Chu WeiNing 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 300,000,000 (300,000,000) —
NEH=E ZERE Ay =
~AZTEA Z2-\FRAZTiA
Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 200,000,000 (200,000,000) -
Bk ZZRE R RERAZTHEE
ANAZTEA ZE-\FRAZTRE
Employees 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 200,500,000 (200,500,000) —
B8 ZERE 0239 ZZ—"FRAZTHHEZE
~NAZTEA Z2-\FRAZTiA

700,500,000 (700,500,000) —

Exercisable at the end of the year —

RELATHR

Weighted average contractual life N/A
METFHEHEH TER
Weighted average exercise price 0.239 0.239 —
IETHTEE
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

35. BRETEI(E)

HEZZ-N\EF=ZA=+—HILFE

Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date of price per at 1 April during at 31 March
Grantee grant share  Exercisable Period 2017 the year 2018
Rt RZZE-NE
A—B =A=+-AH
EREA BB BRTEE ATRER HALTER FRRU HALTER
HK$
BT
Directors
%
Chu WeiNing 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 300,000,000 — 300,000,000
EE —TRE ZBERACTERE
~NAZTEA ZE-\ERAZTRE
Yeung Chun Wai, Anthony 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 200,000,000 — 200,000,000
BikE i3 “Z-RERAZTtAZE
~AZTEA ZZ-\FRAZTRA
Employees 27 June 2016 0.239 27 June 2016 - 26 June 2018 200,820,000 (320,000) 200,500,000
B8 “ERE ZE-R"ERRAZTtAZE
~NAZTEA ZE-\ERAZTRE
700,820,000 (320,000) 700,500,000
Exercisable at the end of the year 700,500,000
REEATE
Weighted average contractual life 0.24 year
MEFHEHES 0245
Weighted average exercise price 0.239 0.239 0.239

EFafEE
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated at
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (the
“Model"), taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Details of the fair values of share options
determined at the date of grant using the Model with significant
variables and assumptions are as follows:

35. BRESE(E)
PIT HH A B AR 8 B 2 B i B X B R R HE H B3
VARA 0 7o &F B B B4 (B AR Y ([ a2 88 ) fhat
W BB BB B 2 RN S T - BRI
REHAMUZEAEEZ A TEREREER
BRERFBEWT

Date of share
options grant
27 June 2016

B AER L B

ZE—RF

ANA=t+tH

Exercise price (HK$) T ECET) 0.239
Dividend yield % B 0%
Expected volatility T8 B IR 52.61% — 63.90%
Risk-free interest rate ERER TR 0.248% — 0.292%

Expected life of option (year)
Closing share price at grant date (HK$)

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate historical
volatility of closing prices of the share of the Company in the
past one year immediately before the date of grant, reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The risk-free
interest rate represents the yields to maturity of respective Hong
Kong Exchange Fund Note as at the share options grant date. The
expected life of the options are based on the historical data and are
not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into the

measurement of fair value.

204

TR A U (F)
Ei Az i W ECET)

0.79-1.01
0.224
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 15 January 2018 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company has
adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), in
which the employees selected by the Board for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Employee(s)”) will be entitled
to participate and pursuant to which awards will be satisfied by (i)
new shares to be allotted and issued to the trustee appointed by
the Company for the purpose of the trust, and initially, Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”) under a General
Mandate or Specific Mandate, or (ii) existing shares to be acquired
by the Trustee from the market, the costs of which will be borne by
the Company, and the shares of which will be held on trust by the
Trustee for the Selected Employees before vesting.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions by certain employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
in accordance with the scheme rules, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the scheme rules and
the trust deed dated 15 January 2018 entered into between the
Company and the Trustee (the “Trust Deed"”). The Trustee shall hold
the funds and properties held under the trust and managed by the
Trustee for the benefit of the employees (other than the excluded
employees) (the “Trust Fund”) in accordance with the terms of the
Trust Deed.

During the term of the Share Award Scheme, the Board may,
from time to time, at its absolute discretion select any employee
(other than any excluded employee) to be a Selected Employee and
grant an award to such Selected Employee at no consideration in
accordance with the scheme rules. No award shall be granted by
the Board to Selected Employees and no instructions to acquire
any shares shall be given by the Board to the Trustee pursuant to
the scheme rules where dealings in the shares are prohibited under
any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all applicable laws
from time to time.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Where any grant of awarded shares is proposed to be made to any
Selected Employee who is a director (including an independent non-
executive director), such grant must first be approved by all the
members of the remuneration committee, or in the case where the
grant is proposed to be made to any member of the remuneration
committee of the Company, by all of the other members of the
remuneration committee of the Company.

In the event that the grant of an award to any connected person of
the Company constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company shall comply
with the applicable reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements.

Subject to the scheme rules, the Board shall determine from time
to time such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for an award
to be vested. Prior to the vesting date, any award made hereunder
shall be personal to the Selected Employee to whom it is made and
shall not be assignable and no Selected Employee shall in any way
sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in
favour of any other person over or in relation to the awarded shares
referable to him/her pursuant to such award.

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee is found to be an excluded employee or is deemed to
cease to be an employee, the relevant award made to such Selected
Employee shall automatically lapse forthwith and the relevant
awarded shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date but shall
remain part of the Trust Fund.

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a Selected
Employee dies or retires by agreement with a member of the Group,
all the awarded shares of the relevant Selected Employee shall be
deemed to be vested on the day immediately prior to his/her death
or the day immediately prior to his/her retirement with the relevant
member of the Group.

The Board may at its discretion, with or without further conditions,
grant additional shares or cash award out of the Trust Fund
representing all or part of the income or distributions (including
but not limited to cash income or dividends, cash income or net
proceeds of sale of non-cash and non-scrip distribution, bonus
shares and scrip dividends) declared by the Company or derived
from such awarded shares during the period from the date of award
to the vesting date to a Selected Employee upon the vesting of any
awarded shares. Subject to such discretion of the Board, a Selected
Employee shall not have any interest or rights (including the right to
receive dividends) in the awarded shares prior to the vesting date.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

A Selected Employee shall have no rights in the cash in the Trust
Fund which has not been applied in the acquisition of any shares (the
“Residual Cash”) or shares or such other Trust Fund or properties
held by the Trustee.

No instructions shall be given by a Selected Employee (including
without limitation to voting rights) to the Trustee in respect of
the awarded shares that have not been vested, and such other
properties in the Trust Fund managed by the Trustee. The Trustee
shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares held
under the Trust.

The Board shall not make any further grant of awards which will
result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the
tenth (10th) anniversary date of the Adoption Date; and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board, provided
that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
Selected Employee under the Share Award Scheme.

On 26 January 2018, the Board has resolved to award an aggregate
of 1,030,540,000 awarded shares to 38 Selected Employees under
the Share Award Scheme, of which, (i) 126,840,000 awarded
shares will be awarded to 29 independent Selected Employees
(“Independent Selected Employees”) by way of issue and
allotment of new shares pursuant to the general mandate; and
(ii) 903,700,000 connected awarded shares will be awarded to 9
Connected Selected Employees (“Connected Selected Employees”)
by way of issue and allotment of new shares pursuant to the
specific mandate.

The 1,550,000 pre adjusted shares awarded to an Independent
Selected Employees, had been forfeited following his resignation
during the vesting period.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Details of awarded shares granted by the Company pursuant to the

Share Award Scheme and are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

36. ROIEBEE(E)
?2ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%&ﬁ2ﬁ%&@ﬁ%w

BE-Z-NAF=ZA=+—-HLFE

Number of Awarded Shares

RERGEE
Adjustment

Fair value At due to Share At

Grant date per share HK$ ~ Vesting date 1 April 2018 Consolidation* Granted Vested 31 March 2019

BRATE RZZ-NE mRRGEH RZZE-NF

REBH #n BEAH mA-H EfTHRE B %8 =A=t-H

2 February 2018 0.161 3 April 2018 126,840,000  (114,156,000) — (12,529,000) 155,000

~“Z-)/\§ZA=H —Z-/\fMA=H

8 October 2018 0.580 15 October 2018 — — 90,290,000 (90,290,000 —
“E-N\E+ANB ZZ-\FE+ATRA

Total 126,840,000  (114,156,000) 90,290,000 (102,819,000 155,000

At

For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE-Z-\F=ZA=t+—HILFE

Number of Awarded Shares

REMR(HEE
Fair value At Unvested/ At
Grant date per share HK$  Vesting date 1 April 2017 Granted Vested forfeited 31 March 2018
BRATE RIT—tF RZZ-N\F
KEAH B GEAH mA—A it HE BB/ %% ZA=t-AH
2 February 2018 0.161 3 April 2018 — 126,840,000 — — 126,840,000
“Z-\#ZAZH —Z-/\fWmA=H
Total — 126,840,000 — — 126,840,000
3
Note: Hiat -

The fair value of the award shares was calculated based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the respective grant date.

126,840,000 pre adjusted awarded shares have been granted to 29
Independent Selected Employees on 2 February 2018, of which 108,300,000
pre adjusted awarded shares to 5 Independent Selected Employees are subject
to lock-up period. The vesting period is from 2 February 2018 to 3 April
2018. The awarded shares will become vested to the Independent Selected
Employees if the Independent Selected Employees remain as employees of the
Group as on 3 April 2018.

# Following the Share Consolidation on 3 August 2018, the number of
outstanding Award Shares to Independent Selected Employees and
Connected Selected Employee was adjusted from 126,840,000 to
12,684,000 and 902,900,000 to 90,290,000, respectively.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

90,290,000 awarded shares have been granted to 8 Connected
Selected Employees on 8 October 2018, of which 90,240,000
awarded shares to 6 Connected Selected Employees are subject to
lock-up period. All the awarded shares is vested to the Connected
Selected Employees upon the allotment and issue of the awarded
shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the fair value of the
awarded shares granted was approximately HK$20,421,000 and the
Group recognised share-based payments expenses of approximately
HK$20,421,000. No awarded share is vested either by the
independent Selected Employees or connected Selected Employees
during the year ended 31 March 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the fair value of the
awarded shares granted was approximately HK$52,368,000 and the
Group recognised share-based payments expenses of approximately
HK$52,368,000. 12,684,000 awarded Shares are vested to the
Independent Selected Employees and 90,290,000 awarded Shares
are vested to the Connected Selected Employees during the year
ended 31 March 2019. Awarded Shares that are not vested and/
or are forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme are held by the Trustee to be applied towards future awards
in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

STEP ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Baoli Yota was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group before
6 January 2017. Baoli Yota is principally engaged in mobile
technologies business in the PRC. On 2 November 2016, Allied
Jumbo Investments Limited (“Allied Jumbo”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture
agreement and a capital increase agreement (the “Agreements”)
with Yulong Computer Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.** (“Yulong Shenzhen"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Coolpad Group Limited (“Coolpad”, stock code:
2369), in relation to the formation of a joint venture, Baoli Yota,
pursuant to which, the registered capital of Baoli Yota was
increased from RMB 10,000,000 to RMB200,000,000. According
to the Agreements, the increase in capital is to be contributed by
Allied Jumbo and Yulong Shenzhen as to RMB92,000,000 and
RMB98,000,000 respectively. Immediately after the capital injection,
the registered capital contribution in Baoli Yota by Allied Jumbo and
Yulong Shenzhen was changed from 100% and 0% to 51% and
49% respectively.
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STEP ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
Immediately prior to the revision of the articles of association of
Baoli Yota, the board of directors of Baoli Yota comprised one
director who was appointed by the Group. The revised articles of
association of Baoli Yota which became effective on 6 January 2017
has stipulated that the board of directors of Baoli Yota comprises
of four directors, of which two directors were appointed by Allied
Jumbo and another two directors were appointed by Yulong
Shenzhen.

The board of directors of Baoli Yota is involved in daily operations,
majority votes of the directors are required for making relevant
operating decisions. According to the revised articles of association
and Agreements, decisions about relevant activities require an
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The Group is
not able to control the activities without co-operation of the other
party, and each party cannot individually control Baoli Yota.

After considering the above fact and circumstances, the Directors
concluded that the Group lost the control of Baoli Yota. On 6
January 2017, the Group was deemed to have disposed of its 100%
equity interest in Baoli Yota. The 51% equity interest in Baoli Yota
was therefore accounted for interest in as a joint venture since 6
January 2017.

On 19 May 2017, Allied Jumbo and Yulong Shenzhen entered into
an amended and restated agreement (the “Amended and Restated
Agreement”) to amend certain terms of the Agreements in respect
of, among other things, the capital contribution by each party to
Baoli Yota, the board composition and the operations of Baoli Yota.
Under the Amended and Restated Agreement, the total investment
amount of Baoli Yota was changed from RMB500,000,000
to RMB300,000,000, the registered capital of Baoli Yota was
changed from RMB200,000,000 to RMB100,000,000. The capital
contributions of Allied Jumbo and Yulong Shenzhen were changed
from RMB102,000,000 and R\MB98,000,000 to RMB80,000,000
and RMB20,000,000 respectively, Therefore, Allied Jumbo's equity
interest in Baoli Yota was increased from 51% to 80%. Hence,
the Group would have better control of Baoli Yota as the Group
would have a higher equity stake in Baoli Yota and the Group
could nominate a majority of the board of directors of Baoli Yota
thereafter.

The step acquisition was completed on 3 August 2017. After the
completion, the Group is able to exercise control over Baoli Yota
and Baoli Yota became an 80% owned subsidiary of the Company
from that date.
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STEP ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
Details of net liabilities acquired and goodwill arising on the
acquisition were as follows:

37. ZELWE—HEKBLAT(E)

PRUE S B E R EWEmAEL 2 B BFBIT

HK$'000
FET
Net liabilities acquired: IR RaE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) W - BE RERE (A E19) 748
Intangible asset mEE 6
Inventories FE 5,669
Other receivables H b pEERIE 5,208
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRR S 3,393
Other payables E b ETRRIE (22,500)
(7,476)
Goodwill arising on step acquisition: EZELSWEMEE 2 EE -
Purchase consideration EENRE 3,252
Less: Non-controlling interests OB IRV eSS (1,495)
Add: Net liabilities acquired o E A A 7,476
Goodwill (Note 22) EE(Mat22) 9,233
Net cash inflow arising on step acquisition: RESWEMEELEZRESRAFE
Bank balances and cash acquired PR SR TR IR & 3,393

No acquisition-related costs arising from the step acquisition have
been incurred.

Goodwill arose in the step acquisition of Baoli Yota because the cost
of the combination included a control premium. In addition, the
consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled workforce of Baoli
Yota. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets. In addition, the financial results of Baoli Yota
will be consolidated into the financial results of the Company.
Therefore, the Group’s income sources can be broadened and its

financial performance can be enhanced in the long run.
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STEP ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition date was
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net liabilities.

Included in loss for the year is HK$22,120,000 attributable to the
additional business generated Baoli Yota. Revenue for the year
includes HK$24,660,000 generated from Baoli Yota.

Had the step acquisition of Baoli Yota been completed on 1 April
2017, the total group revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018
would have been HK$53,482,000 and the amount of the loss for
the year would have been approximately HK$322,120,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved had the step
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, nor is it intended to be
a projection of future results.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2019, rental and building
management fee expenses of approximately HK$2,006,000
(2018: HK$4,012,000) had been paid to Great Wall Belt & Road
Holdings Limited (“Great Wall”), a company in which one (2018:
two) director of the Company had material interest. One of the
directors of the Company ceased his interest in Great Wall since 23
November 2017.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, rental expenses of HK$Nill
(2018: HK$600,000) had been paid to Nova Capital Advisor
Limited, a company in which a connected entity of a director of the
Company had a material interest.

Apart from the above mentioned, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company’s
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director or a connected entity of a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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e
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MR —H—BERARAR(TRR ) I HEE
R2TEIE BRI X 492,006,000/ T ( —F— )\ :
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i
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B2 —Z—NE=-A=+—HIFE

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in the Group’s

39. MEEBMELEBEZHER

TRAMASERELDFELARCEH (B
REMFREEY)  METHAELBEERS
MEFXARRRASRERRAREZGERERE

. } ) o RPN AREEB BE -
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities.
Interest
Trade and payable
other (Included in
payables - trade and Bank and
amounts due other other
to directors payables) borrowings Total
ERESR ERFIS
HtfpE—  (RRABREZS HBITR
EESTE REMERE) Hitfe g k]
(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 29)
(FzE27) (MizE27) (Miz29)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET FET FET
At 1 April 2017 RZF—tFMA—A — — 97,343 97,343
Changes from cash flows: RERECEE
Advance from directors AEEEH 18,175 — — 18,175
Bank and other borrowings raised LRI RAMES — - 118,926 118,926
Repayment of bank and other borrowings (ERFTRAMES — — (235) (235)
Interest paid EffFE — — (3,729) (3,729)
Non-cash change: FRSED:
Finance costs recognised (Note 11) EHRRRENA (M) — 8,668 7,011 15,679
Foreign exchange translation SNERE — 12 8,404 8,416
At 31 March 2018 RZF-\F=A=1-H 18,175 8,680 227,720 254,575
Changes from cash flows: ReRE2EE
Advance from directors REZEX 26,903 — — 26,903
Bank and other borrowings raised RIRIT R fEE — — 20,528 20,528
Repayment of bank and other borrowings [BRRTRHBES — — (9,144) (9,144)
Interest paid ERFIE — — (2,034) (2,034)
Non-cash change: *REBG:
Finance costs recognised (Note 11) BRARMAKA () - 15,070 10,398 25,468
Foreign exchange translation SNERE — ) (8,678) (8,680)
At 31 March 2019 “E-nF=A=1-H 45,078 23,748 238,790 307,616
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40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. BAREE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E=-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated B ET4MERALRE BITE M B -
financial statement:
Unpaid registered capital for a subsidiary R B A B2 R E AR 155,848 177,772
41. OPERATING LEASES 41. KREHEE
The Group as lessee AEEFERARA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

MIMEHR - AEEAR TG EHEAE
RARFEEENF - BIHBEAT

2019 2018

—E-NF ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 3,897 6,261
After one year and within five years —FRERAFA 3,877 2,819
7,774 9,080

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office premises and warehouses. Leases are
negotiated and fixed for an average term of one to two years (2018:
one to two years).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 B E —Z—AhE=A=1+—HIFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 42. EEEHR
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were RBEHRR - AEBERERITHREREBEELGHR
pledged for the Group’s banking facilities and borrowings: IUTEEE
2019 2018
—ZT-hEF —Z-N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
s FET F#ET
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRR 19 4,256 4,899
Land use rights + b (FE A RE 20 8,328 9,392
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFAES  CREE
profit or loss 25 759 2,115
13,343 16,406
As at 31 March 2019, the Company pledged the entire RZZT-—NF=A=+—H AAFBEEFEH
equity interests of Zibo Liyuan to secure a bank borrowing of MIR2 EAR AR R - LAENE9,238,0008 (=&

HK$9,238,000 (2018: HK$9,621,000) (Note 29).

—/\%F : 9,621,000 7T ) < RITEE (FHFE29) -
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43. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED 43. BEREALTZRFREER

PARTIES

During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated FN - BREGEHMBREREMIMBDAEEEIN - K
financial statements, the Group had significant transactions with EEHENTHEALTETEARS @ ERRHE
the following related parties, together with balances with them at BARERG S 2 #56% - FHIEAT ¢

the end of the reporting period, details of which are as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Associates: /NS I
Royalty fees (Note a) HREE(fta) 57,448 54,865
Interests on overdue royalty fee payable RN ENES 2 F R 7,939 2,570
Companies controlled by the directors: REEEH 2 AR
Rental expenses (Note 38 & b) e (WiF38%b) 2,006 4,612
Accruals FEETFE 5,096 4,093
Key management compensation of the Group: AEEFZERABRHE
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits e REMEEESRET
(Note 15 & ¢) (Htat15%c) 42,745 7,731
Notes: et -
(a) Royalty fee was charged in accordance with the terms as determined () HRNREDZBASERBENREERELR
and agreed among the Group and associates. TE 2 EFURER o
(b)  Rental expenses were charged on a monthly fixed amount basis as (b) HERIZDNERAQAHEIEREG 2 ABMEE
mutually agreed by the Company and companies controlled by the 3 < [ElE A FAUER ©
directors.
(0 The remuneration of the key management personnel is determined (@ FTEEBABZHFMBFMEESNEEERIA
by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of TRBRAIGELEEE
individual and market trends.
The Directors are of the view that the terms of the above related EECRE LIBEEBEATRGZEZBATEES
party transactions are fair and reasonable, based on normal B BEEEEGER > Wk L5878
commercial terms where no charge over assets of the Group is BAEEZE WL o
created in respect of the above transactions.
Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant transactions B EXXFRIBEE SN AR EREE A T H
with related parties during the year or significant balances with MEXRLZS  BRIEH RN EEGES Y E R

them at the end of the reporting period. £ o
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

44, AQATEEMBLTFHE

COMPANY
Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are RZE-—NEFRZFT-NF=A=+—H 2
as follows: B AR ZFEWT
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
held by the Company held by the Company
Place of RARMRREERERLD RARREELA
incorporation/ Paid-up 2019 2018 2019 2018
Principal place share capital/ “ENE “2-)\& “ENE E\F
Name of subsidiaries  of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly Principal activities
SRR s/
HEAAIAR 2R GRlA/HER BE % % it E# 53 E# Mg TEXK
% % % % % % % %
China Baoli British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of 100 - 100 - 100 — 100 —  Investment holding
Technologies British Virgin USD1 each
Investment Limited ~ Islands
REENMEREAR ARRRHS/ARE RERAAIFTLE RAAR
2l THE ik
Top Field Technology ~ Hong Kong/Hong 1 ordinary share of — 100 - 100 — 100 — 100  Investment holding
Limited Kong HK$1 each
BUNRARLR  BA/ER 1REREEETL RERR
TRER
Zibo Liyuan PRC/PRC RMB 29,000,000 - 80 — 80 - 80 - 80 Gamma ray irradiation
paid-up registered service
Capital
AR hE/h AFR29,000,0007 EZIESEE
China Baoli Innovation  British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of — 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Asset management
Technologies British Virgin USD1 each
Limited Islands
REENENHEE KERIES/AE IREREEIET BEER
RAA RAHS Lak
China Baoli British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of — 100 - 100 - 100 — 100  Investment holding
Technologies British Virgin USD1 each
Services Limited slands
REENNEREE KERLES/AE IREREEIET RARR
RAA RAHS Tak
China Baoli Hong Kong/Hong 10,000 ordinary — 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Technologies Kong shares of HK$ 1
Development each
Limited
REENNEEES BE/EE 10000 BREE! RERR
RAR BT ERR
Advance Star British Virgin Islands/ 80 ordinary shares of — 100 - 100 — 100 — 100  Investment holding
Investments Limited ~~ British Virgin USD1 each
("Advance Star") Islands
EEREBRAT  RERES/XE SREREEIER RERER
(&) REEE ZEER
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. ZXATFEMBATEHE(E)

COMPANY (continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are RZE-NEFER=ZT—-/\F=ZA=+—H x£Z2

as follows: (continued)

MEARZFENT : (B)

Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
held by the Company held by the Company
Place of AR EERERL RRRMEREEL
incorporation/ Paid-up 2019 2018 2019 2018
Principal place share capital/ —E-NF I-\F I-hE I-N\§
Name of subsidiaries  of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly Principal activities
Bl AR
HEARAR TEESHE SRRA/GHER Ef i B% it Bk ik Bk B IEXH
% % % % % % % %
Allied Jumbo Hong Kong/Hong 1 ordinary share of — 100 - 100 - 100 — 100 Investment holding
Kong HK$1 each
DAt B/ ER RERAEIETZ RERR
TRk
Baoli Youta (Shanghai) - PRC/PRC RMB2,411,633 paid - 100 — 100 — 100 - 100 Wholesale, import
Communication up registered and export of,
Technology capital and and the provision
Company Limited RMB7,583,367 of commission-
unpaid registered agency (except
capital auction) and other
auxiliary services for,
telecommunication
equipment,
electronic products,
digital products and
computer software,
hardware and
auxiliary equipment
TIWE(LEER  PE/HE ARE2411633T BRA ETE
HEARLA EAFAMERRA m HEER B
RH7,588,367 HEREREYR
AGAMER fBenit
A feREHE
BN RAEERE
o)
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. ZAATFEMB LA TS (E)

COMPANY (continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are RZE-—NEFRZFT-NF=A=+—H 2

as follows: (continued) B AR ZFFIEMNT : (&)

Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
held by the Company held by the Company
Place of RARMRREERERLD AR REEL O
incorporation/ Paid-up 2019 2018 2019 2018
Principal place share capital/ “ENE “2-)\& “ENE E\F
Name of subsidiaries  of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly Principal activities
G/ T2
JENDEAE] Sith GRiA/HER BE i E# 3 E#% i E# Mg TEXK
% % % % % % % %

Chongging Baoli PRC/PRC RMB319,700,000 — 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Telecommunication
Yota Technologies paid up registered products and
Limited** capital and accessories,

RMB79,800,000 computer software,

unpaid registered hardware and

capital auxiliary equipment
and accessories,
telecommunication
products and
electronic products

ERENEENERE  1E/4 ARH319,700,000 BAERREN B
RAR* TESIMERR G EHEIE

AR79,800,000 BERE . B9E
TREHRER e ETER
Baoli Yota PRC/PRC RMB34,114,565 — 80 — 80 - 80 — 80 Manufacture and sales
paid up registered of mobile phone
capital and
RMB65,885,435
unpaid registered
capital
Nl HE/E ARE34,114,5657 FREERHE
BAREMARRA
R ¥65,885,4357C
ReHER
We Fly Hong Kong/Hong 500,000 ordinary — 75 - 75 - 75 - 75 Travel and travel
Kong shares of HK$1 related business
each
R B/ ER 500,000 BAREE! e RIERR
BT Bk

Yota Technologies IR~ British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of — 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 Inactive

Limited (Note a) British Virgin USD1 each
Islands

YotaTechnologies PR XBELZHE /%8 1KEREEIXTL EEER
Limited (#f3ta) RRHS TRER

Note a: It was newly incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2018. WiFa: RBE=ZT - N \F=A=+—BILFEHMEMK

ST o
*¥ For identification purpose only o (BRI
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. AATTEMBATFIE(E)

COMPANY (continued)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of RELL - B ARBEAWE BITERES -

the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the FREVNESRBEAEEEESEEBKNEE
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets HEZANFMBAR - EERABFHIHAN B
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the REIZEHMELRERAR -

opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RMEMR  ARRHEEMBAERm S LT
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these BEACZHBAR - ZEMBRRAKBONEERE
subsidiaries operate in the British Virgin Islands, PRC and Hong ZHE  FEREESE ZEWBARZEE
Kong. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised ERBE T -

as follows:

Number of subsidiaries

WEAREE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2019 2018
TEEE TEEXME —E-NEF —TN\F
Investment holding British Virgin Islands 12 12
REZER EBEIHE

Hong Kong 4 4

o

Samoa 1 1

TEFETR

17 17

Consulting PRC 2 2
| 2]
Sales of building materials, decoration materials PRC 1 1
HEREME « RIEMH FE
Internet service PRC 1 1
B IR FE
Leasing British Virgin Islands 1 1
HE EBELHS
Provision of cruise ship management services Hong Kong 1 1
TR B B IR RIS HE
Securities trading British Virgin Islands 1 1
BHFEE RBEIHE
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. ARATEEMBATFES(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Number of subsidiaries
MEAREE
Principal activities Principal place of business 2019 2018
FEEH TEEENEY ZB-hEF —T-N\F
Inactive Hong Kong 10 10
TR B
British Virgin Islands 1 1
RBRIEHE
PRC 1 1
+
12 12
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 45. FEERER
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have FEEAIZERERZIZEMBATZF
material non-controlling interests (]
The table below shows the details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries TERBIAEBEFESAHERERS 2 F2EH
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: BABZFHE
Proportion of ownership interests  Total comprehensive income
Place of incorporation and and voting rights held by non-  allocated to non-controlling ~ Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary principal place of business controlling interests interests interests
FERBEFSRERERR PETHERER
WELRER AR IEEREEEE B REELA ESLON it kERER
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
e I L S S A
=B=t-B =A=t-H =A=t-B =A=t+-B ZA=t-B =R=1-H
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET TET FET TET
We Fly HK 25% 25% (1,755) (437) (2,878) (1,123)
R &%
Baoli Yota PRC 20% 20% (5,081) (4,598) (11,178) (6,093)
ENEE i
Zibo Liyuan PRC 20% 20% (662) (147) 2,404 3,164
BN P
(7,498) (5,182) (11,652) (4,052)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

TXRIIAEEEFEE AR E RS 2 B AR 2
BUBERRE - LTHBEERBEIRETRERNAT
4 8T 2 %8 -
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45. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 45, FEERER(E)
We Fly FR
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets MENAE 5,397 4,776
Non-current assets FREEE 1,447 423
Current liabilities RBAME (18,354) (9,663)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE _ (30)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ADFHE NEERES (8,632) (3,371)
Non-controlling interests of We Fly B IR (2,878) (1,123)
Revenue LN 5,227 7,367
Expenses Xt (12,243) (9,117)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year AEEBRREEFRXAE (7,016) (1,750)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable to ARFEEAREBER2ENXAHE
owners of the Company (5,261) (1,313)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable to non- BERZIHEBRESRIEBER
controlling interests of We Fly PEAXRE (1,755) (437)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year AEEBRREERXAE (7,016) (1,750)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of We Fly BENERIFERER 2 RS — —
Net cash outflow from operating activities MREPRSRLFE (2,710) (3,536)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financial activities BERDRSRACRE ) FHE 483 (490)
Net cash outflow Ra i LFE (2,227) (4,026)
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45. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 45. FERER(E)
Baoli Yota BEHER
2019 2018
—E-NEF ZT-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets EVEE 12,671 35,081
Non-current assets FRBEE 475 795
Current liabilities e E (66,101) (63,410)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAFREE NEGRER (41,777) (21,441)
Non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota B HER RS (11,178) (6,093)
Revenue WA 19,878 108,066
Expenses =it (47,019) (129,426)
Loss for the year REEEE (27,141) (21,360)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAREE AELEE (21,715) (17,088)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota & /B!~ JEERk i 25 FEG 5 18 (5,426) (4,272)
Loss for the year REEER (27,141) (21,360)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to ARAFHEE ARBEMZERA(TH)
owners of the Company 1,394 (1,302)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to EHERZIFERESEEEmEEmEA
non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota (%) 345 (326)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year AEEEMEEBEA () 1,739 (1,628)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to owners of the AR R A AJEIE 2 HAE
Company (20,321) (18,390)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to non- BHEREEREREGEE LA
controlling interests of Baoli Yota (5,081) (4,598)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year AFELEX LT (25,402) (22,988)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of Baoli Yota BENBNER FERER ZRE — —
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities REEHRS(RD)RAFE (2,457) 5,984
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities BEEHEESRA(RD )B4 6 (5,254)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be(RH)RATE (2,451) 730
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NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

45. FERER(E)

Zibo Liyuan HEERIR
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MEEE 1,173 2,384
Non-current assets FRBEE 20,455 23,219
Current liabilities mERE (9,610) (9,783)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARRER AEIG S 9,614 12,656
Non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan TERIR 2 FER R S 2,404 3,164
Revenue WA 4,715 5,096
Expenses it (7,044) (7,473)
Loss for the year AEEEE (2,329) (2,377)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KARER AELER (1,865) (1,901)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan 3§18 %5 7 3E1% i HE 2 e (5 B 18 (464) (476)
Loss for the year AFEEEE (2,329) (2,377)
Other comprehensive (expenses) income attributable to RRARHEE ABGEEM2E(ZH)BA
owners of the Company (781) 1,312
Other comprehensive (expenses) income attributable to EERIR 2 SRR B E 2 (X
non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan A (198) 329
Other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year AEFEMEEEH) KA (979) 1,641
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to owners of the ARARHEA AEEE2E S L 25
Company (2,646) (589)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to non- HEMIR FEERE R B 2 H LB
controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan (662) (147)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year AEEZEX LR (3,308) (736)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of Zibo Liyuan BB FIR 7 Rk 7 iR & — —
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities BEEBIRSRACRSL )F58 539 (1,221)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities BEEHESRA(RD )B4 9 (473)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEESReNLFE (923) (499)
Net cash outflow Remtiss (375) (2,193)
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 46. XD RZMBARRKR#E
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-1EF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 2,626 525
Interests in subsidiaries N EEUNET 2 1 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries R IENGIE e 203,336 607,399
205,963 607,925
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HAih e BRIE 9,245 10,704
Amounts due from associates JFEUB: & A B 5RIR — 579,614
Bank balances and cash RITERRIAS 178 29,067
9,423 619,385
Current liabilities wEaE
Other payables Hin iR 59,874 74,882
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEF I B 2 RIZ0E 50,842 46,935
Financial guarantee B HER 226,154 -
Other borrowings HibfgE 10,000 —
346,870 121,817
Net current (liabilities) assets RE(BE)EETE (337,447) 497,568
Total assets less current liability BEAERRBAE (131,484) 1,105,493
Non-current liability FRBAE
Other borrowings HibfgE 19,657 29,083
Net assets BEZE (151,141) 1,076,410
Capital and reserves BEXKfEE
Share capital A&7 363,823 352,251
Reserves i (514,964) 724,159
Total equity EREE (151,141) 1,076,410

ARRBZHBERRRR - Z—NFLRA+-HE
BEESHERERETE  THUTATRERS

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 July 2019 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Yi Chu Wei Ning
RAK B E

Director Director
EE EE
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

PRERAT
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

46.

FATRZMBRRERRREE(E)

Movement of the Company’ s reserves RATHERD
Share held
under share
Capital ~ Contingent Share award  Share-based
Share  redemption  consideration options scheme  payment  Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve Teserve Teserve Teserve surplus losses Total
RERREE
EAEE  GARE BRE HUFSRE UROAER
B ] B B BE offFBE  #\ER EHEE %
HKS§ 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
i3 i3 iz & 7Ei 7Ei i 7Ei i
At 1 Aprl 2017 R-E-+ERA-A 1877003 13878 %40 873 — — 907,760 (2,147.969) 714436
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - — a0
Issuance of shares for the further S-Sl -FEERE
acquisition of an assodiate Bk 15757 - - - - - - - 15751
Issuance of shares for the acquisition of a 51 4(EE —FEMIB AR
subsidiry Wi 9125 - B@ - - - - - s
Issuance of shares under share award 1R EIR(7 2Bz 2
scheme LG - - - - (1.268) - - - (1,268
Equity settled share-based transaction e pprn Bztp s 5 2 _ _ _ _ _ 2041 _ _ 041
Lapse of share options BRESN _ _ _ (16) _ _ _ 16 _
At31 March 2018 RZE-\E=f=1-A 2,044,106 138718 - 28216 (1,208) 20421 907,760  (2,288954) 724,159
Adjustment ERd - - - - - - — (49509 (49,509
At 1 April 2018 (Restated) N2 N\FRF-B(EE) 2044106 13878 — 826 (1268 2041 907760 (2538463 474,650
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - — (1,065,405) (1,085,405
Issuance of shares for the further i ]
acquisition of an associate kb 32,45 - - - - - - - R
Issuance of shares under share award g2 /n eyt 23
scheme B - - - - (9,029) - — — (9,029)
Equity settled share-based transaction IR EELNRHAER 225 - - - - - 5368 - — 5368
Allotment of awarded shares to trustee WS AREEEIRR 62,258 - - - 10281 (72,539 - - -
Share award forfelted SRR 8 - - - - - (250 - 250 -
Lapse of share options BRER - - - (28210) - - - 28216 -
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NE=R=1-H 2,138,816 13818 - - (16) — 907,760 (3575400 (514964)
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 47. mEHKREE
References are made to the announcements of the Company dated ERRAAARBSHAT-NF=A=+NAH
29 March 2019 and 10 May 2019 (the “Announcements”) in RZZ2-NEFRATEZAE(ZERE]D R
relation to the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Hong AEARKEETARE(HB)ERARRENER
Kong Made (Media) Limited and Ample Success Limited (the "Target RE([ERARDHEBEBHITRA - FHRIRE
Companies") involving an issue of consideration shares under —MRERERITRERD - AAEMAEEAREA
general mandate. Capitalised terms used herein shall have the same ZENEMRATEABHEAEE - RHER-ZF
meanings as those defined in the Announcements. Completion took —NERARNBREK - TAE - BIREREKAR
place on 6 June 2019. Upon completion, the Target Companies NAlZ 2 EWNB AR BEVBEEEBEET AR
became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and their NAElZ B EE o YERBMR(E50,000,000% TH)
financial results will be consolidated into the financial results of the AR - ARARMEFEEREITE—HRE
Company. As part of the payment of the total consideration of f&1n » BN83,333,3258 /%150  (H AR B4 A3 K
HK$50,000,000, the Company allotted and issued to the vendors BITZERGIEAR 2 BBITIREL2.24% -
the first tranche consideration shares, being 83,333,325 shares,
representing approximately 2.24% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of such shares.
48. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 48. LLEBRETF
During the year ended 31 March 2019, for enhancing the relevance REBEE-ZT-NAF=A=+—"HBILEFE AR
of the presentation of the consolidated financial statements, FEPBRRENTAZBEL - AEEEHE
reclassifications have been made to certain comparative figures FTHRE—"FEREEUBERREZI ZLERET
presented in the consolidated financial statements in respect of EFOE UWEAFEZZ25FRNETLHER - A
the prior year to achieve comparability with the current year's I AT EBRLERETFHIER 2EH BT R
presentation. As a result, the following line items regarding 2 WERABMNFEUARFERFENET A
comparative figures have been amended and adjusted,
together with the related notes to conform to the current year’s
presentations:
Previous
reported As restated
FAT2]R rEY
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss mEBRER
Other income, gains and losses, net HAMUWA - Woas KB EE (Note)
(Hfat) 41,006 34,595
Impairment losses on financial assets, net of TREEHERE - MERE>  (Note)
reversal (B15t) — 6,411
Note: “Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of trade Mt TBESEKE ZRERER 2 AERSE] - [BER®
receivables”, “Reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of JREE LSt R T e R 2 R (B 1 ) Bk [ P UL At R
other receivables” and “Impairment loss recognised in respect of BHERZBERBEIE Gl Al - WK REE
other receivables” were reclassified from “Other income, gains and FRIESHHIEZIGRMEE ZRERE - MBRE
losses, net” to “Impairment losses on financial assets, net of reversal”. [EN
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- China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited B2 &l & 32

Five-Year Financial Summary

T FEFHBERE

RERAT

RESULTS B
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-RF ZE—RFE ZE—+tF E-)\F ZZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ir FEIL FET FEIT FET
Revenue A 80,564 105,020 37,343 53,482 44,580
Loss attributable to equity RA BV AR
shareholders of the Company 1L IEE (67,899) (77,097)  (378,728)  (294,509) (1,298,305)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BENEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-RF —T-RF —T—tF —T-NF —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FT
Total assets BERE 374,321 356,843 1,194,630 1,390,057 261,880
Total liabilities BELE (142,480) (176,349) (158,165) (505,883)  (626,336)
Net(liabilities) assets (aBm)EEFE 231,841 180,494 1,036,465 884,174 (364,456)
Non-controlling interests SEIER (4,802) (4,302) (2,625) 4,052 11,652
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Adjusted Share(s) or Consolidated Share(s)

AR LA G

Asian Alliance

=R

Audit Committee

EZEZBRE

Baoli Yota

BHEE

Board

3

Bye-laws

il

CG Code
& =FA

Companies Ordinance
NSILES

Company

RN

connected person(s)

REAL

CQ Baoli Yota

ERENER

Glossary
AR &K

ordinary Shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company (being ordinary
Shares with such nominal amount as resulted from the Share Consolidation taking
effect)
RRAFRAPEREBE0N0B T E@R (BN A MFEREE AAZEEL Ei®
%)

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, the external auditor of the Company
ER(EB)SAMEBAERLIRF - ARFZIMNEZEED

the audit committee of the Company

ENNSES S b

= NHEEFERF ORI AR QA (Baoli Yota Technologies (Shenzhen) Limited **), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability which is a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
BEHEFMECRYDARAR - —HREFREEEREMKAZ 2 BERAF - RAREZ
FEREMBE AT

the board of Directors

=g

the bye-laws of the Company and as amended from time to time

RABPEHER] 2 4RA

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR AR SR T B S E AT A

the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
EBENFE622FE R FEH

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRENRRERERLAR - —RRARETMRLZEGRAT - ERMDEBZAE
R T

as defined under the Listing Rules

EES LB

EEE NERFEHEER QA (Chongging Baoli Yota Technologies Limited**), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company
EEENESRBRERAR - —HBRBPEARAMRLZBERAT - REARAZE
=N
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Glossary (continued)

AER(E)

Director(s)

B=

EPD
EPD

FIT
FIT

Group
REE

HK$
BT

Hong Kong
=

Internal Control Advisor

YRR Il A

Listing Rules
ERA

Model Code

Nomination Committee

REZBE

PRC or China or Mainland China

R E A

Pre-Adjusted Share(s)
SREE R

R&D
LS

230

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

electronic paper display
BEFHRETR

free independent traveller

BT

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRE REMBRR

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT EERE RN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PREEBRITTHR

an independent professional advisor, to carry out the internal audit functions of the
Company

B BXER - WBITARR Z NEFEZBEL

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B A PrRE s E AR A

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FRBIMSE T PAE E T EIT AR SEITES R SHIRESTA

the nomination committee of the Company

ARFRBERE

the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires, geographical
references to the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of
the PRC and Taiwan
PEAREME  BRXESAMEIN - FIRAARE - I8 ETEERE - RER
PR RITTIR 2 &

ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (being ordinary
Shares with such nominal amount prior to the Share Consolidation taking effect)
RRRRAH EREE.0VE T2 LAk (B (h & St AT BB ZEE Y Timik)

research and development

f7E K



Remuneration Committee
FMEEE

RMB
AR®

Scheme Rules

SHEIRAN

SFO
E I SRR

Share(s)

Bedn

Share Award Scheme

Petn 2285t &

Share Consolidation

Share Option Scheme
B2

Shareholder(s)
(&

Stock Exchange

Eabdan

US or USA or United States

ESE

usb
Xt

201ei10 [N

Glossary (continued)

A R R (E)

the remuneration committee of the Company

ARRFHMEERE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE - FEAERRE

the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme as amended from time to time

s in RENEH B B2 R B (EARHERT)

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BRENEST EES LEBAE KD

ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the
Company (or of such other nominal amount as will result from a sub-division,
consolidation, reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company
from time to time)

ARRREAHEREECI0GET(HEAARTRATKOHF - a0 EFOANELE
EZAEHMEE) 2 EEK

the share award scheme approved and adopted by the Board in accordance with the
Scheme Rules on 15 January 2018
ERSREFERAN ZZ—/N\F— A+ 0 B RPN 2 B EEhat 2l

the consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued ordinary Shares of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company into one (1) issued and unissued ordinary
Share of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company, which became effective on
3 August 2018

EARRFEAF G (10) REREEC.0NEILZ EBITRARETERREHAETAT]
feArh — () IR R EE0 0BT B BT R ARETEER - AR - N\F/\A=H
Ve

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 22 August 2011
ARFIRZE——FN\A -+ B RN B2

holders of the Shares

BB A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERHMBRAR

United States of America
EFERERH

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the US
ETT - EBVEEEH

231



Glossary (continued)

AER(E)

We Fly

bl
#

Yota
Yota
Yota Group

Yota %

** For identification purpose only

** E P
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China Baoli Technologi_es Holdings Limited FIE]E

We Fly Travel Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
BRRBEERAT - —ERBEEBENZIMELLZ BARDA - RERREIZF2ENE

NG

Yota, an exempted company incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman Islands which is held as to 40% by the Company
Yota - —fHREH SR BEETMR L ERRBERAT - BARFFHFEFL0%

Yota and its subsidiaries
Yota K E M EA R
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